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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended September 25, 2010

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 000-10030

APPLE INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaet)

California 94-240411C

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or or ganization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1 Infinite Loop
Cupertino, California 95014

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(408) 996-1010

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bhefAct:
Common Stock, no par value The NASDAQ Global Select Market

(Title of class) (Name of exchange on which registerec

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(gh®fct: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c06#turities Act.
Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act.
Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant i filed all reports required to be filed by Secti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been su
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hemnitted electronically and posted on its corpok&feb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursiamRule 405 of Regulation $8§232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files).

Yes No O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquditers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationKS¢section 229.405 of this chapter) is

contained herein, and will not be contained, tolibst of the registrars’knowledge, in definitive proxy or information t&ments incorporat:
by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or ampendment to this Form 10-KI[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, n-accelerated filer, or a smaller repor
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdiled,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportingpmpany” in Rule 1212 of the Exchang
Act.

Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file [ (Do not check if smaller reporting compat Smaller Reporting Compar [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)
Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the voting anc-voting stock held by nc-affiliates of the registrant, as of March 27, 208@s approximate



$208,565,000,000 based upon the closing price teghdor such date on the NASDAQ Global Select Marker purposes of this disclost
shares of common stock held by persons who holcerttwan 5% of the outstanding shares of common saockshares held by execu
officers anddirectors of the registrant have been excludeduserauch persons may be deemed to be affiliatés dekermination of executi
officer or affiliate status is not necessarily aclosive determination for other purposes.

917,307,099 shares of Common Stock Issued anddbdis as of October 15, 2010

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

(1) Portions of the registrastdefinitive Proxy Statement relating to its 201rinflal Meeting of Shareholders are incorporatedefigrence int
Part Il of this Annual Report on Form X-where indicated. Such Proxy Statement will bedilwith the U.S. Securities and Exche
Commission within 120 days after the end of thedigear to which this report relates.
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The Business section and other parts of this AnReglort on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K") contain forwarlboking statements that involve ri
and uncertainties. Many of the forward-looking staents are located in “ManagemenDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord
Results of Operatior” Forward-looking statements provide current expectationsiteire events based on certain assumptions anddechn’
statement that does not directly relate to anydnisal or current fact. Forwardeoking statements can also be identified by wanash a
“anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,”“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” and similar terms. Forward4ooking statements are r
guarantees of future performance and the Com’s actual results may differ significantly from thesults discussed in the forwalmbking
statements. Factors that might cause such diffeeimtclude, but are not limited to, those discudgeithe subsection entitled “Risk Factors”
under Part I, Iltem 1A of this Form 10-which are incorporated herein by reference. Thmmpany assumes no obligation to revise or ug
any forward-looking statements for any reason, pkes required by law.

PART |
ltem 1. Business
Company Background

Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (cotieely “Apple” or the “Company”)designs, manufactures and markets a range of =
computers, mobile communication and media deviees, portable digital music players, and sells dewarof related software, servic
peripherals, networking solutions, and third-padtgital content and applications. The Compangtoducts and services include Macin
(“Mac”) computers, iPhone, iPad, iPod, Apple TV, Xservppefolio of consumer and professional softwareligpgions, the Mac OS X a
iOS operating systems, thighrty digital content and applications through thenes Store, and a variety of accessory, servick sappol
offerings. The Company sells its products worldwttieough its retail stores, online stores, and dlisales force and thindarty cellula
network carriers, wholesalers, retailers, and valdded resellers. In addition, the Company sellargety of thirdparty Mac, iPhone, iPad a
iPod compatible products, including applicationtsafe, printers, storage devices, speakers, heagsh@and various other accessories
peripherals, through its online and retail stofidse Company sells to consumer, small and mid-dmesiness (“SMB”),education, enterpris
government and creative markets. The Company’sifigear is the 52 or 5&eek period that ends on the last Saturday of &dme Unles
otherwise stated, all information presented in thegm 10-K is based on the Companyfiscal calendar. The Company is a Califc
corporation founded in 1977.

Business Strategy

The Company is committed to bringing the best es@erience to its customers through its innovataelware, software, peripherals, servi
and Internet offerings. The Compasyiusiness strategy leverages its unique abilitjegign and develop its own operating systems wee
application software, and services to provide itstemers new products and solutions with superiseefuse, seamless integration,
innovative industrial design. The Company beliecestinual investment in research and developmenrit&al to the development a
enhancement of innovative products and technologiesonjunction with its strategy, the Company timres to build and host a rob
platform for the discovery and delivery of thipdrty digital content and applications through ifhienes Store. The iTunes Store includes
App Store and iBookstore, which allow customersdiecover and download thingarty applications and books through either a Me
Windowsbased computer or wirelessly through an iPhoned i®faiPod touch. The Company also works to suppocommunity for th
development of third-party software and hardwaredpcts and digital content that complement the Guowgjs offerings. Additionally, th
Company'’s strategy includes expanding its distiduto effectively reach more customers and protiean with a high-quality sales and post-
sales support experience. The Company is therefoiguely positioned to offer superior and wiellegrated digital lifestyle and productiv
solutions.
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Consumer and Small and Mid-Sized Business

The Company believes a high-quality buying expexéewith knowledgeable salespersons who can coreeyalue of the Compars/product
and services greatly enhances its ability to attad retain customers. The Company sells manisgiroducts and resells certain thjakty
products in most of its major markets directly tmsumers and businesses through its retail andeostores. The Company has also invest
programs to enhance reseller sales by placing higtity Apple fixtures, merchandising materials atter resources within selected third-
party reseller locations. Through the Apple PremReseller Program, certain thiparty resellers focus on the Apple platform by jdow
high level of integration and support services, pratuct expertise.

As of September 25, 2010, the Company had openethlaof 317 retail stores, including 233 storeghia U.S. and 84 stores internation:
The Company has typically located its stores ah4igffic locations in quality shopping malls and anbshopping districts. By operating
own stores and locating them in desirable Higlffic locations, the Company is better positioneaontrol the customer buying experience
attract new customers. The stores are designeidhfgify and enhance the presentation and marketingne Companys products and relat
solutions. To that end, retail store configuratidvae evolved into various sizes to accommodatekensapecific demands. The Compi
believes providing direct contact with its targetagtomers is an effective way to demonstrate thverstages of its products over those c
competitors. The stores employ experienced and letdgeable personnel who provide product advicejieerand training. The stores offe
wide selection of third-party hardware, softwaned &arious other accessories and peripherals ¢mplement the Company’s products.

Education

Throughout its history, the Company has focusedhenuse of technology in education and has beenmitbed to delivering tools to he
educators teach and students learn. The Compaigvégleffective integration of technology into ellaem instruction can result in hig
levels of student achievement, especially when usesupport collaboration, information access, #mel expression and representatio
student thoughts and ideas. The Company has desagyrenge of products, services and programs teeadsdhe needs of education custon
including individual laptop programs and educatioad shows. In addition, the Company supports redeirning and reaime distributior
and accessibility of education related materiateuph iTunes U, which allows students and teacteshare and distribute educational m
directly through their computers and mobile commation and media devices. The Company sells itdymts to the education market thro
its direct sales force, select third-party resslimd its online and retail stores.

Enterprise, Government and Creat

The Company also sells its hardware and softwacelymts to customers in enterprise, government amdtice markets in each of
geographic segments. These markets are also impdaanany third-party developers who provide Macapatible hardware and softw
solutions. Customers in these markets utilize then@any’s products because of their hgéwered computing performance and expar
capabilities, networking functionality, and searsléstegration with complementary products. The Canypdesigns its highknd hardwai
solutions to incorporate the power, expandabitibmpatibility and other features desired by theaekets.

Other

In addition to consumer, SMB, education, enterprigvernment and creative markets, the Companyiges\whardware and software prodi
and solutions for customers in the information testbgy and scientific markets.

Business Organization

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Compasyieportable operating segments consist of the e
Europe, Japan, Asia-Pacific and Retail. The Ameri€arope, Japan and

2
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Asia-Pacific reportable segments do not include acésitielated to the Retail segment. The Americas segincludes both North and So
America. The Europe segment includes European desnas well as the Middle East and Africa. ThéaAZacific segment includes Austre
and Asia, but does not include Japan. The Retginsat operates Applewned retail stores in the U.S. and in internationarkets. Eac
reportable operating segment provides similar hardwand software products and similar servicesthEurinformation regarding t
Company’s operating segments may be found in Rdtem 7 of this Form 10-K under the subheadingg®ent Operating Performanceyic
in Part I, Item 8 of this Form 10-K in Notes to i@wlidated Financial Statements at Note 9, “Segrimfotmation and Geographic Data.”

Products

The Company offers a range of personal computinglysts, mobile communication and media devices,pmthble digital music players,
well as a variety of related software, servicesjpberals, networking solutions and various thpaity hardware and software products
addition, the Company offers its own software paduincluding Mac O8 X, the Compasyproprietary operating system software fol
Macintosh® (“Mac”); i0OS, the Company’proprietary mobile operating system; server safitwand application software for consut
education, and business customers. The Companyisugr products are discussed below.

Mac Hardware Product

The Company offers a range of personal computinglyets including desktop and portable computergrys® servers, related devices
peripherals, and various third-party hardware peteluThe Compang’ Mac desktop and portable systems feature Intetapiocessors, tl
Company’s Mac OS X Version 10.6 Snow Leopard (“M28 X Snow Leopard”) operating system and the ilifsuite of software fc
creation and management of digital photography ienasovies, DVDs and websites.

The Company’s desktop computers include iMac , Md&ro and Mac® mini. The iMac desktop computer is Byinaone design th
incorporates a display, processor, graphics candi tirive, optical drive, memory and other compdsémside a single enclosure. The Mac
desktop computer is targeted at business and giofed customers and is designed to meet the peafoce, expansion, and networking n
of the most demanding Mac user. The Mac mini iegktbp computer in a compact enclosure.

The Company'’s portable computers include MacB®&oka¢cBook® Pro and MacBook Ai# MacBook is a portable computer designec
consumer and education users. MacBook Pro is algertcomputer designed for professionals and coesinMacBook Air is a hig
performance, ultra-slim notebook computer designegrofessionals and consumers.

iTunes®

iTunes digital music management software (“iTunes’an application for playing, downloading, andanizing digital audio and video fil
and is available for both Mac and Windows-basedmgders. iTunes 10 features Ping, a music-oriendethsnetwork, AirPlay? wireless musi
playback, Genius Mixes, Home Sharing, and imprassgeting functionality with the Company’s mobile comnication and media devices.

iTunes is integrated with the iTunes Stére , aiserthat allows customers to find, purchase, rant download thirgrarty digital music
audio books, music videos, short films, televisgirows, movies, podcasts, games, and other applisatThe iTunes Store currently se
customers in 23 countries. The iTunes Store induthe Companyg App Store™ and iBookstore™. The App Store all@mustomers t
discover and download thingarty applications, and the iBookstore featurestedaic books from major and independent publisteae
provides customers a place to preview and buy bémktheir mobile communication and media devigggstomers can access the App <
through either a Mac or Windows-based computer ioelessly through an iPhorfe |, iPad™ or iPod to@ichThe iBookstore is access
through the iBook® application on an iPhone, iPaidPod touch.
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iPhone

iPhone combines a mobile phone, a widescreen Rath touch controls, and an Internet communicatidesice in a single handheld prod
Based on the Company’s Multi-Touch™ user interfag&hone features desktmtass email, web browsing, searching, and mapsis
compatible with both Macs and Windows-based computBhone automatically syncs content from us@ises libraries, as well as conta
bookmarks, and email accounts. iPhone allows custero access the iTunes Store to download audio/@eo files, as well as a variety
other digital content and applications. In June@@he Company introduced the iPhone 4 featuringllanew design, FaceTinfevideo calling
a new high resolution Retina™ display, a 5 megdmiamera with LED flash and front facing cameraghhdefinition video recording, Apple’
A4 processor and a 3-axis gyroscope. In additiothto Company’s own iPhone accessories, thady iPhone compatible products
available through the Company’s online and retailes and from third parties.

The Company has signed mutar agreements with various cellular network easriauthorizing them to distribute and provide et
network services for iPhones. These agreemenigesrerally not exclusive with a specific carriercegt in the U.S.

iPad

In January 2010, the Company introduced iPad, di+puipose mobile device for browsing the web, readind sending email, viewi
photos, watching videos, listening to music, plgygames, reading e-books and more. iPad is bastdteddompany’s MultiFouch technolog
and allows customers to connect with their applicest and content in a more interactive way. iPéalaa customers to access the iTunes ¢
to download audio and video files, as well as aetarof other digital content and applications. dddition to the Compang’ own iPa
accessories, third-party iPad compatible produgtsgailable through the Company’s online and kstares and from third parties.

iPod
The Company’s iPod line of portable digital musicianedia players is comprised of iPod touch, iPaaor® , iPod shuffl® and iPod classic

All iPods work with iTunes. In addition to the Coary’s own iPod accessories, thipdrty iPod compatible products are available, €
through the Company’s online and retail stores@mfthird parties.

The iPod touch is a flash-memory-based iPod withidescreen display and a Multi-Touch user interfadee Companygs latest iPod touc
introduced in September 2010, includes featureh sisca Retina display, FaceTime video calling, tdgfinition video recording and Ga
Center. iPod touch allows customers to accessTileeis Store to download audio and video files, abb as a variety of other digital cont
and applications. The Company’s latest iPod namwoduced in September 2010, is a flash-menb@ged iPod that has been redesign
feature the Company’s Mulfiouch interface allowing customers to navigaterthaisic collection by tapping or swiping the digplahe nev
iPod nano features a polished aluminum and glagesure with a built-in clip. iPod shuffle, whichas updated in September 2010, is a flash
memorybased iPod that features a clickable control pazbtdrol music playback and VoiceOver technologgt#img customers to hear sc
titles, artists and playlist names. The iPod ctassa hard-drive based portable digital musicaddo player.

Displays & Peripheral Product

The Company manufactures the Apple Cinema Highriiefin Display™ and sells a variety of Apple-braddend third-party Macompatibl
peripheral products, including printers, storageicks, computer memory, digital video and still @mas, and various other computing prod
and supplies.



Table of Contents

Apple TV®

Apple TV is a device that allows customers to r@md watch movies and television shows on theivigien. Content from Netflix, YouTub
Flickr and MobileMe™ | as well as music, photos afdkos from a Mac or Windowsased computer can also be wirelessly streame
television through Apple TV.

Software Products and Computer Technologies

The Company offers a range of software productzémsumer, SMB, education, enterprise, governnat,creative customers, including
Companys proprietary Mac OS X and iOS operating systenwsog; server software and related solutions; gsifmal application softwal
and consumer, education, and business orientectapph software.

Operating System Software
Mac OS X

Mac OS X is built on an open-source UNb&sed foundation. Mac OS X Snow Leopard is thergbvmajor release of Mac OS X and bec
available in August 2009. Mac OS X Snow Leoparduess upgraded speed and performance and includew arersion of QuickTime X,
support for Microsoft Exchange Server 2007 and ¥0icer integration with the MulflFouch trackpad. Mac OS X offers Stacks, a mea
easily accessing files from the Dock; Findethat lets users quickly browse and share files betwmultiple Macs; Quick Look, a way
instantly see files without opening an applicatiBpaces a feature used to create groups of applicationsirstdntly switch between the
and Time Machin@ , a way to automatically back lipfahe contents of a Mac.

i0S

iOS is the Compang’ mobile operating system that serves as the fdiomdéor iPhone, iPad and iPod touch. In June 2Qtk6, Compan
launched iOS 4, the latest version of the Compmamygbbile operating system. iOS 4 features Multitagkhat allows customers to mc
between applications, Folders to organize and yeasitess applications, a unified Mail inbox, supdor the iAd™ mobile advertisir
platform, and the iBooks reader and iBookstore. iBtemobile advertising platform provides mediahriadvertisements which allows mol
device customers to engage with an ad without bedngpved from the applications they are currensiyng. iOS 4 became available for iPh
3G, iPhone 3GS, iPhone 4, and second and thirdrgigore iPod touch in June 2010, and is expectdzktavailable for iPad in November 2C
Certain features of the iOS 4 software will notdtion on certain earlier iPhone and iPod touch risode

Application Software

iLife

iLife '11 is the latest version of the Company’sneamereriented digital lifestyle application suite inckdl with all Mac computers. iLi
features iPhot® , iMovie |, iIDVD» , GarageBafd , awkb™. iPhoto is the Company’s consuneoeiented digital photo softwa
application and iMovie is the Company’s consumeertted digital video editing software applicatiobVD is the Company’s consumer-
oriented software application that enables custemerturn iMovie files, QuickTime files, and diditpictures into interactive DVD

GarageBand is the Company’s consumeented music creation software application tHetwes customers to play, record and create m
iWeb allows customers to create online photo alhliogs and podcasts, and to customize websitag esliting tools.

iWork ®

iWork '09 is the latest version of the Compamyhtegrated productivity suite designed to helprsicreate, present, and publish docum
presentations, and spreadsheets. iWork '09 inclugdates to Pagés '09 for

5
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word processing and page layout, Keyndte ’'09 faspntations, and Numbe?s09' for spreadsheets. In January 2010, the Complai
introduced a new version of iWork for iPad, a pratility suite including versions of Pages, Keynatel Numbers designed specifically
Multi-Touch.

Other Application Software

The Company also sells various other applicatidtwswe, including Final Cut Studi®, Final Cut® Express, Final C@tServer, Logic Studi
®, Logic ® Express 9, Logic Studi® Pro, and its FileMak@ro database software.

Internet Software and Servic

The Company is focused on delivering seamlessiiatiem with and access to the Internet throughleeitGompanys products and services. -
Company’s Internet solutions adhere to many ingustiandards to provide an optimized user experieBaéari 5® is the latest version of t
Company’s web browser that is compatible with Maecsl Windows-based computers. MobileMe is an ansubkcriptionbased suite
Internet services that delivers email, contacts ealdndars to and from native applications on iRhdRad, iPod touch, Macs, and Windows-
based computers.

Product Support and Services

AppleCare® offers a range of support options for@eenpanys customers. These options include assistancéstbatlt into software produc
printed and electronic product manuals, online supjmcluding comprehensive product informationves| as technical assistance, and
AppleCare Protection Plan (“APP”). APP is a tesed service that typically includes two to thyears of phone support and hardware reg
dedicated web-based support resources, and uggrodigc tools.

Markets and Distribution

The Companys customers are primarily in the consumer, SMBgatian, enterprise, government and creative markéis Company utilizes
variety of direct and indirect distribution chammieduch as its retail stores, online stores, arettsales force, and thighrty cellular networ
carriers, wholesalers, retailers, and veddeled resellers. The Company believes that saléts @finovative and differentiated products
enhanced by knowledgeable salespersons who caregdhe value of the hardware, software, and perghategration, demonstrate
unique digital lifestyle solutions that are avaitabn its products, and demonstrate the compayilofi the Mac with the Windows platform &
networks. The Company further believes providingcli contact with its targeted customers is ancéffe way to demonstrate the advant:
of its products over those of its competitors amal/jaling a high-quality sales and aftgales support experience is critical to attractiag an:
retaining existing customers. To ensure a hgghlity buying experience for its products in whiervice and education are emphasizec
Company continues to expand and improve its digfioln capabilities by expanding the number of itsaetail stores worldwide. Additional
the Company has invested in programs to enhan&fieesales by placing high quality Apple fixtureserchandising materials and of
resources within selected third-party reseller fimces. Through the Apple Premium Reseller Prograentain thirdparty resellers focus on 1
Apple platform by providing a high level of integicn and support services, and product expertise.

6
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One of the Companyg’customers accounted for 11% of net sales in 20@®8e was no single customer that accounted foeni@an 10% of n
sales in 2010 or 2008.

Competition

The Company is confronted by aggressive competitioall areas of its business. The markets forGoepanys products and services
highly competitive. These markets are charactermeftequent product introductions and rapid tedbgical advances that have substant
increased the capabilities and use of personal aterg mobile communication and media devices, @hdr digital electronic devices. T
Companys competitors who sell personal computers baseottoer operating systems have aggressively cutpaocel lowered their prodt
margins to gain or maintain market share. The Cawgdfinancial condition and operating results caratheersely affected by these and o
industrywide downward pressures on gross margins. The ipdahccompetitive factors include price, product tteas, relativ
price/performance, product quality and reliabiliggsign innovation, availability of software andripberals, marketing and distributi
capability, service and support, and corporatetedjmn.

The Company is focused on expanding its market ippities related to mobile communication and met#gices, including iPhone and iF
The mobile communications and media device indestare highly competitive and include several langell-funded and experienc
participants. The Company expects competition @s¢hindustries to intensify significantly as conitpes attempt to imitate some of the iPh
and iPad features and applications within their qwaducts or, alternatively, collaborate with easther to offer solutions that are m
competitive than those they currently offer. Thas#ustries are characterized by aggressive pripiagtices, frequent product introductic
evolving design approaches and technologies, rgbightion of technological and product advancemieptsompetitors, and price sensitivity
the part of consumers and businesses.

The Companys iPod and digital content services have facedifiggnt competition from other companies promotihgir own digital musi
and content products and services, including tliffeging free peer-t@eer music and video services. The Company beligwéters superic
innovation and integration of the entire solutiorluding the hardware (personal computer, iPhoRad iand iPod), software (iTunes),
distribution of digital content and applicationdynes Store, App Store and iBookstore). Some of Goenpanys current and potent
competitors have substantial resources and mayleet@ provide such products and services at ldtl@o profit or even at a loss to comj
with the Companys offerings. Alternatively, these competitors majlaborate with each other to offer solutions theg more integrated th
those they currently offer.

The Company’s future financial condition and opie@tresults are substantially dependent on the @Goiyip ability to continue to develop ¢
offer new innovative products and services in ezfdhe markets it competes in.

Supply of Components

Although most components essential to the Comabysiness are generally available from multiplerses, certain key components incluc
but not limited to microprocessors, enclosuresaietiquid crystal displays (“LCDs”), certain opél drives, and applicatiospecific integrate
circuits (“ASICs”) are currently obtained by the Company from singlémited sources, which subjects the Company gaificant supply an
pricing risks. Many of these and other key compdsehat are available from multiple sources inahgdbut not limited to NAND flas
memory, dynamic random access memory (“DRAM”), amdtain LCDs, are subject at times to industigle shortages and significi
commodity pricing fluctuations. In addition, the i@pany has entered into certain agreements forupply of key components including |
not limited to microprocessors, NAND flash memdPRAM and LCDs at favorable pricing, but there isquarantee the Company will be &
to extend or renew these agreements on similardél® terms, or at all, upon expiration or otheenmibtain favorable pricing in the futu
Therefore, the Company remains subject to significesks of supply shortages and/or price incredises can materially adversely affect
financial condition and operating results.
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The Company and other participants in the persoo@puter, and mobile communication and media deividestries also compete for varis
components with other industries that have expeéédrnincreased demand for their products. In addittbe Company uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries, and new products introduced by the @y often utilize custom compone
available from only one source. When a componemtroduct uses new technologies, initial capacityst@ints may exist until the suppliers’
yields have matured or manufacturing capacity haseased. If the Compa’s supply of a key singlseurced component for a new or exis
product were delayed or constrained, if such coraptmwere available only at significantly higheicps, or if a key manufacturing ven
delayed shipments of completed products to the Gompthe Companyg’ financial condition and operating results could rhateriall
adversely affected. The Compasybusiness and financial performance could alsadwersely affected depending on the time requio
obtain sufficient quantities from the original soey or to identify and obtain sufficient quantiti'em an alternative source. Contini
availability of these components at acceptableegrior at all, may be affected if those suppliexsidied to concentrate on the productio
common components instead of components custontozexet the Company’s requirements.

Substantially all of the Compars/Macs, iPhones, iPads, iPods, logic boards aner etssembled products are manufactured by outsg
partners, primarily in various parts of Asia. Arsiiicant concentration of this outsourced manufantyis currently performed by only a fi
outsourcing partners of the Company, including Htai Precision Industry Co. Ltd. and Quanta Computgs. The Companyg' outsource
manufacturing is often performed in single locasio@ertain of these outsourcing partners are thesswrced supplier of components
manufacturing outsourcing for many of the Compankgy products, including but not limited to firmdsembly of substantially all of 1
Companys Macs, iPhones, iPads and iPods. Although the @agnprorks closely with its outsourcing partnersneanufacturing schedules,
Companys operating results could be adversely affectdtkibutsourcing partners were unable to meet thgduction commitments. T
Company’s purchase commitments typically coverGbenpany’s requirements for periods ranging fromd3050 days.

The Company sources components from a number glisap and manufacturing vendors. The loss of sufqam any of these suppliers
vendors, whether temporary or permanent, could madlieadversely affect the Company’s business famahcial condition.

Research and Development

Because the industries in which the Company comspate characterized by rapid technological advartbesCompanys ability to compel
successfully is heavily dependent upon its abititensure a continual and timely flow of compeétproducts, services and technologies t
marketplace. The Company continues to develop nedugts and technologies and to enhance existiodugts that expand the range o
product offerings and intellectual property throultensing and acquisition of thingarty business and technology. Total researct
development expense was $1.8 billion, $1.3 bilaod $1.1 billion in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respebtive

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights and Licenses

The Company currently holds rights to patents apydghts relating to certain aspects of its Maesone, iPad and iPod devices, periphe
software and services. In addition, the Companyrbgsstered and/or has applied to register, tradiesnand service marks in the U.S. ai
number of foreign countries for “Apple,” the Applego, “Macintosh,” “Mac,” “iPhone,” “iPad,” “iPod,™iTunes,” “iTunes Store,” Apple
TV,” “MobileMe” and numerous other trademarks and service markboudgh the Company believes the ownership of suatenps
copyrights, trademarks and service marks is an itapbfactor in its business and that its success dlepend in part on the ownership the
the Company relies primarily on the innovative Iskitechnical competence and marketing abilitiegsapersonnel.

The Company regularly files patent applicationsptotect inventions arising from its research andetigppment, and is currently pursu
thousands of patent applications around the w@nekr time, the Company has accumulated a portédlgeveral thousand issued patents i
U.S. and worldwide. In addition, the Company cutlseholds copyrights relating to certain aspectg#®products and services. No single p:
or copyright is
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solely responsible for protecting the Compangtroducts. The Company believes the duration efajpplicable patents it has been grant
adequate relative to the expected lives of its petal Due to the fast pace of innovation and prodegelopment, the Comparsyproducts al
often obsolete before the patents related to thepites and sometimes are obsolete before the atelstted to them are even granted.

Many of the Companyg products are designed to include intellectuaperty obtained from third parties. While it may becessary in tt
future to seek or renew licenses relating to variagpects of its products and business methodsCangpany believes, based upon
experience and industry practice, such licensegrgéiy could be obtained on commercially reasonadims; however, there is no guara
such licenses could be obtained at all. Becaudeabinological changes in the industries in whiok @ompany competes, current exter
patent coverage, and the rapid rate of issuanaeewf patents, it is possible certain componentshef Gompanys products and busine
methods may unknowingly infringe existing patentsntellectual property rights of others. From titeetime, the Company has been noti
that it may be infringing certain patents or otimellectual property rights of third parties.

Foreign and Domestic Operations and Geographic Data

The U.S. represents the Company’s largest geograpaiketplace. Approximately 44% of the Companyét sales in 2010 came from sale
customers inside the U.S. Final assembly of the i2zmy's products is currently performed in the Compa manufacturing facility in Irelan
and by external vendors in California, Texas, tlefPe’s Republic of China (“China”the Czech Republic and the Republic of Ki
(“Korea”). Currently, the supply and manufacturenoény critical components is performed by sole-sedrthirdparty vendors in the U.!
China, Germany, Ireland, Israel, Japan, Korea, ¥da the Netherlands, the Philippines, Taiwan,iféhd and Singapore. Sole-sourced third-
party vendors in China perform final assembly distantially all of the Compang’Macs, iPhones, iPads and iPods. Margins on séld®
Companys products in foreign countries, and on sales oflpets that include components obtained from feraigppliers, can be advers
affected by foreign currency exchange rate fluétuat and by international trade regulations, ingigdariffs and antidumping penalties.

Information regarding financial data by geograpbégment is set forth in Part Il, Item 7 and Iterof8this Form 10K and in Notes t
Consolidated Financial Statements at Note 9, “Segitméormation and Geographic Data.”

Seasonal Business

The Company has historically experienced increasddsales in its first and fourth fiscal quartessnpared to other quarters in its fiscal
due to seasonal demand of consumer markets rdtatbé holiday season and the beginning of thedcy®ar; however, this pattern has t
less pronounced following the introductions of iRcand iPad. This historical pattern should notcbesidered a reliable indicator of
Company'’s future net sales or financial performance

Warranty

The Company offers a basic limited parts and labamranty on most of its hardware products, inclgditacs, iPhones, iPads and iPods.
basic warranty period is typically one year frore thate of purchase by the original end-user. Thag2my also offers a 9fay basic warran
for its service parts used to repair the Comparhdrdware products. In addition, consumers maghase the APP, which extends ser
coverage on many of the Company’s hardware produngatsst of its major markets.

Backlog

In the Companys experience, the actual amount of product bac&togny particular time is not a meaningful indioatof its future busine
prospects. In particular, backlog often increasearnticipation of or immediately following new praet introductions as dealers anticig
shortages. Backlog is often reduced once dealatscastomers believe they can obtain sufficient suppecause of the foregoing, back
should not be considered a reliable indicator ef@ompany’s ability to achieve any particular levktevenue or financial performance.
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Environmental Laws

Compliance with federal, state, local and foreigwd enacted for the protection of the environmastto date had no significant effect on
Companys capital expenditures, earnings, or competitiva@timm. In the future, compliance with environmenéavs could materially adverse
affect the Company.

Production and marketing of products in certaitestand countries may subject the Company to emviemtal and other regulations includ
in some instances, the requirement to provide ousts the ability to return product at the end sfuseful life, and place responsibility
environmentally safe disposal or recycling with empany. Such laws and regulations have been gasseveral jurisdictions in which t
Company operates including various countries withurope and Asia and certain states and provingdgsnwNorth America. Although tt
Company does not anticipate any material advereetsfin the future based on the nature of its ap@ns and the thrust of such laws, the
no assurance that such existing laws or future l&ilVs10t materially adversely affect the Companfitsancial condition or operating results.

Employees

As of September 25, 2010, the Company had apprd&lynd6,600 full-time equivalent employees and dditgonal 2,800 fulltime equivaler
temporary employees and contractors.

Available Information

The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&gports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Foriq) 8hd amendments to reports fi
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Seesirfixchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchang®) Aate filed with the U.S. Securiti
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC3)uch reports and other information filed by the @any with the SEC are available free of charg
the Company’s website at www.apple.com/investbien such reports are available on the SEC webHite.public may read and copy
materials filed by the Company with the SEC at 8&C’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Rob68&0,1Washington, DC 205¢
The public may obtain information on the operatifrihe Public Reference Room by calling the SEC-800-SECO330. The SEC maintai
an Internet site that contains reports, proxy aridrination statements and other information regeydésuers that file electronically with
SEC at www.sec.gov The contents of these websites are not incorgdrato this filing. Further, the Compasyreferences to the URLs
these websites are intended to be inactive texéfiatences only.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Because of the following factors, as well as otfaators affecting the Comparsyfinancial condition and operating results, pasarfcia
performance should not be considered to be a feliaticator of future performance, and investdrsudd not use historical trends to anticij
results or trends in future periods.

Economic conditions could materially adversely eftbe Company

The Companys operations and performance depend significantlywmrldwide economic conditions. Uncertainty abautrrent globe
economic conditions poses a risk as consumers asiddsses may continue to postpone spending iemespo tighter credit, unemployme
negative financial news and/or declines in incomasset values, which could have a material negadffect on demand for the Company’
products and services. Demand also could differeriadly from the Companyg’ expectations since the Company generally raisesspor
goods and services sold outside the U.S. to offseteffect of a strengthening of the U.S. dollathed factors that could influence dem
include increases in fuel and other energy costsditions in the real estate and mortgage markater and healthcare costs, access to ¢
consumer confidence, and other macroeconomic faffecting consumer spending behavior. These ahdr aconomic factors cot
materially adversely affect demand for the Compamybducts and services and the Company’s finanoiadition and operating results.
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In the event of renewed financial turmoil affectithgg banking system and financial markets, addii@monsolidation of the financial servir
industry, or significant financial service institut failures, there could be a new or incremeritddtening in the credit markets, low liquidi
and extreme volatility in fixed income, credit, cemcy, and equity markets. In addition, the rigkas that there could be a number of follow-
on effects from the credit crisis on the Companiyusiness, including the insolvency of key outsedrmanufacturing partners or supplier
their inability to obtain credit to finance devetopnt and/or manufacture products resulting in pcodelays; inability of customers, includ
channel partners, to obtain credit to finance pasels of the Comparg/products and/or customer, including channel parinsolvencies; ai
failure of derivative counterparties and other ficial institutions negatively impacting the Companyreasury operations. Other incc
and expense also could vary materially from expesta depending on gains or losses realized osdleor exchange of financial instrume
impairment charges resulting from revaluations @ftdand equity securities and other investmentsrést rates; cash balances; and chang
fair value of derivative instruments. Increasedatitity in the financial markets and overall ecoriomncertainty would increase the risk of
actual amounts realized in the future on the Compmafinancial instruments differing significantly frothe fair values currently assignet
them.

Uncertainty about current global economic condgicnuld also continue to increase the volatilityhef Company’s stock price.

Global markets for the Comparsyproducts and services are highly competitive sugject to rapid technological change. If the Compé
unable to compete effectively in these marketéinasicial condition and operating results couldrbaterially adversely affected.

The Company competes in highly competitive globakkets characterized by aggressive price cuttinth wesulting downward pressure
gross margins, frequent introduction of new produshort product life cycles, evolving industryratards, continual improvement in proc
price/performance characteristics, rapid adoptibtrechnological and product advancements by congustiand price sensitivity on the par
consumers.

The Companyg ability to compete successfully depends heavilyt® ability to ensure a continuing and timelyraduction of innovative ne
products and technologies to the marketplace. Tdrag2ny believes it is unique in that it designs dedelops nearly the entire solution fo
products, including the hardware, operating systammerous software applications, and related sesvids a result, the Company must n
significant investments in research and developraedtas such, the Company currently holds a s@amifinumber of patents and copyri
and has registered and/or has applied to registarerous patents, trademarks and service marks.oByrast, many of the Compasy’
competitors seek to compete primarily through aggje pricing and very low cost structures. If @@mpany is unable to continue to dewvt
and sell innovative new products with attractivergives or if other companies infringe on the Comparnytellectual property, the Compamsy’
ability to maintain a competitive advantage coutrtegatively affected and its financial conditiordaperating results could be materi
adversely affected.

In the market for personal computers and periphethe Company faces a significant number of coitgesf many of which have broat
product lines, lower priced products, and largestdited customer bases. Consolidation in this madnlks resulted in larger and potenti
stronger competitors. Price competition has beerticpdarly intense as competitors selling Windobased personal computers h
aggressively cut prices and lowered product margiie Company also faces increased competitionei karket segments, includ
consumer, SMB, education, enterprise, governmedt @eative markets. An increasing number of Intemhevices that include softw:
applications and are smaller and simpler thantitadil personal computers compete for market siitrethe Company’s existing products.

The Company is currently the only authorized maKemardware using the Mac OS. The Mac OS has arnitynmarket share in the perso
computer market, which is dominated by computer emakusing competing operating systems, most not#ilydows. The Company’
financial condition and operating results dependstantially on the Company’ability to continually improve the Mac platforma maintail
functional and
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design advantages. Use of unauthorized copieseoiMidic OS on other companidgrdware products may result in decreased demarnitie
Company’s hardware products, and could materiallyessely affect the Company’s financial conditio aperating results.

The Company currently markets certain mobile comication and media devices, and thpdrty digital content and applications. -
Company faces substantial competition from comatiiat have significant technical, marketing, distion and other resources, as we
established hardware, software and digital consaipiplier relationships. Additionally, the Comparacds significant price competition
competitors reduce their selling prices and attetnpginitate the Compang’product features and applications within theingwoducts o
alternatively, collaborate with each other to off@lutions that are more competitive than those th@rently offer. The Company a
competes with illegitimate ways to obtain thpdrty digital content and applications. The Compéaag only recently entered the mo
communications and media device markets, and mhitg competitors in these markets have signifisagteater experience, produateadt
and distribution channels than the Company. Becaasee current and potential competitors have sobiataesources and/or experience a
lower cost structure, they may be able to providehsproducts and services at little or no profiegen at a loss. The Company also exj
competition to intensify as competitors attemptirtotate the Companyg’ approach to providing these components seamlegtiyn thei
individual offerings or work collaboratively to @ff integrated solutions.

The Company currently receives subsidies fromxtdusive and norexclusive carriers providing cellular network seevifor iPhone. There
no assurance that such subsidies will be contiatiedl or in the same amounts upon renewal of the@anys agreements with these carr
or in agreements the Company enters into with rewers.

There can be no assurance the Company will betalgientinue to provide products and services thatpete effectively.

To remain competitive and stimulate customer demtmedCompany must successfully manage frequedtiptantroductions and transitions.

Due to the highly volatile and competitive natufettee industries in which the Company competes,Gbenpany must continually introdt
new products, services and technologies, enhanistinex products and services, and effectively states customer demand for new .
upgraded products. The success of new productlinttions depends on a number of factors includimgnbt limited to timely and success
product development, market acceptance, the Compatjlity to manage the risks associated with nevdypcts and production ramp isst
the availability of application software for newoplucts, the effective management of purchase camenits and inventory levels in line w
anticipated product demand, the availability ofdarcts in appropriate quantities and costs to mettipated demand, and the risk that
products may have quality or other defects in tadyestages of introduction. Accordingly, the Compacannot determine in advance
ultimate effect of new product introductions arehsitions on its financial condition and operatiagults.

The Company faces substantial inventory and othsetarisk in addition to purchase commitment cdatieh risk.

The Company records a writlswn for product and component inventories thatehbgcome obsolete or exceed anticipated demane!
realizable value and accrues necessary cancellig@neserves for orders of excess products angaoemts. The Company also review:
longived assets for impairment whenever events or ghdrtircumstances indicate the carrying amounnhasset may not be recoverabli
the Company determines that impairment has occuitredcords a writelown equal to the amount by which the carrying gadfi the asse
exceeds its fair market value. Although the Compheljeves its provisions related to inventory, othssets and purchase commitment:
currently adequate, no assurance can be giveth&@ompany will not incur additional related cteggiven the rapid and unpredictable |
of product obsolescence in the industries in whied Company competes. Such charges could mategdigrsely affect the Company’
financial condition and operating results.
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The Company must order components for its prodaietsbuild inventory in advance of product annoureets and shipments. Consistent
industry practice, components are normally acquifedugh a combination of purchase orders, supmirtracts, open orders and, wt
appropriate, prepayments, in each case based ¢ecfgd demand. Such purchase commitments typicalyer forecasted component .
manufacturing requirements for 30 to 150 days. Beeahe Compang’ markets are volatile, competitive and subjeatafmd technology ar
price changes, there is a risk the Company wikkdast incorrectly and order or produce excess safficient inventories of components
products. The Companyfinancial condition and operating results havenbi@ the past and could be in the future matgrediversely affecte
by the Company'’s ability to manage its inventonyels and respond to short-term shifts in custoneenahd patterns.

Future operating results depend upon the Com’s ability to obtain key components including but limited to microprocessors, NAND fle
memory, DRAM and LCDs at favorable prices and ffigant quantities.

Because the Company currently obtains certain keyponents including but not limited to microproaess enclosures, certain LCDs, cer
optical drives, and ASICs, from single or limitealsces, the Company is subject to significant syppld pricing risks. Many of these and o
key components that are available from multiplerses including but not limited to NAND flash mempPRAM and certain LCDs, a
subject at times to industryide shortages and significant commaodity pricingfuations. The Company has entered into certaigeagents fc
the supply of key components including but not fedito microprocessors, NAND flash memory, DRAM &@€Ds at favorable pricing, b
there is no guarantee that the Company will be théxtend or renew these agreements on similaréde terms, or at all, upon expiratior
otherwise obtain favorable pricing in the futurdneTfollow-on effects from the credit crisis on t@empany’s key suppliers, referred to in “
Economic conditions could materially adversely eiffine Compar” above, which is incorporated herein by referentsn aould affect tr
Company’s ability to obtain key component$herefore, the Company remains subject to sigmificésks of supply shortages and/or p
increases that could materially adversely affeet@mpanys financial condition and operating results. Thenpany expects to experiet
decreases in its gross margin percentage in fytemrieds, as compared to levels achieved during 2@ifely due to a higher mix of new ¢
innovative products that have higher cost strustared deliver greater value to customers, and ¢éxgend potential future component cost
other cost increases. For additional informatiocierréo Part Il, Item 7, “ManagemestDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord
Results of Operations,” under the subheading “Gk&asyin,” which is incorporated herein by reference

The Company and other participants in the persooaiputer, and mobile communication and media dewidestries compete for varic
components with other industries that have expeedrincreased demand for their products. The Coynpaes some custom components
are not common to the rest of these industries. Gtmpanys new products often utilize custom componentslabi@ from only one sourc
When a component or product uses new technolo@iél capacity constraints may exist until theppliers’ yields have matured
manufacturing capacity has increased. Continuedadnility of these components at acceptable pricesat all, may be affected if thc
suppliers decided to concentrate on the productibrtommon components instead of components cusemmia meet the Comparsy’
requirements. If the supply of a key singledrced component for a new or existing productewtalayed or constrained, if such compor
were available only at significantly higher prices,if a key manufacturing vendor delayed shipmerfitsompleted products to the Compe
the Company’s financial condition and operatingutisscould be materially adversely affected.

The Company depends on component and product nwatfg and logistical services provided by thirdrpes, many of whom are loca
outside of the U.S.

Substantially all of the Company’s components arwtipcts are manufactured in whole or in part bgwa thirdparty manufacturers. Many
these manufacturers are located outside of the Bnf.are concentrated in several general locatidms Company has also outsourced mus
its transportation and logistics management. Whiése arrangements may lower operating costs,aiseyreduce the Compaisydirect contrc
over production and distribution. It is uncertaihat effect such diminished control will have on thality or quantity of
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products or services, or the Company’s flexibility respond to changing conditions. In addition, Bempany relies on thirgarty
manufacturers to adhere to the Comparsgpplier code of conduct. Although arrangemeiitis such manufacturers may contain provision
warranty expense reimbursement, the Company maginerasponsible to the consumer for warranty seriicthe event of product defe:
Any unanticipated product defect or warranty lidijl whether pursuant to arrangements with contraanufacturers or otherwise, co
materially adversely affect the Company’s reputagtftnancial condition and operating results.

Final assembly of the Company’s products is culygrgrformed in the Company’'manufacturing facility in Ireland, and by extdmandors ii
California, Texas, China, the Czech Republic andeldo Currently, the supply and manufacture of menitical components is performed
sole-sourced thirgharty vendors in the U.S., China, Germany, Ireldsel, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, the Netherlarids Philippines, Taiwa
Thailand and Singapore. Sole-sourced third-parhdees in China perform final assembly of substdlytil of the Companys Mac product
iPhones, iPads and iPods. If manufacturing or tagsin these locations is disrupted for any reasocluding but not limited to, natui
disasters, information technology system failureditary actions or economic, business, labor, Bsrwinental, public health, or political isst
the Company'’s financial condition and operatingitisscould be materially adversely affected.

The Company relies on third-party digital contemhich may not be available to the Company on coroialér reasonable terms or at all.

The Company contracts with certain third partiesffer their digital content through the Companifsines Store. The Comparsylicensin
arrangements with these third parties are steont and do not guarantee the continuation or reahefwhese arrangements on reasonable t
if at all. Some thirdaarty content providers currently or in the futamay offer competing products and services, anddctake action to mal
it more difficult or impossible for the Companylicense their content in the future. Other contembers, providers or distributors may see
limit the Companys access to, or increase the total cost of, suctenb If the Company is unable to continue to ofevide variety of conte
at reasonable prices with acceptable usage rulesyrainue to expand its geographic reach, the Gmyp financial condition and operati
results may be materially adversely affected.

Many third-party content providers require that @@mpany provide certain digital rights managenfddRM”) and other security solutions
these requirements change, the Company may hadevedop or license new technology to provide thesdlations. There is no assurance
Company will be able to develop or license suchitsas at a reasonable cost and in a timely matnexddition, certain countries have pa:
or may propose legislation that would force the @any to license its DRM, which could lessen thetgmtion of content and subject it
piracy and also could affect arrangements withGbmpany’s content providers.

The Company relies on access to third-party patantintellectual property, and the Companyuture results could be materially adver:
affected if it is alleged or found to have infridgiatellectual property rights.

Many of the Company’s products are designed taugelthirdparty intellectual property, and in the future thempany may need to seel
renew licenses relating to various aspects ofrivslycts and business methods. Although the Compaligves that, based on past experi
and industry practice, such licenses generallyccbel obtained on reasonable terms, there is noas®ithat the necessary licenses wou
available on acceptable terms or at all.

Because of technological changes in the industmiegich the Company competes, current extensivenp&overage, and the rapid issuanc
new patents, it is possible that certain componefthe Companys products and business methods may unknowingtingd the patents
other intellectual property rights of third partiggom time to time, the Company has been notifleat it may be infringing such righ
Regardless of merit, responding to such claimsamarsume significant time and expense. At preséetCompany is vigorously defendin
number of patent infringement cases, and severalipg claims are in various stages of evaluatiorcdrtain cases, the Company may con
the desirability of entering into licensing agreese although no
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assurance can be given that such licenses cantamed on acceptable terms or that litigation wk occur. If the Company is found to
infringing such rights, it may be required to pagpstantial damages. If there is a temporary or paant injunction prohibiting the Compe
from marketing or selling certain products or acassful claim of infringement against the Compasnyuires it to pay royalties to a third pa
the Company’s financial condition and operatingutsscould be materially adversely affected, retgsl of whether it can develop non-
infringing technology. While in managementpinion the Company does not have a potentiailitia for damages or royalties from any knc
current legal proceedings or claims related toitifiengement of patent or other intellectual pragetights that would individually or in ti
aggregate materially adversely affect its financ@hdition and operating results, the results chdegal proceedings cannot be predicted
certainty. Should the Company fail to prevail iryarf the matters related to infringement of patemnother intellectual property rights of oth

or should several of these matters be resolvednsg#fie Company in the same reporting period, tbenganys financial condition ar
operating results could be materially adverselgctéd.

With the introduction of iPhones and 3G enabledif?dahe Company has begun to compete with mobitenoanication and media devit
companies that hold significant patent portfoli@egardless of the scope or validity of such patentee merits of any potential patent cla
by competitors, the Company may have to engagedirgeted litigation, enter into expensive agreetmen settlements and/or modify
products. Any of these events could have a matadatrse impact on the Company’s financial conditiad operating results.

The Company'’s future performance depends on sugmort third-party software developers. If thipdty software applications and servi
cease to be developed and maintained for the Coy'panoducts, customers may choose not to buy tmepany’s products.

The Company believes decisions by customers tohpsecits hardware products, including its Macsoiféls, iPads and iPods, are often b
to a certain extent on the availability of thirddyasoftware applications and services. There isassurance that thingiarty developers w
continue to develop and maintain applications amgises for the Company’products on a timely basis or at all, and disocoaince or delay
these applications and services could materialeesly affect the Company’s financial conditiord aperating results.

With respect to its Mac products, the Company bekethe availability of thirgparty software applications and services depengsihon th
developers’ perception and analysis of the reldtimeefits of developing, maintaining, and upgradingh software for the Compasyproduct
compared to Windowbased products. This analysis may be based onrgastich as the perceived strength of the Compadyitamproducts
the anticipated revenue that may be generatedinc@uat acceptance by customers of Mac OS X, anddhkts of developing such applicati
and services. If the Company’s minority share &f gfobal personal computer market causes develdpansestion the Compars/prospect
developers could be less inclined to develop oraghg software for the Compasyproducts and more inclined to devote their recsiit
developing and upgrading software for the largendBivs market. The Comparsytevelopment of its own software applications selice
may also negatively affect the decisions of thpedty developers, such as Microsoft, Adobe and Gpdg develop, maintain, and upgr
similar or competitive software and services fa&r @ompany’s products.

With respect to iPhone, iPad and iPod touch, then@my relies on the continued availability and demeent of compelling and innovati
software applications. Unlike thindarty software applications for Mac products, tbévgare applications for the iPhone, iPad and iRudtt
platforms are distributed through a single disttitau channel, the App Store. The absence of meliiltribution channels, which are avail
for competing platforms, may limit the availabilignd acceptance of third-party applications by Gmenpanys customers, thereby caus
developers to curtail significantly, or stop, demhent for the Company’platforms. In addition, iPhone, iPad and iPocckoare subject
rapid technological change, and, if third-party elepers are unable to keep up with this pace ohgbathirdparty applications might n
successfully operate and may result in dissatisfiestomers. Further, if the Company develops ite eaftware applications and services, ¢
development may negatively affect the decisionthiofl-party developers to develop, maintain,
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and upgrade similar or competitive applications tfeg iPhone, iPad and iPod touch platforms. As ajtplications for the Compars/Mac
products, the availability and development of thapplications also depend on develop@exceptions and analysis of the relative benefi
developing software for the Company’s products eatthan its competitorsproducts, including devices that use competingfqlats. I
developers focus their efforts on these competiatiggms, the availability and quality of appliaatis for the Company’s devices may suffer.

The Company’s future operating performance dependfe performance of distributors, carriers antetresellers.

The Company distributes its products through whradégs, resellers, national and regional retailesbje-added resellers, and cataloguers, r
of whom distribute products from competing manuiaets. The Company also sells many of its prodants$ resells thirgrarty products i
most of its major markets directly to customerstaie education customers, cellular network castidistribution channels and certain rese
through its online and retail stores.

Many resellers operate on narrow operating margishave been negatively affected in the past lakweeonomic conditions. Some rese
have perceived the expansion of the Compamitect sales as conflicting with their businesteriests as distributors and resellers o
Company’s products. Such a perception could disgmiresellers from investing resources in the idigion and sale of the Compansy’
products or lead them to limit or cease distributmf those products. The Compasyfinancial condition and operating results coué
materially adversely affected if the financial cdiwh of these resellers weakens, if resellers gadpdistributing the Comparg/products, or
uncertainty regarding demand for the Company’s petsl caused resellers to reduce their orderingnaaudeting of the Company’product:
The Company has invested and will continue to inwegrograms to enhance reseller sales, includiaffing selected resellerstores witl
Company employees and contractors and improvingymtoplacement displays. These programs could regusubstantial investment wt
providing no assurance of return or incrementatnese.

The Company Retail business has required and will continueetquire a substantial investment and commitmemn¢sdurces and is subject
numerous risks and uncertainties.

The Companys retail stores have required substantial fixedestment in equipment and leasehold improvementernivation system
inventory and personnel. The Company also haseshiato substantial operating lease commitmentsdiail space, with terms ranging fr
five to 20 years, the majority of which are for tggars. Certain stores have been designed andtbsiétrve as higprofile venues to promc
brand awareness and serve as vehicles for corpgabie and marketing activities. Because of theique design elements, locations and
these stores require substantially more investrtam the Compang’ more typical retail stores. Due to the high fixedt structure associa
with the Retail segment, a decline in sales ordbeure or poor performance of individual or mudigtores could result in significant le
termination costs, writeffs of equipment and leasehold improvements, aewkrance costs that could materially adverselychftae
Company'’s financial condition and operating results

Many factors unique to retail operations, some hiclv are beyond the Compasycontrol, pose risks and uncertainties that coudderially
adversely affect the Company'’s financial conditaord operating results. These risks and uncertaintigdude, but are not limited to, macro-
economic factors that could have a negative efiaageneral retail activity, as well as the Comparngability to manage costs associated
store construction and operation, inability to dkitd-party products at adequate margins, failure to marmalationships with existing ret
channel partners, more challenging environmentamaging retail operations outside the U.S., cosds@ated with unanticipated fluctuati

in the value of retail inventory, and inability abtain and renew leases in quality retail locatiaha reasonable cost.
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Investment in new business strategies and inigaticould disrupt the Compé's ongoing business and present risks not origi
contemplated.

The Company has invested, and in the future magsitpin new business strategies or acquisitionsh 8adeavors may involve significant ri
and uncertainties, including distraction of managetrfrom current operations, insufficient revenaeffset liabilities assumed and expel
associated with the strategy, inadequate retugapital, and unidentified issues not discoverethe@Companys due diligence. Because th
new ventures are inherently risky, no assurancebsagiven that such strategies and initiatives Wil successful and will not materi:
adversely affect the Company’s financial conditzom operating results.

The Company’s products and services experiencétguymbblems from time to time that can result éccbased sales and operating margin.

The Company sells highly complex hardware and sofwproducts and services that can contain defecdesign and manufactu
Sophisticated operating system software and apjgitg such as those sold by the Company, oftenagoribugs”that can unexpectec
interfere with the software’intended operation. Defects may also occur inpmorants and products the Company purchases frathphities
There can be no assurance the Company will betaldetect and fix all defects in the hardware,\gafe and services it sells. Failure to d
could result in lost revenue, harm to reputatiord aignificant warranty and other expenses, anddclave a material adverse impact on
Company'’s financial condition and operating results

In the U.S. the Company relies on a single cellaletwork carrier to provide service for iPhor

In the U.S. the Company has contracted with a simgirrier to provide cellular network services ®hone on an exclusive basis. If
exclusive carrier cannot successfully compete wttier carriers in the U.S. market on any basiduding but not limited to the quality a
coverage of wireless voice and data services, paeoce and timely buildut of advanced wireless networks, and pricing atier terms ¢
conditions of customer contracts, or if this exitascarrier fails to promote iPhone aggressivelyamor other handsets in their promotion
sales activities or service plans, sales may bernadly adversely affected.

The Company is subject to risks associated witls laegulations and industriyjaposed standards related to mobile communicatismedi
devices.

Laws and regulations related to mobile communicatiand media devices in the many jurisdictions hictv the Company operates
extensive and subject to change. Such changeshwbidd include but are not limited to restrictiaors production, manufacture, distributi
and use of the device, locking the device to ai@dsrnetwork, or mandating the use of the devinenwre than one carriarnetwork, coul
materially adversely affect the Company’s financiahdition and operating results.

Mobile communication and media devices, such asrPs and 3G enabled iPads, are subject to cefiiicand regulation by governmer
and standardization bodies, as well as by celhddwork carriers for use on their networks. Thesgifgcation processes are extensive and
consuming, and could result in additional testieguirements, product modifications or delays indpict shipment dates, which co
materially adversely affect the Company’s financiahdition and operating results.

The Company'’s success depends largely on the ceatiservice and availability of key personnel.

Much of the Company future success depends on the continued avéyadnild service of key personnel, including its GH® executive tea
and highly skilled employees in technical, markgtand staff positions. Experienced personnel int¢isnology industry are in high dem:
and competition for their talents is intense, eglycin the Silicon Valley, where most of the Coamy’s key personnel are located. There
be no assurance that the Company will continuéttact and retain key personnel.
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Political events, war, terrorism, public healthugs, natural disasters and other circumstancesccmaterially adversely affect the Compa

War, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, pubkiealth issues, and other business interruption® lawused and could cause damag
disruption to international commerce and the glob@dnomy, and thus could have a strong negativectefin the Company, its supplit
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors and ausrs, including channel partners. The Comparyisiness operations are subjec
interruption by natural disasters, fire, power shges, terrorist attacks, and other hostile aatsorl disputes, public health issues, and
events beyond its control. Such events could deerdamand for the Compasyproducts, make it difficult or impossible for tB®mpany t
make and deliver products to its customers, indgdithannel partners, or to receive components ftensuppliers, and create delays
inefficiencies in the Company’supply chain. Should major public health issireduding pandemics, arise, the Company could lgatieely
affected by more stringent employee travel restst, additional limitations in freight servicegwgrnmental actions limiting the movemen
products between regions, delays in production sewfpnew products, and disruptions in the operatiohthe Companyg manufacturin
vendors and component suppliers. The majority ef@ompanys research and development activities, its corpanatdquarters, informati
technology systems, and other critical businessatipes, including certain component suppliers arahufacturing vendors, are in locati
that could be affected by natural disasters. Inethent of a natural disaster, losses and significecovery time could be required to resi
operations and the Company'’s financial conditiod aperating results could be materially adversékycted.

The Company may be subject to information techryodggtem failures, network disruptions and breachekata security.

Information technology system failures, networkrdigions and breaches of data security caused dly factors, including but not limited
earthquakes, fire, theft, fraud, malicious attackother causes could disrupt the Compangperations by causing delays or cancellatic
customer, including channel partner, orders, neghtiaffecting the Compang’online, iTunes, MobileMe and retail offerings asetvices
impeding the manufacture or shipment of productecgssing transactions and reporting financial Iteswesulting in the unintentior
disclosure of customer or Company information, amdge to the Compars/reputation. While management has taken stepddess the:
concerns by implementing sophisticated network iggcand internal control measures, there can bassarance that a system failure or lo:
data security breach will not materially adversaffiect the Company’s financial condition and opegtesults.

The Company expects its quarterly revenue and éipgreesults to fluctuate for a variety of reasons.

The Company’s profit margins vary among its produatd its distribution channels. The Compangoftware, accessories, and service
support contracts generally have higher gross martian certain of the Company’s other productes&margins on the Compasyiardwar
products vary across product lines and can chamvge time as a result of product transitions, pdciand configuration changes,
component, warranty, and other cost fluctuatiorlee Tompanys direct sales generally have higher associatessgrargins than its indire
sales through its channel partners. In additioa,Gompanys gross margin and operating margin percentagesethss overall profitability
may be materially adversely impacted as a resuli ehift in product, geographic or channel mix, nawducts, component cost increa
strengthening U.S. dollar, or price competitioneT®ompany has typically experienced greater nessal the first and fourth fiscal quart
compared to the second and third fiscal quarteestduseasonal demand related to the holiday seastrihe beginning of the school y:
respectively. Furthermore, the Company sells mooglycts from time-tdime during the third month of a quarter than iesl@uring either 1
the first two months. Developments late in a quarseich as lower-than-anticipated demand for then@my’s products, issues with n
product introductions, an internal systems failuwe failure of one of the Compars/’key logistics, components supply, or manufacy
partners, could have a material adverse impadi@@bmpany’s financial condition and operating ftssu
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The Company’s stock price continues to be volatile.

The Companys stock has at times experienced substantial potagility due to a number of factors, includingtinot limited to variatior
between its actual and anticipated financial res@hnouncements by the Company and its competaads uncertainty about current glc
economic conditions. The stock market as a whae hhs experienced extreme price and volume fltiohsthat have affected the mau
price of many technology companies in ways that rhaye been unrelated to these companip&rating performance. Furthermore,
Company believes its stock price reflects high feitgrowth and profitability expectations. If the l@pany fails to meet these expectation
stock price may significantly decline, which coblave a material adverse impact on investor confidemd employee retention.

The Company’s business is subject to the riskstefriational operations.

The Company derives a significant portion of itgargue and earnings from its international operati@ompliance with U.S. and foreign Iz
and regulations that apply to the Company’s inteéonal operations, including without limitation irag and export requirements, anti-
corruption laws, tax laws (including U.S. taxesforeign subsidiaries), foreign exchange controld eash repatriation restrictions, data pri
requirements, labor laws, and aatimpetition regulations, increases the costs ofigidiusiness in foreign jurisdictions, and any sochts
which may rise in the future as a result of chanigethese laws and regulations or in their intetgtien. Furthermore, the Company
implemented policies and procedures designed tarensompliance with these laws and regulations,tbhete can be no assurance tha
Company’s employees, contractors, or agents willvimate such laws and regulations or the Compsamylicies. Any such violations col
individually or in the aggregate materially advéyssffect the Company’s financial condition or ogting results.

The Companys financial condition and operating results alsalddbe significantly affected by other risks asateil with internation
activities, including but not limited to, econonand labor conditions, increased duties, taxes #émer @osts, political instability, and change
the value of the U.S. dollar versus local curresicMargins on sales of the Compasmgroducts in foreign countries, and on sales oflpet:
that include components obtained from foreign sigpgl could be materially adversely affected byefgn currency exchange rate fluctuati
and by international trade regulations, includingies, tariffs and antidumping penalties. Addititywathe Company is exposed to credit
collectability risk on its trade receivables withstomers in certain international markets. There lwano assurance it can effectively limi
credit risk and avoid losses, which could mateyiativersely affect the Company’s financial conditémnd operating results.

The Company’s primary exposure to movements inigoreurrency exchange rates relate to kb8- dollar denominated sales in Eurt
Japan, Australia, Canada and certain parts of Asiayell as notd.S. dollar denominated operating expenses incuitmezlighout the worli
Weakening of foreign currencies relative to the .UdBllar will adversely affect the U.S. dollar valof the Company’s foreign currency-
denominated sales and earnings, and generallyle@ll the Company to raise international pricingteptally reducing demand for t
Companys products. In some circumstances, due to competiti other reasons, the Company may decide n@tige local prices to the f
extent of the dollar’s strengthening, or at alljethwould adversely affect the U.S. dollar valugte Companys foreign currency denomina
sales and earnings. Conversely, a strengthenifgefn currencies, while generally beneficiallhe Company’s foreign currenaenominate
sales and earnings, could cause the Company ta@eddternational pricing and incur losses on iteign currency derivative instrumet
thereby limiting the benefit. Additionally, stretgning of foreign currencies may also increaseGbenpanys cost of product compone
denominated in those currencies, thus adversebgtitify gross margins.

The Company has used derivative instruments, ssi¢braign currency forward and option contracthedge certain exposures to fluctuat
in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of seclying activities may not offset any or more thgportion of the adverse financial effe
of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates the limited time the hedges are in place.
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The Company is exposed to credit risk and fluctunstin the market values of its investment podfoli

Although the Company has not recognized any sicanifi losses to date on its cash, cash equivaledtsnarketable securities, any signific
future declines in their market values could matgriadversely affect the Compasyfinancial condition and operating results. Gittes globa
nature of its business, the Company has investniertsdomestically and internationally. Credit mgs and pricing of these investments ca
negatively impacted by liquidity, credit deteridcet or losses, financial results, or other factdks. a result, the value or liquidity of 1
Companys cash, cash equivalents and marketable securdidd decline and result in a material impairmevitich could materially adverse
affect the Company’s financial condition and op@atesults.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its tradeounts receivable, vendor non-trade receivables prepayments related to lotgrr
supply agreements. This risk is heightened dureripds when economic conditions worsen.

The Company distributes its products through tipiagty cellular network carriers, wholesalers, fetaiand valuexdded resellers. A substan
majority of the Company’s outstanding trade receigs are not covered by collateral or credit insaea The Compang’exposure to credit a
collectability risk on its trade receivables arergased in certain international markets and itbtyabo mitigate such risks may be limite
Cellular network carriers accounted for a significpotion of the Compang’trade receivables as of September 25, 2010. ©hgp&ny also hi
unsecured vendor ndrade receivables resulting from purchases of corapts by contract manufacturers and other vendatsnhanufactul
sub-assemblies or assemble final products for thegany. Two vendors accounted for a significantiporof the Company’s notrade
receivables as of September 25, 2010. In additlenCompany has made prepayments associated wigtdaom supply agreements to sec
supply of certain inventory components. While th@r@any has procedures to monitor and limit exposuiedit risk on its trade and ven
non-trade receivables as well as Idagn prepayments, there can be no assurance sockdores will effectively limit its credit risk araloic
losses, which could materially adversely affect@mnpany’s financial condition and operating result

The matters relating to the Compasypast stock option practices and its restateméntomsolidated financial statements may resu
additional litigation.

The Companys investigation into its past stock option practiemd its restatement of prior financial stateméntie Annual Report on Fol
10-K for the year ended September 30, 2006 gae tdslitigation and government investigations. Assatibed in Part I, Item 3,L&ga
Proceedings,several derivative and class action complaints rdigg stock options were filed against the Compang current and form
officers and directors. These actions have beeniséed following a comprehensive settlement. Twonfr officers of the Company were ¢
named as defendants in an SEC enforcement actfoohwas been settled.

No assurance can be given that additional actiaghset be filed against the Company and currerd garmer officers and directors as a re
of past stock option practices. If such actions fiegl and result in adverse findings, the remediesld materially adversely affect
Company'’s financial condition and operating results

Unfavorable results of legal proceedings could matly adversely affect the Company.

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgs claims that have arisen out of the ordinanydaat of its business and are not
resolved and additional claims may arise in therfit Results of legal proceedings cannot be predliotith certainty. Regardless of me
litigation may be both time-consuming and disruptie the Companyg’ operations and cause significant expense andsitiveof manageme
attention. In recognition of these consideratidhe,Company may enter into material settlementsutshthe Company fail to prevail in cert
matters, or should several of these matters bdveb@gainst the Company in the same reportingogethe Company may be faced v
significant monetary damages or injunctive relighiast it that would materially adversely affeqd@tion of its business and might materi
affect the Company’s financial condition and op@gatesults.
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The Company is subject to risks associated witls lamd regulations related to health, safety andrenmental protection.

The Companys products and services, and the production andhbdison of those goods and services, are sulifeet variety of laws ar
regulations. These may require the Company to affistomers the ability to return a product at the ef its useful life and place responsib
for environmentally safe disposal or recycling witle Company. Such laws and regulations have bassep in several jurisdictions in wh
the Company operates, including various countrigsinvEurope and Asia and certain states and poagmwithin North America. Although t
Company does not anticipate any material adverfsetsfbased on the nature of its operations andbthes of such laws, there is no assur.
such existing laws or future laws will not matdsiaddversely affect the Company’s financial coratitand operating results.

Changes in the Compansytax rates, the adoption of new U.S. or internadiotax legislation or exposure to additional taahbilities coulc
affect its future results.

The Company is subject to taxes in the United Statel numerous foreign jurisdictions. The Compsuriyture effective tax rates could
affected by changes in the mix of earnings in coestwith differing statutory tax rates, changegha valuation of deferred tax assets
liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their intextation. In addition, the current administratioda&Congress have announced proposals fol
U.S. tax legislation that, if adopted, could adedraffect the Compang’'tax rate. Any of these changes could have a rabselverse affect ¢
the Companyg profitability. The Company is also subject to toatinual examination of its income tax returnshy Internal Revenue Serv
and other tax authorities. The Company regularbesses the likelihood of adverse outcomes resuhimg these examinations to determine
adequacy of its provision for taxes. There candagsurance that the outcomes from these examisatil not materially adversely affect 1
Company'’s financial condition and operating results

The Company is subject to risks associated witlatladability and coverage of insurance.

For certain risks, the Company does not maintasur@ance coverage because of cost and/or avajalBktcause the Company retains s
portion of its insurable risks, and in some casdfissures completely, unforeseen or catastrophicebo$s excess of insured limits co
materially adversely affect the Company’s financiahdition and operating results.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

The Companys headquarters are located in Cupertino, CaliforAg of September 25, 2010, the Company owned aselé approximate
10.6 million square feet of building space, priryaim the U.S., and to a lesser extent, in Eurdla@an, Canada, and the ABaeific region:
Of that amount, approximately 5.6 million squaretfevas leased, of which approximately 2.5 milliquare feet was retail building spe
Additionally, the Company owns a total of 480 aasétand in various locations.

As of September 25, 2010, the Company owned a raatwrfng facility in Cork, Ireland that also housad¢ustomer support call center
facilities in Elk Grove, California that includedanehousing and distribution operations and a custaupport call center. In addition,
Company owned facilities for research and develognand corporate functions in Cupertino, Californiecluding land for the futu
development of the Comparsysecond corporate campus. The Company also owmladaacenter in Newark, California and land in K
Carolina for a new data center facility currentiyder construction. Outside the U.S., the Companyealvadditional facilities for vario
purposes.
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The Company believes its existing facilities andipment are in good operating condition and aréablé for the conduct of its business.
Company has invested in internal capacity andegjratrelationships with outside manufacturing vasdand continues to make investmen
capital equipment as needed to meet anticipatedeéror its products.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As of September 25, 2010, the end of the annuébgeovered by this report, the Company was sulifethe various legal proceedings
claims discussed below, as well as certain othgalleroceedings and claims that have not been fekplved and that have arisen in
ordinary course of business. In the opinion of nggnaent, the Company does not have a potentiallitialbelated to any current leg
proceeding or claim that would individually or imetaggregate materially adversely affect its fim@noondition or operating results. Howe»
the results of legal proceedings cannot be prediiai¢h certainty. Should the Company fail to préwaiany of these legal matters or shc
several of these legal matters be resolved agthiastompany in the same reporting period, the diperaesults of a particular reporting pet
could be materially adversely affected. The Compsetyled certain matters during the fourth quasfe2010 that did not individually or in t
aggregate have a material impact on the Compamgsdial condition and results of operations.

Branning et al. v. Apple Computer, It

Plaintiffs originally filed this purported classtam against the Company on February 17, 2005 ¢tralbef putative classes of consumers
resellers and is currently pending in the SantaeC&uperior Court. In general, the consumer pléénéillege that the Company “shortetfie
coverage provided under its warranties and AppleCGaotection Plan extended service contracts alitipdaintiffs used products that w
represented to be new. In general, the resell@ntjjfa allege that the Company damaged their bessies by opening the Apple retail stores
making misrepresentations in connection with daingThe complaint seeks unspecified damages aswd wlef. Currently no plaintiff class
are certified, although reseller plaintiffs’ motitmcertify a class of Apple specialist reselléssset for hearing on November 2, 2010.

In re Apple & ATTM Antitrust Litigatio

This is a purported class action filed against@oenpany and AT&T Mobility in the United States Dist Court for the Northern District
California. The Consolidated Complaint alleges tthet Company and AT&T Mobility violated the federatitrust laws by monopolizil
and/or attempting to monopolize the “aftermarket ¥oice and data serviceddr the iPhone and that the Company monopolizedoe
attempted to monopolize the “aftermarket for sofevapplications for iPhonesThe Consolidated Complaint also alleges that Apjdéatec
numerous laws by intentionally “brickingfgndering inoperable) iPhones through the rele&&ehone software update 1.1.1. On July 8, 2
the Court granted Apple’s motion for summary judgimen all of plaintiffs’claims related to the alleged bricking of iPhorieghe same Ju
8, 2010 order the Court granted in part plaintiffedtion for class certification, certifying a clasdated to plaintiffs’ antitrust claim3he cas
is currently stayed until a status conference withJudge is held on November 15, 2010.

Mediostream, Inc. v. Acer America Corp. et

Plaintiff filed this action against the Company,ehcAmerica Corp., Dell, Inc. and Gateway, Inc. ongAst 28, 2007, in the United St¢
District Court for the Eastern District of Texateging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,009,659airRiff seeks unspecified damages and ¢
relief. This case is currently pending.

Mirror Worlds, LLC. v. Apple Inc

Plaintiff filed this action against the Company March 14, 2008, in the United States District Cdartthe Eastern District of Texas, alleg
that certain of the Compars/products infringed U.S. Patent Nos. 6,006,2263&%313 and 6,725,427. On October 1, 2010, a jetyrmed
verdict finding the Company had infringed all
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three patents, and awarding damages of $208 mifhen patent. The jury also found the infringemeat theen willful. The court h
scheduled post verdict motions, and has set artgedeate of December 9, 2010. The Company is clgifignthe verdict, and will be filing
request for judgment as a matter of law, remittitund in the alternative, a request for a new.trial

Motorola Mobility, Inc. v. Apple, Inc

Motorola Mobility Inc. (“Motorola”) filed complaints against the Company in the Uniftdtes District Court for the Districts of Flori
lllinois, Delaware and in the International Traden@mission (“ITC”). These complaints include claims of patent infringatirelated to certa
of the Companys products. Motorola alleges that certain of itseated patents are essential to one or more 068, UMTS, 802.16e al
802.11 wireless communications standards, and adkdges its commitment to license these patentsfadn reasonable, and non-
discriminatory (“FRAND”) terms and conditions. Motorola seeks unspecifiedAIRB compensation, damages and other declaraton
injunctive relief in these pending district couctians as well as an exclusion order from the ITlese cases are currently pending.

Nokia Corporation v. Apple Inc.; Apple Inc. v. N@Kiorporation

Nokia Corporation “Nokia”) and the Company have asserted multiple claims sgaime another in lawsuits pending in the Unitedte
District Courts for the Districts of Delaware andsébnsin, in the ITC, in the United Kingdom High @bof Justice and the German Pa
Court in Dusseldorf. These cases include claimscanahterclaims by Nokia and the Company of patefninigement related to iPhones, iPc
iPads and Apple computers, and Nogiaiobile computing devices. Nokia alleges thataderf its asserted patents are essential to oneooe

of the GSM, UMTS and 802.11 wireless communicatistasmidards, and acknowledges its commitment todieghem on FRAND terms ¢
conditions. Nokia seeks unspecified FRAND compeaosatdamages and other declaratory and injuncgliefrin these pending District Co
actions as well as an exclusion order from the M@ Company also has asserted claims and couaitescfor declaratory judgments of non-
infringement and invalidity of Nokia’s assertedgmats as well as for breach of contract, promissstgppel and antitrust violations.

The Apple iPod iTunes Antitrust Litigation (forme@haroensak v. Apple Computer, Inc. and Tucképple Computer, Inc.); Somers v. Ag
Inc.

The firstdisted action is a consolidated case filed in thét&dl States District Court for the Northern Distof California combining two cas

previously pending under the nam@karoensak v. Apple Computer Inc. (formerly Slgtter Apple Computer Ing filed on January 3, 2006
andTucker v. Apple Computer, Indfiled on July 21, 2006). The second listed ati®a related complainomers v. Apple, Inayhich wa:

filed on December 31, 2007, also in the Unitedet@istrict Court for the Northern District of (falinia. These cases have been filed on b

of a purported class of direct and indirect purehs®f iPods and iTunes Store content, alleginguarclaims including alleged unlawful tyi

of music and video purchased on the iTunes Stotle thie purchase of iPods and unlawful acquisitionmaintenance of monopoly mar

power and unlawful acquisition or maintenance ohomoly market power under §81 and 2 of the SherAwinthe Cartwright Act, Californ

Business & Professions Code 817200 (unfair conipsjitthe California Consumer Legal Remedies Ad &alifornia monopolization la

The cases are currently pending.

Vogel et al. v. Jobs et al.

On August 24, 2006, plaintiffs filed a purportedastholder class action in the United States Disttiourt for the Northern District
California against the Company and certain cureertt former officers and directors, alleging impnopeackdating of stock option grants
maximize certain defendantprofits, failing to properly account for those gtmrand issuing false financial statements. On 2The200¢€
plaintiffs filed another, similar purported shar&dey class action in the United States District @éor the Northern District of California. T
parties have reached a settlement and have obtaieohinary court approval.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

The Company’s common stock is traded on the ovectlunter market and is quoted on the NASDAQ Gloleé& Market under the symi
AAPL.

Price Range of Common Stock

The price range per share of common stock presdmiedv represents the highest and lowest salesgfar the Compang’common stock ¢
the NASDAQ Global Select Market during each quanfethe two most recent years.

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
Fiscal 2010 price range per common st $ 293.53- $235.5¢ $279.01- $199.2! $231.95- $190.2! $209.35- $180.7(
Fiscal 2009 price range per common st $188.90- $134.4. $ 146.40- $102.6: $109.98-$ 78.2( $119.68-$ 79.1¢

Holders
As of October 15, 2010, there were 29,405 sharehsldf record.

Dividends

The Company did not declare or pay cash dividendsther 2010 or 2009. The Company anticipatesftrahe foreseeable future it will ret;
any earnings for use in the operation of its bussne

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
None.
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Company Stock Performance

The following graph shows a fiwsear comparison of cumulative total shareholdenrretcalculated on a dividend reinvested basis tHe
Company, the S&P 500 Composite Index, the S&P Cdergdardware Index, and the Dow Jones U.S. Teclgyolodex. The Company h
added the Dow Jones U.S. Technology Index to thphgto capture the stock performance of companhesse products and services n
closely relate to those of the Company. The Doweddn.S. Technology Index incorporates softwarea@mdputer services companies, as
as technology hardware and equipment companiesgiidph assumes $100 was invested in each of thep&uris common stock, the S¢
500 Composite Index, the S&P Computer Hardwarexndad the Dow Jones U.S. Technology Index on Septe 30, 2005. Data points
the graph are annual. Note that historic stockeppierformance is not necessarily indicative of faitstock price performance.

COMFARISEON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Ameong Apple Ino,, Tha BAP SO0 Indax,
tho SEF Computor Hardware Index and the Dow Jones US Technology indox

BapDs Sap-06 Sap-7 Bap-08 Sap.00 Sepl0
— oo Inc — e GREP GO0 = = = GLP ::-J‘Tlr.l.l-; Harsara sevsrraensi [0V Joies WS -El.ll'l:'.l:'.l]'.l ]
*$100 invested on 9/30/05 in stock or index, indhgdreinvestment of dividends.
Copyright ©2010 S&P, a division of The McGraw -HillCompanies Inc. All rights reserved.
Copyright ©2010 Dow Jones & Co. All rights reserved.
September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C September 3C
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Apple Inc. $ 10( $ 144 $ 28¢ $ 212 $ 34¢ $ 52¢
S&P 500 $ 10C $ 111 $ 12¢ $ 101 $ 94 $ 103
S&P Computer Hardwai $ 10C $ 107 $ 15€ $ 132 $ 157 $ 18¢
Dow Jones US

Technology $ 10C $ 10€ $ 131 $ 10C $ 111 $ 124

25



Table of Contents

Item 6. Selected Financial Date

The information set forth below for the five yeaisded September 25, 2010, is not necessarily itikicaf results of future operations,
should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Managei’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditend Results of Operationahd th
consolidated financial statements and related nbe®to included in Item 8 of this Form KOto fully understand factors that may affect
comparability of the information presented belowiillions, except share amounts which are refgtatehousands and per share amounts).

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Net sales $ 65,22t $ 42,90¢ $ 37,49: $ 24,57¢ $ 19,31t
Net income $ 14,01 $ 8,23t $ 6,11¢ $ 3,49t $ 1,98¢
Earnings per common sha

Basic $ 15.41 $ 9.2 $ 6.9¢ $ 4.04 $ 2.3¢

Diluted $ 15.1F $ 9.0¢ $ 6.7¢ $ 3.9¢ $ 227
Cash dividends declared per common s $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Shares used in computing earnings per st

Basic 909,46 893,01¢ 881,59. 864,59! 844,05¢

Diluted 924,71. 907,00! 902,13¢ 889,29: 877,52¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sies $ 51,01 $ 33,99: $ 24,49( $ 15,38¢ $ 10,11«
Total asset $ 75,18 $ 47,50: $ 36,17: $ 24,87¢ $ 17,20¢
Total lon¢-term obligations (a $ 5,531 $ 3,50 $ 1,74¢ $ 687 $ 39
Total liabilities $ 27,39: $ 15,86 $ 13,87« $ 10,347 $ 7,221
Total shareholde’ equity $ 47,79 $ 31,64( $ 22,297 $ 14,53 $ 9,98/

(@) The Company did not have any long-term debinduthe five years ended September 25, 2010. Leng-bbligations excludes non-
current deferred revenu
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

This section and other parts of this Form 10-K eimtforward-looking statements that involve risksdauncertainties. Forwardboking
statements can also be identified by words suclaascipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “plans,” “predicts,” and similar terms. Forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of futurégoerance and the Compamyactual results may differ significantly from tiesults discusse

in the forwardlooking statements. Factors that might cause suffardnces include, but are not limited to, thosgcdssed in the subsect
entitled “Risk Factors”above, which are incorporated herein by refereridee following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith the
consolidated financial statements and notes themettuded in Item 8 of this Form 1K- All information presented herein is based on
Company’s fiscal calendar. Unless otherwise statefisrences in this report to particular years aragters refer to the Comparg/fiscal year
ended in September and the associated quartersosetfiscal years. The Company assumes no oblig&tioevise or update any forward-
looking statements for any reason, except as requiy law.

Executive Overview

The Company designs, manufactures, and marketme k& personal computers, mobile communicationraadia devices, and portable dic
music players, and sells a variety of related safyservices, peripherals, networking solutions, thirdparty digital content and applicatio
The Companys products and services include Mac computers,ni@hi®ad, iPod, Apple TV, Xserve, a portfolio ohsamer and professiol
software applications, the Mac OS X and iOS opegasiystems, thirgbarty digital content and applications through ihenes Store, and
variety of accessory, service and support offerifide Company sells its products worldwide throitghretail stores, online stores, and di
sales force, and third-party cellular network @sj wholesalers, retailers, and vahdgled resellers. In addition, the Company sellareety o
third-party Mac, iPhone, iPad and iPod compatible praguctiuding application software, printers, steratgvices, speakers, headphones
various other accessories and peripherals thrasginline and retail stores. The Company sellsM® Seducation, enterprise, government,
creative markets.

The Company is committed to bringing the best es@erience to its customers through its innovataelware, software, peripherals, servi
and Internet offerings. The Compasyjusiness strategy leverages its unique abilieign and develop its own operating systems weae
application software, and services to provide itstemers new products and solutions with superiseefuse, seamless integration,
innovative industrial design. The Company beliegestinual investment in research and developmentritgcal to the development a
enhancement of innovative products and technolodire€onjunction with its strategy, the Company tiames to build and host a rob
platform for the discovery and delivery of thiparty digital content and applications through ifenes Store. Within the iTunes Store,
Company has expanded its offerings through the Bigoe and iBookstore, which allow customers to ls®wsearch for, and purchase third-
party applications and books through either a Ma@/mdowsbased computer or by wirelessly downloading diyetttlan iPhone, iPad or iP
touch. The Company also works to support a commdaitthe development of thirgarty software and hardware products and digitatert
that complement the Company’s offerings. Additibnahe Companys strategy includes expanding its distribution reetnto effectively reac
more customers and provide them with a high-quakiles and postales support experience. The Company is therefurgiely positioned 1
offer superior and well-integrated digital lifesydnd productivity solutions.

The Company participates in several highly comjpetitnarkets, including personal computers withMisc computers; mobile communicati
and media devices with its iPhone, iPad and iPoduyst families; and distribution of thindarty digital content and applications with itsioge
iTunes Store. While the Company is widely recogdizs a leading innovator in the markets where ihmetes, these markets are hig
competitive and subject to aggressive pricing. €main competitive, the Company believes that irsrdainvestment in research
development and marketing and advertising is necgds maintain or expand its position in the méskehere it competes. The Company’
research and development spending is focused dhefudeveloping its existing Mac line of personamputers; the Mac OS X and i
operating systems; application software for
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the Mac; iPhone, iPad and iPod and related softweeelopment of new digital lifestyle consumer gmdfessional software applications;
investing in new product areas and technologieg Thmpany also believes increased investment irfketing and advertising programs
critical to increasing product and brand awareness.

The Company utilizes a variety of direct and indirdistribution channels, including its retail ey online stores, and direct sales force
third-party cellular network carriers, wholesalemstailers, and valuadded resellers. The Company believes that salés afnovative an
differentiated products are enhanced by knowledgeahlespersons who can convey the value of théwzae, software, and periphe
integration, demonstrate the unique digital liféstgolutions that are available on its productsl demonstrate the compatibility of the N
with the Windows platform and networks. The Compémher believes providing direct contact withtissgeted customers is an effective
to demonstrate the advantages of its products these of its competitors and providing a high-qyatales and aftesales support experier
is critical to attracting new and retaining exigtioustomers. To ensure a highality buying experience for its products in whigrvice an
education are emphasized, the Company continuespand and improve its distribution capabilitiesdxpanding the number of its own re
stores worldwide. Additionally, the Company haseisted in programs to enhance reseller sales bynglddgh quality Apple fixture:
merchandising materials and other resources withliected thirparty reseller locations. Through the Apple PremReseller Program, cert:
third-party resellers focus on the Apple platforynduoviding a high level of integration and suppsetvices, and product expertise.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and reldiedosures in conformity with U.S. generally gutesl accounting principles (“GAAP3nc
the Company’s discussion and analysis of its firdreondition and operating results require the @any’'s management to make judgme
assumptions and estimates that affect the amoaptsted in its consolidated financial statements arcompanying notes. Note Hdmmar
of Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Gmlidated Financial Statements in this FormKL@escribes the significant account
policies and methods used in the preparation ofCtm@panys consolidated financial statements. Managemerashiés estimates on histori
experience and on various other assumptions ieWedito be reasonable under the circumstancesgshkts of which form the basis for mak
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahiiies. Actual results may differ from thesdiegmtes and such differences may be mat

Management believes the Companycritical accounting policies and estimates amse¢hrelated to revenue recognition, valuation
impairment of marketable securities, inventory adilbn and inventory purchase commitments, warraasfs, income taxes, and legal and ¢
contingencies. Management considers these polmi¢isal because they are both important to thetrpgal of the Companyg’ financia
condition and operating results, and they requienagement to make judgments and estimates aboetemtty uncertain matters. T
Companys senior management has reviewed these criticabatiog policies and related disclosures with thelifand Finance Committee
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognitic

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from thes sdlhardware, software, digital content and ajgpiins, peripherals, and service and suj
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengsve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicioinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Compangtoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custoriretee U.S., and for certain other sales, the Comptefers recognition of revenue until
customer receives the product because the Compaaing a portion of the risk of loss on these sdlgtg transit. The Company recogni
revenue from the sale of hardware products (e.gcdMiPhones, iPads, iPods and peripherals), seftiwandled with hardware that is
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essential to the functionality of the hardware, adnidd-party digital content sold on the iTunes Store accadance with general revel
recognition accounting guidance. The Company reizegrrevenue in accordance with industry speciiftwsare accounting guidance for
following types of sales transactions: (i) standelsales of software products, (ii) sales of safewapgrades and (iii) sales of software bun
with hardware not essential to the functionalitytte# hardware.

For multi-element arrangements that include tamgiptoducts containing software essential to theyibd® products functionality an
undelivered software elements relating to the talegbroducts essential software, the Company allocates revena# deliverables based
their relative selling prices. In such circumstasndbe Company uses a hierarchy to determine thiegsprice to be used for allocating reve
to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective emide of fair value (“VSOE”"), (ii) third-party evidee of selling price (“TPE”and (iii) bes
estimate of the selling price (“ESPYSOE generally exists only when the Company séksdeliverable separately and is the price act
charged by the Company for that deliverable. E®fsat the Compang’ best estimates of what the selling prices of efgmwould be if the
were sold regularly on a stand-alone basis.

For all past and current sales of iPhone, iPad,l@&p)y and for sales of iPod touch beginning in J@e&0, the Company indicated it mi
from time-totime provide future unspecified software upgraded #eatures free of charge to customers. The Compas identified tw
deliverables in arrangements involving the saléhese devices. The first deliverable is the hardveard software essential to the function
of the hardware device delivered at the time of.s@he second deliverable is the embedded righided with the purchase of iPhone, iF
iPod touch and Apple TV to receive on a when-analiilable basis, future unspecified software uggsaand features relating to the product’
essential software. The Company has allocated vevéetween these two deliverables using the relagelling price method. Because
Company has neither VSOE nor TPE for the two dedibkes, the allocation of revenue has been basedtieiCompanys ESPs. Amoun
allocated to the delivered hardware and the relesséntial software are recognized at the timalef grovided the other conditions for reve
recognition have been met. Amounts allocated tethbedded unspecified software upgrade right aierréel and recognized on a straigihe
basis over the 2Month estimated life of each of these devices pAdiduct cost of sales, including estimated warraoists, are recognizec
the time of sale. Costs for engineering and sabesmaarketing are expensed as incurred. If the astidhlife of the hardware product shc
change, the future rate of amortization of the nereeallocated to the software upgrade right wibathange.

The Company’s process for determining its ESP faivdrables without VSOE or TPE involves managersejudgment. The Company’
process considers multiple factors that may vapedding upon the unique facts and circumstanceasexeto each deliverable. The Comg
believes its customers, particularly consumers,lavbe reluctant to buy unspecified software upgnaglets related to iPhone, iPad, iPod tc
and Apple TV. This view is primarily based on tlaetf that unspecified upgrade rights do not obligateCompany to provide upgrades
particular time or at all, and do not specify tattumers which upgrades or features will be delidefderefore, the Company has conclud
it were to sell upgrade rights on a standalonesbastluding those rights associated with iPhoReadi iPod touch and Apple TV, the sel
price would be relatively low. Key factors consieéby the Company in developing the ESPs for thegeade rights include prices charge:
the Company for similar offerings, the Company’stbiical pricing practices, the nature of the uggréaghts (e.g., unspecified and when-and-
if-available), and the relative ESP of the upgradetsigs compared to the total selling price of ttalpct. The Company may also consi
when appropriate, the impact of other products serdices, including advertising services, on sgllimice assumptions when developing
reviewing its ESPs for software upgrade rights agldted deliverables. The Company may also consadeitional factors as appropric
including the pricing of competitive alternativédhiey exist, and produdpecific business objectives. If the facts andutitstances underlyil
the factors considered change or should futures faictl circumstances lead the Company to considifiahl factors, the Comparg/ESP fo
software upgrades related to future sales for tHes&es could change.
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Beginning in the third quarter of 2010 in conjunatiwith the announcement of iOS 4, the CompsuisSPs for the embedded software upc
rights included with iPhone, iPad and iPod toudtect the positive financial impact expected by @ampany as a result of its introduction
mobile advertising platform for these devices ahe éxpectation of customers regarding software itidtides or supports an advertis
component. iOS 4 supports iAd, the Companyéw mobile advertising platform, which enablegligptions on iPhone, iPad and iPod touc
feature media-rich advertisements within appligaio

The Company records reductions to revenue for estidhcommitments related to price protection andcicstomer incentive prograr
including reseller and end-user rebates, and athless programs and volumbesed incentives. For transactions involving ppoatection, th
Company recognizes revenue net of the estimatedirsimio be refunded, provided the refund amountlEmneasonably and reliably estime
and the other conditions for revenue recognitiomehlaeen met. The Compasypolicy requires that, if refunds cannot be rdjiagstimatec
revenue is not recognized until reliable estimatesbe made or the price protection lapses. Fdowes incentive programs, the estimated
of these programs is recognized at the later ofitite at which the Company has sold the produthedate at which the program is offe
The Company also records reductions to revenuexpected future product returns based on the Coyipdristorical experience. Futi
market conditions and product transitions may negtine Company to increase customer incentive progrand incur incremental pr
protection obligations that could result in additibreductions to revenue at the time such prog@mm®offered. Additionally, certain custor
incentive programs require management to estinm@entimber of customers who will actually redeemitioentive. Managemerst’estimate
are based on historical experience and the speeifics and conditions of particular incentive peogs. If a greater than estimated propo
of customers redeem such incentives, the Compamnydwae required to record additional reductionseteenue, which would have a nega
impact on the Company’s results of operations.

Valuation and Impairment of Marketable Securities

The Company'’s investments in available-fale securities are reported at fair value. Unzedligains and losses related to changes in tt
value of investments are included in accumulatdaerotcomprehensive income, net of tax, as reponedhé Companyg Condense
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fhiea investments impact the Compasyiet income only when such investments are
or an other-thaemporary impairment is recognized. Realized gaislosses on the sale of securities are deternbipsgpecific identificatio
of each security’s cost basis. The Company regulaiiews its investment portfolio to determineaify investment is other-thaamporarily
impaired due to changes in credit risk or otheeptal valuation concerns, which would require @@mmpany to record an impairment charg
the period any such determination is made. In ntpkiiis judgment, the Company evaluates, among dttiegs, the duration and exten
which the fair value of an investment is less thamost, the financial condition of the issuer @mg changes thereto, and the Compauiiryten
to sell, or whether it is more likely than not itlvbe required to sell, the investment before rery of the investmerd’ amortized cost bas
The Company’s assessment on whether an investraeathéer-thartemporarily impaired or not, could change in théufa due to ne
developments or changes in assumptions relatedytpaticular investment.

Inventory Valuation and Inventory Purchase Committs

The Company must order components for its prodaictsbuild inventory in advance of product shipmemtee Company records a wridewr
for inventories of components and products, inclgdihirdparty products held for resale, which have becolsolete or are in excess
anticipated demand or net realizable value. The @2my performs a detailed review of inventory edshall quarter that considers multi
factors including demand forecasts, product lifeleystatus, product development plans, currensdaleels, and component cost trends.
industries in which the Company competes are stibjea rapid and unpredictable pace of product @rponent obsolescence and den
changes. If future demand or market conditionsttier Companys products are less favorable than forecasted wnfdreseen technologi
changes negatively impact the utility of componewentory, the Company may be required to recorditemhal write-downs, which woul
negatively affect its results of operations in fiegiod when the write-downs were recorded.
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The Company records accruals for estimated catioslldees related to component orders that have laacelled or are expected tc
cancelled. Consistent with industry practice, ttmmPany acquires components through a combinatigguofhase orders, supplier contre
and open orders based on projected demand inf@mathese commitments typically cover the Compamgguirements for periods rang
from 30 to 150 days. If there is an abrupt and sultgl decline in demand for one or more of thenPany's products or an unanticipa
change in technological requirements for any of @wmpanys products, the Company may be required to recdditianal accruals ft
cancellation fees that would negatively affectré@sults of operations in the period when the cdatieh fees are identified and recorded.

Warranty Costs

The Company provides for the estimated cost of vaard and software warranties at the time the reélagwenue is recognized basec
historical and projected warranty claim rates,drisal and projected cost-pelaim, and knowledge of specific product failurbattare outsic
of the Companys typical experience. Each quarter, the Companyafeates its estimates to assess the adequacg ofédorded warran
liabilities considering the size of the installedsk of products subject to warranty protection atidists the amounts as necessary. If @
product failure rates or repair costs differ frostimates, revisions to the estimated warranty litgbivould be required and could materi:
affect the Company’s results of operations.

The Company periodically provides updates to itpliaptions and operating system software to mainthe softwares compliance wit
specifications. The estimated cost to develop symates is accounted for as warranty cost thagdsgnized at the time related softw
revenue is recognized. Factors considered in d@tergnappropriate accruals related to such updatdade the number of units delivered,
number of updates expected to occur, and the hiataost and estimated future cost of the res@aunegessary to develop these updates.

Income Taxe

The Company records a tax provision for the argitgifd tax consequences of the reported resultsesfibpns. In accordance with GAAP,
provision for income taxes is computed using trsehand liability method, under which deferred @aasets and liabilities are recognized fol
expected future tax consequences of temporaryrdiftes between the financial reporting and tax daseassets and liabilities, and
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Defetax assets and liabilities are measured usi@gurrently enacted tax rates that app
taxable income in effect for the years in whichsthdax assets are expected to be realized ordsefite Company records a valua
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the aintioat is believed more likely than not to be izsd.

The Company only recognizes the tax benefit fronuarertain tax position if it is more likely thantrthat the tax position will be sustainec
examination by the taxing authorities, based ortélshnical merits of the position. The tax benefsognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thestdrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihofdoleing realized upon ultimate settlement.

Management believes it is more likely than not foatcasted income, including income that may beegated as a result of certain tax plan
strategies, together with future reversals of éxgstaxable temporary differences, will be suffiti¢o fully recover the deferred tax asset:
the event that the Company determines all or plath® net deferred tax assets are not realizabkhenfuture, the Company will make
adjustment to the valuation allowance that wouldtharged to earnings in the period such deterntinas made. In addition, the calculatior
tax liabilities involves significant judgment in tesating the impact of uncertainties in the applima of GAAP and complex tax lav
Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner isisbent with management’s expectations could haweaterial impact on the Compasy’
financial condition and operating results.

31



Table of Contents

Legal and Other Contingenci

As discussed in Part |, Item 3 of this Form 10-Klenthe heading “Legal Proceedings” and in NoteC8rimitments and Contingencieisi
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, thefgamy is subject to various legal proceedings aaind that arise in the ordinary cours
business. In accordance with GAAP, the Companyrdsca liability when it is probable that a loss He®n incurred and the amoun
reasonably estimable. There is significant judgmmewfuired in both the probability determination aas&l to whether an exposure car
reasonably estimated. In managemgmipinion, the Company does not have a potengiliy related to any current legal proceedingd
claims that would individually or in the aggregataterially adversely affect its financial conditionoperating results. However, the outco
of legal proceedings and claims brought againsOtsapany are subject to significant uncertaintyou8th the Company fail to prevail in any
these legal matters or should several of thesé tegtiers be resolved against the Company in thresaporting period, the operating result
a particular reporting period could be materialliyersely affected.

32



Table of Contents

Net Sales
Fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008 each spanned é&wén additional week is included in the firstcfl quarter approximately every six y¢
to realign fiscal quarters with calendar quarters.

The following table summarizes net sales and Matcsates by operating segment and net sales andales by product during the three yi
ended September 25, 2010 (in millions, exceptsalis in thousands and per unit amounts):

2010 Change 2009 Change 2008
Net Sales by Operating Segmen
Americas net sale $24,49¢ 29%  $18,98: 15%  $16,55:
Europe net sale 18,69: 58% 11,81( 28% 9,23t
Japan net sale 3,981 75% 2,27¢ 32% 1,72¢
Asia-Pacific net sale 8,25¢ 160% 3,17¢ 18% 2,68¢
Retail net sale 9,79¢ 47% 6,65¢€ (9% 7,29
Total net sale $65,22¢ 52%  $42,90¢ 14%  $37,49!
Mac Unit Sales by Operating Segment
Americas Mac unit sale 4,97¢ 21% 4,12( 4% 3,98(
Europe Mac unit sale 3,85¢ 36% 2,84( 13% 2,51¢
Japan Mac unit sale 481 22% 39t 2% 38¢
Asia-Pacific Mac unit sale 1,50C 62% 92¢ 17% 793
Retail Mac unit sale 2,84¢ 35% 2,11t 4% 2,034
Total Mac unit sale 13,66 31% 10,39¢ 7% 9,71¢
Net Sales by Product
Desktops (a $ 6,201 3% $4,32¢  (23)% $ 5,62
Portables (b 11,27¢ 18% 9,63¢ 9% 8,73-
Total Mac net sale 17,47¢ 26% 13,85¢ )% 14,35«
iPod 8,27¢ 2% 8,091 (12)% 9,15:
Other music related products and service: 4,94¢ 23% 4,03¢ 21% 3,34(
iPhone and related products and service: 25,17¢ 93% 13,03 93% 6,742
iPad and related products and service! 4,95¢ NM 0 NM 0
Peripherals and other hardware 1,81¢ 23% 1,478 (13)% 1,69¢
Software, service and other sales 2,57¢ 7% 2,411 9% 2,20¢
Total net sale $65,22¢ 52%  $42,90¢ 14%  $37,49!
Unit Sales by Product:
Desktops (a 4,627 45% 3,182 (14)% 3,71%
Portables (b 9,03t 25% 7,214 20% 6,00:
Total Mac unit sale 13,66 31% 10,39¢ 7% 9,71%
Net sales per Mac unit sold ( $ 1,27¢ @% $ 133 (1O)% $ 147¢
iPod unit sale: 50,31: (7% 54,13: D)% 54,82¢
Net sales per iPod unit sold { $ 164 100 $ 14¢ (A% $ 167
iPhone units sol 39,98¢ 93% 20,73! 78% 11,62
iPad units solc 7,45¢ NM 0 NM 0

(@) Includes iMac, Mac mini, Mac Pro and Xserve prodinds.
(b) Includes MacBook, MacBook Air and MacBook Pro prodines.
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(c)
(d)
()
(f)
(9)
(h)

Includes iTunes Store sales, iPod services, ande-branded and thi-party iPod accessorie

Includes revenue recognized from iPhone salesecagreements, services, and Aj-branded and thi-party iPhone accessori¢
Includes revenue recognized from iPad sales, ssndad Appl-branded and thi-party iPad accessorie

Includes sales of displays, wireless connectivity aetworking solutions, and other hardware access

Includes sales of Apg-branded operating system and application softwhigl-party software, Mac and Internet servic
Derived by dividing total produ-related net sales by total prod-related unit sale:

NM = Not Meaningful

Fiscal Year 2010 versus 2009
Net sales during 2010 increased $22.3 billion &n5dmpared to 2009. Several factors contributedtipely to these increases, including

following:

Net sales of iPhone and related products and ssrwiere $25.2 billion in 2010 representing an iaseeof $12.1 billion or 93
compared to 2009. Net sales of iPhone and relatedupts and services accounted for 39% of the Cagipdotal net sales for t
year. iPhone unit sales totaled 40 million in 20d@jch represents an increase of 19.3 million dvo9@mpared to 2009. iPhc
yearoveryear growth was attributable primarily to continugtbwth from existing carriers, expanded distribatiwith nev
international carriers and resellers, and strongadel for iPhone 4, which was released in the LhSune 2010 and in many ot
countries over the remainder of 2010. As of Septdb, 2010, the Company distributed iPhone in 89ntries through 1¢
carriers.

Net sales of iPad and related products and serwees $5.0 billion and unit sales of iPad wereriilion during 2010. iPad wi
released in the U.S. in April 2010 and in variodkeo countries over the remainder of 2010. As opt&mber 25, 2010, t
Company distributed iPad in 26 countries. The Campdistributes iPad through its direct channelstade cellular networ
carriers’ distribution channels and certain thpalty resellers. Net sales of iPad and relatedymtsdand services accounted for
of the Compan’s total net sales for 2010, reflecting the stroemand for iPad during the five months followingrigdease

Mac net sales increased by $3.6 billion or 26%0da®compared to 2009, and Mac unit sales increbge®i3 million or 31% i
2010 compared to 2009. Net sales per Mac unit detiteased by 4% in 2010 compared to 2009 due plymarlower averag
selling prices of Mac portable systems. Net safehk@Company’s Macs accounted for 27% of the Camgjsatotal net sales in 20
compared to 32% in 2009. During 2010, net salesusitdsales of the ComparsyMac portable systems increased by 18% and
respectively, primarily attributable to strong demddor MacBook Pro, which was updated in April 20N&t sales and unit sales
the Companys Mac desktop systems increased by 43% and 45%€atdeely, as a result of higher sales of iMac,ahhivas update
in July 2010

Net sales of other music related products and eesvincreased $912 million or 23% during 2010 caegbao 2009. This increz
was due primarily to growth of the iTunes Store ebhgenerated total net sales of $4.1 billion fot@0The results of the iTur
Store reflect growth of the iTunes App Store, comid growth in the installed base of iPhone, iRaut] iPod customers, and
expansion of thirgparty audio and video content available for salé @mt via the iTunes Store. The Company continaescpan
its iTunes content and applications offerings atbtire world. Net sales of other music related petgland services accounted
8% of the Compar’s total net sales for 201

Net sales of iPods increased $183 million or 2%ndu2010, while iPod unit sales declined by 7% dgr2010 compared to 20!
Net sales per iPod unit sold increased by 10% &4$t 2010 compared to 2009, due to a shift in pebanix toward iPod touc
iPod touch had strong growth in each of the Comjmarmportable operating segments. Net sales of iRoccisunted for 13% of t
Compan’s total net sales for the year compared to 199009z
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Fiscal Year 2009 versus 2008
Net sales during 2009 increased $5.4 billion or leB¥hpared to 2008. Several factors contributedtipe$i to these increases, including

following:

iPhone revenue and net sales of related produdtsenvices amounted to $13.0 billion in 2009, amréase of $6.3 billion or 93
compared to 2008. The year-over-year iPhone revgrugth is largely attributable to the year-oyear increase in iPhone hanc
unit sales. iPhone handset unit sales totaled0lion during 2009, which represents an increas@.d million or 78% during 20(
compared to 2008. This growth is attributed prityaio expanded distribution and strong overall dechéor iPhones. iPhone 3¢
was released in the U.S. on June 19, 2009 and iy mtaer countries over the remainder of 2(

Net sales of other mus«related products and services increased $696 mii21% during 2009 compared to 2008. The inci
was due predominantly to increased net sales af-flairty digital content and applications from theri€a Store, which experienc
double-digit growth in each of the Compasyjeographic segments during 2009 compared to ahee period in 2008. T
Company believes this is attributable primarilyctmtinued interest in and growth of the iTunes Atpre, continued growth in t
Company’s base of iPhone, iPad, and iPod custorardsthe expansion of thifghrty audio and video content available for sald
rent via the iTunes Sto

Partially offsetting the favorable factors discussbove, net sales during 2009 were negatively dteglaby certain factors, including -

following:

Net sales of iPods decreased $1.1 billion or 12%ndu2009 compared to 2008. iPod unit sales deetkly 1% during 20(
compared to 2008. Net sales per iPod unit soldedesed 11% to $149 in 2009 compared to 2008, reguitom lower averag
selling prices across all of the iPod product lingse primarily to price reductions taken with tinéroduction of new iPods
September 2009 and September 2008 and a stron§eddllar, offset partially by a higher mix of iPtmlich sales

Mac net sales declined 3% during 2009 compare®®8 2while Mac unit sales increased by 7% overstrae period. Net sales
Mac unit sold decreased by 10% during 2009 comp#&wed008, due primarily to lower average sellingcgs across all M:
portable and desktop systems and a stronger Ullar.ddet sales of Macs accounted for 32% of thenfany’s total net sales f
2009. During 2009, Mac portable systems net saldsuait sales increased by 9% and 20%, respecticelypared to 2008. T}
growth was driven by strong demand for MacBook Rroich was updated in June 2009 and October 20@Bwédnich experience
double-digit net sales and unit growth in eachhef Companys reportable operating segments compared to the panod in 200:i
The Company also had a higher mix of Mac portagktesns sales, which is consistent with overall qeas computer mark
trends. Net sales and unit sales of the CompaMac desktop systems decreased by 23% and l4§ectaely, during 20C
compared to 2008. The decrease in net sales ofddsitop systems was due mainly to a shift in prociig towards lowepricec
desktops, lower average selling prices across atl Hesktop systems and a stronger U.S. di

Segment Operating Performance

The Company manages its business primarily on grgebic basis. The Compasyfeportable operating and reporting segments soakthe
Americas, Europe, Japan, Asia-Pacific and Retaraions. The Americas, Europe, Japan and Raigfic reportable segment results do
include the results of the Retail segment. The Arasrsegment includes both North and South Amefitee Europe segment inclu
European countries as well as the Middle East afnitad The AsiaPacific segment includes Australia and Asia, bugsdoot include Jap:
The Retail segment operates Apple retail stordslinountries, including the U.S. Each reportablerafing segment provides similar hardv
and software products and similar services. Fuitifermation regarding the Company’s operating segis may be found in Note %5égmer
Information and Geographic Data” in Notes to Coitlded Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.
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Americas

During 2010, net sales in the Americas segmeneased $5.5 billion or 29% compared to 2009. Thiseiase in net sales was driver
increased iPhone revenue, strong demand for iRadinced demand for Mac desktop and portable systemd higher sales of thighrty
digital content and applications from the iTunesr&t Americas Mac net sales and unit sales incded8% and 21%, respectively, during 2
compared to 2009, largely due to strong demandifteeBook Pro. The Americas segment represented 3i#44% of the Compang’total ne
sales in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

During 2009, net sales in the Americas segmeneaszd $2.4 billion or 15% compared to 2008. Theeese in net sales during 2009
attributable to the significant year-over-year gase in iPhone revenue, higher sales of thandy digital content and applications from
iTunes Store, and increased sales of Mac portaisterms, partially offset by a decrease in salelflad¢ desktop systems and iPods. Amel
Mac net sales decreased 6% due primarily to lowerage selling prices, while Mac unit sales inceglalsy 4% on a year-ovegear basis. Tt
increase in Mac unit sales was due primarily torgirdemand for the MacBook Pro. The Americas sefjmegmesented approximately 44%
the Company'’s total net sales in both 2009 and 2008

Europe

During 2010, net sales in Europe increased $6l®mibr 58% compared to 2009. The growth in neesakas due mainly to a signific
increase in iPhone revenue attributable to contingrwth from existing carriers and country andriearexpansion, increased sales of |
desktop and portable systems and strong demandPéal, partially offset by a stronger U.S. dollaurépe Mac net sales and unit s
increased 32% and 36%, respectively, during the gea to strong demand for MacBook Pro and iMa® Elhrope segment represented
and 28% of the Company’s total net sales in 20102009, respectively.

During 2009, net sales in Europe increased $2l@mibr 28% compared to 2008. The increase in aletsswas due mainly to increased iPt
revenue and strong sales of Mac portable systefisgt partially by lower net sales of Mac desktgptems, iPods, and a stronger U.S. d¢
Mac unit sales increased 13% in 2009 compared 88,2@hich was driven primarily by increased sale$lac portable systems, particule
MacBook Pro, while total Mac net sales declinechagsult of lower average selling prices acrosdviat products. iPod net sales decre
yea-overyear as a result of lower average selling pricestiglly offset by increased unit sales of the leighriced iPod touch. The Eurc
segment represented 28% and 25% of total net saR809 and 2008, respectively.

Japan

During 2010, Japan’s net sales increased $1.0hithr 75% compared to 2009. The primary contritsitorthis growth were significant year-
overyear increases in iPhone revenue, strong demarié?dadr, and to a lesser extent strength in the &sga¥en. Mac net sales increase
8% driven by a 22% increase in unit sales due piiynto strong demand for MacBook Pro and iMac,tiadly offset by lower average selli
prices in Japan on a year-over-year basis. ThenJapgment represented 6% and 5% of the Compaoyal net sales for 2010 and 2(
respectively.

Japans net sales increased $551 million or 32% in 20@®pared to 2008. The primary contributors to thiswgh were increased iPhc
revenue, stronger demand for certain Mac portajdéems and iPods, and strength in the Japanesepéeiglly offset by decreased sale:
Mac desktop systems. Net sales and unit sales ofpdeable systems increased during 2009 compar@dQ@8, driven primarily by strong
demand for MacBook Pro. Net sales and unit saléBads increased during 2009 compared to 2008edrby strong demand for iPod to!
and iPod nano. The Japan segment represented apptely 5% of the Company’s total net sales in #2069 and 2008.
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Asiz-Pacific

Net sales in As-Pacific increased $5.1 billion or 160% during 2@bdnpared to 2009. The significant growth in AB&eific net sales was ¢
mainly to increased iPhone revenue, which was piiynattributable to country and carrier expansimmd continued growth from existi
carriers. AsiaPacific net sales were also favorably affectedtbgngy demand for Mac portable and desktop systerdsfar iPad. Particular
strong year-over-year growth was experienced inng&hKorea and Australia. The Adracific segment represented 13% and 7% @
Company'’s total net sales for 2010 and 2009, resdye.

Net sales in Asi-Pacific increased $493 million or 18% during 20@8npared to 2008 reflecting strong growth in saleg”bone and Me
portable systems, offset partially by a declinsates of iPods and Mac desktop systems, as wals&gngthening of the U.S. dollar agains
Australian dollar and other Asian currencies. Mat sales and unit sales grew in the AB&ific region by 4% and 17%, respectively, di
increased sales of the MacBook Pro. The Asia-Rasdgment represented approximately 7% of the Coypaotal net sales in both 2009 .
2008.

Retail

Retail net sales increased $3.1 billion or 47%rmtu2010 compared to 2009. The increase in net sadedriven primarily by strong deme
for iPad, increased sales of Mac desktop and persystems and a significant year-oyear increase in iPhone revenue. Mac net sale
unit sales grew in the Retail segment by 25% artd,38spectively, during 2010. The Company openeded retail stores during the year,
of which were international stores, ending the ywiih 317 stores open compared to 273 stores aénieof 2009. With an average of .
stores and 254 stores opened during 2010 and 2888ectively, average revenue per store increas&34.1 million in 2010, compared
$26.2 million in 2009. The Retail segment represerit5% and 16% of the Company’s total net sal@9ir® and 2009, respectively.

Retail net sales decreased $636 million or 9% duiB09 compared to 2008. The decline in net sakesdviven largely by a decrease in
sales of iPhones, iPods and Mac desktop systerfsgt gfartially by strong demand for Mac portablsteyns. The year-overear decline i
Retail net sales was attributable to continueddtparty channel expansion, particularly in the UMBere most of the Comparsystores ai
located, and also reflects the challenging constspending environment in 2009. The Company openedeXé retail stores during 20!
including 14 international stores, ending the y&@éh 273 stores open. This compares to 247 stopes @s of September 27, 2008. Witt
average of 254 stores and 211 stores opened d200@ and 2008, respectively, average revenue per decreased to $26.2 million for 2!
from $34.6 million in 2008.

The Retail segment reported operating income of $lion during 2010 and $1.7 billion during ba?®09 and 2008. The increase in R
operating income during 2010 compared to 2009 wiabatable to higher overall net sales. Despite dlecline in Retail net sales during 2
compared to 2008, the Retail segmerndperating income was flat at $1.7 billion in 20@%mpared to 2008 due primarily to a higher ¢
margin percentage in 2009 consistent with that egpeed by the overall company.

Expansion of the Retail segment has required afidcautinue to require a substantial investmenfixed assets and related infrastruct
operating lease commitments, personnel, and otperating expenses. Capital asset purchases asgsbeidh the Retail segment since
inception totaled $2.2 billion through the end @12. As of September 25, 2010, the Retail segmadt dpproximately 26,500 fulime
equivalent employees and had outstanding lease @oments associated with retail space and relateiiitfas of $1.7 billion. The Compal
would incur substantial costs if it were to closeltiple retail stores and such costs could advegraiéct the Companyg’financial condition ar
operating results.
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Gross Margin
Gross margin for the three years ended Septemh@02B, are as follows (in millions, except gros&gin percentages):

2010 2009 2008

Net sales $65,22¢ $42,90¢ $37,49!
Cost of sale: 39,54 25,68 24,29
Gross margir $25,68¢ $17,22: $13,197
Gross margin percenta 39.4% 40.1% 35.2%

The gross margin percentage in 2010 was 39.4% cadpa 40.1% in 2009. This decline in gross maigiprimarily attributable to ne
products that have higher cost structures, inclydiad, partially offset by a more favorable sat@x of iPhone, which has a higher gr
margin than the Company average.

The gross margin percentage in 2009 was 40.1% cadpea 35.2% in 2008. The primary contributorstte increase in 2009 as compare
2008 were a favorable sales mix toward productk higher gross margins and lower commodity andrgtheduct costs, which were partic
offset by product price reductions.

The Company expects its gross margin percentagedrease in future periods compared to levels aetiduring 2010 and anticipates gi
margin levels of about 36% in the first quarte26fL1. This expected decline is largely due to &drignix of new and innovative products
have higher cost structures and deliver greaterevil customers, and expected and potential feturgoonent cost and other cost increases.

The foregoing statements regarding the Companypeeed gross margin percentage are foriao#ling and could differ from anticipat
levels because of several factors, including butlimsited to certain of those set forth below inrfPhR Item 1A, “Risk Factors’under th
subheading “Future operating results depend upon the Compargbility to obtain key components including butt tinited tc
microprocessors, NAND flash memory, DRAM and LCDfaweorable prices and in sufficient quantiti¢swhich is incorporated herein
reference. There can be no assurance that targeded margin percentage levels will be achievedydneral, gross margins and margin
individual products will remain under downward e due to a variety of factors, including congidundustry wide global product prici
pressures, increased competition, compressed frditRicycles, product transitions and expected potkntial increases in the cost of
components including but not limited to micropraams, NAND flash memory, DRAM and LCDs, as wellpagential increases in the cost:
outside manufacturing services and a potentiat shthe Companys sales mix towards products with lower gross nmestgn response to the
competitive pressures, the Company expects itagititinue to take product pricing actions, which \doadversely affect gross margins. Gi
margins could also be affected by the Compsrapility to manage product quality and warrantgtsceffectively and to stimulate demand
certain of its products. Due to the Company’s digant international operations, financial resu#n be significantly affected in the sheatsr
by fluctuations in exchange rates.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses for the three years ended Seeteéth, 2010, are as follows (in millions, exceptgercentages):

2010 2009 2008

Research and developm $ 1,78 $ 1,33¢ $ 1,10¢
Percentage of net sal 2.7% 3.1% 3.0%
Selling, general and administrati $ 5,517 $ 4,14¢ $ 3,761
Percentage of net sal 8.5% 9.7% 10.0%
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Research and Development Exper‘R&D")

R&D expense increased 34% or $449 million to $lilBob in 2010 compared to 2009. This increase wags primarily to an increase
headcount and related expenses in the currenttyearpport expanded R&D activities. Also contribgtito this increase in R&D expenst
2010 was the capitalization in 2009 of softwarealepment costs of $71 million related to Mac OS Xo® Leopard. Although total R&
expense increased 34% during 2010, it declined par@entage of net sales given the 52% year-pear-increase in net sales in 2010.
Company continues to believe that focused investsnenR&D are critical to its future growth and cpetitive position in the marketplace
are directly related to timely development of nawd &nhanced products that are central to the Coypaore business strategy. As such
Company expects to make further investments in R&Bemain competitive.

R&D expense increased 20% or $224 million to $1lilBob in 2009 compared to 2008. This increase wags primarily to an increase
headcount in 2009 to support expanded R&D actwitind higher stockased compensation expenses. Additionally, $7liamibf softwar
development costs were capitalized related to M&cXCGBnow Leopard and excluded from R&D expensendu2009, compared to $11 milli
of software development costs capitalized during®®Ithough total R&D expense increased 20% du#i@g9, it remained relatively flat a
percentage of net sales given the 14% increassvemue in 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense (“SG&A”

SG&A expense increased $1.4 billion or 33% to $&lkon in 2010 compared to 2009. This increase wae primarily to the Compary/’
continued expansion of its Retail segment, highmending on marketing and advertising programs,eimeed stockased compensati
expenses and variable costs associated with thralbgeowth of the Company’s net sales.

SG&A expenses increased $388 million or 10% to $¥lllon in 2009 compared to 2008. This increasesdae primarily to the Comparsy’
continued expansion of its Retail segment in baimestic and international markets, higher stoaked compensation expense and h
spending on marketing and advertising.

Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense for the three years e®dptdmber 25, 2010, are as follows (in millions):

2010 2009 2008

Interest incom $ 311 $ 407 $ 65:
Other income (expense), r (156 (81) (33
Total other income and exper $ 15 $ 32€ $62C

Total other income and expense decreased $17Dbmdli 52% to $155 million during 2010 compared 3@& million and $620 million in 20(
and 2008, respectively. The overall decrease irraticome and expense is attributable to the saamf declines in interest rates on a year-
over-year basis, partially offset by the Compankiigher cash, cash equivalents and marketableigesibalances. The weighted avel
interest rate earned by the Company on its casih, @quivalents and marketable securities was 0.7588% and 3.44% during 2010, 2009
2008, respectively. Additionally the Company inadrhigher premium expenses on its foreign excham®n contracts, which furth
reduced the total other income and expense. D@@i®, 2009 and 2008, the Company had no debt odisgand accordingly did not inc
any related interest expense.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company’s effective tax rates were 24%, 32% a2fb for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The Gamy’s effective rates for the
periods differ from the statutory federal income tate of 35% due
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primarily to certain undistributed foreign earnirfgs which no U.S. taxes are provided because sachings are intended to be indefini
reinvested outside the U.S. The lower effectivertdag in 2010 as compared to 2009 is due primé&rign increase in foreign earnings on w
U.S. income taxes have not been provided as suoinga are intended to be indefinitely reinvestatsige the U.S.

As of September 25, 2010, the Company had deféasedssets arising from deductible temporary diffiees, tax losses, and tax credits of
billion, and deferred tax liabilities of $5.0 bdh. Management believes it is more likely than thet forecasted income, including income
may be generated as a result of certain tax planstimategies, together with future reversals oting) taxable temporary differences, will
sufficient to fully recover the deferred tax ass@tse Company will continue to evaluate the reaiitity of deferred tax assets quarterly
assessing the need for and amount of a valuatiowahce.

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has comepléts field audit of the Comparg/federal income tax returns for the years 200duttph
2006 and proposed certain adjustments. The Compasycontested certain of these adjustments thrtheggfRS Appeals Office. The IRS
currently examining the years 2007 through 2009.IRE audit issues for years prior to 2004 havenbesolved. During the third quarter
2010, the Company reached a tax settlement withRBefor the years 2002 through 2003. In addittbe, Company is subject to audits by s
local, and foreign tax authorities. Managementdwes that adequate provision has been made foadjugtments that may result from
examinations. However, the outcome of tax auditmoaibe predicted with certainty. If any issuesradded in the Compargytax audits a
resolved in a manner not consistent with managemenpectations, the Company could be required jigstaids provision for income taxes
the period such resolution occurs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table presents selected financiabinfation and statistics as of and for the threesyeaded September 25, 2010 (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $51,01! $33,99: $24,49(
Accounts receivable, n $ 5,51( $ 3,361 $ 2,422
Inventories $ 1,051 $ 45E $ 50¢
Working capital $20,95¢ $20,04¢ $18,64¢
Annual operating cash flo $18,59¢ $10,15¢ $ 9,59¢

As of September 25, 2010, the Company had $5bbiiln cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesjrén increase of $17 billion fr
September 26, 2009. The principal component of kisincrease was the cash generated by operattivitias of $18.6 billion, which we
partially offset by payments for acquisition of pesty, plant and equipment of $2 billion and paymemade in connection with busin
acquisitions, net of cash acquired, of $638 million

The Companys marketable securities investment portfolio isested primarily in highly rated securities, gengralith a minimum rating ¢
single-A or equivalent. As of September 25, 2010 8aptember 26, 2009, $30.8 billion and $17.4dillirespectively, of the Comparsytast
cash equivalents and marketable securities werkteforeign subsidiaries and are generally basdd.§. dollardenominated holdings. T
Company believes its existing balances of cash egsivalents and marketable securities will béigeht to satisfy its working capital nee
capital asset purchases, outstanding commitmerdso#irer liquidity requirements associated with étgsting operations over the next
months.
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Capital Assets

The Companys capital expenditures were $2.6 billion during @0donsisting of approximately $404 million foragtstore facilities and $2
billion for other capital expenditures, includingoduct tooling and manufacturing process equipraedtcorporate facilities and infrastructi
The Company’s actual cash payments for capital edipgres during 2010 were $2 billion.

The Company anticipates utilizing approximatelyGs8illion for capital expenditures during 2011, luding approximately $600 million f
retail store facilities and approximately $3.4 ibifl for product tooling and manufacturing procegsiipment, and corporate facilities :
infrastructure, including information systems haatlgy software and enhancements.

Historically the Company has opened between 2558hdew retail stores per year. During 2011, the Gamy expects to open 40 to 50 1
stores, over half of which are expected to be kgtautside of the U.S.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgations

The Company has not entered into any transactiotis umconsolidated entities whereby the Companyftmascial guarantees, subordine
retained interests, derivative instruments, or ottantingent arrangements that expose the Compamyaterial continuing risks, conting
liabilities, or any other obligation under a vat@lnterest in an unconsolidated entity that presidinancing, liquidity, market risk, or cre
risk support to the Company.

The following table presents certain payments duehe Company under contractual obligations witmimum firm commitments as
September 25, 2010 and excludes amounts alreadsdezton the Consolidated Balance Sheet (in mghon

Payments Payments

Due in Payments Payments Due in

Less More

Than Due in Due in Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Operating lease $ 2,08¢ $ 26€ $ 527 $ 47C $ 82¢
Purchase obligatior 8,70( 8,70( 0 0 0
Other obligation: 1,09¢ 912 17¢ ¢ :
Total $11,88¢ $ 9,87¢ $ 708 $ 47¢ $ 82¢

Lease Commitmen

As of September 25, 2010, the Company had totatanding commitments on noncancelable operatingeteaf $2.1 billion, $1.7 billion
which related to the lease of retail space andeélacilities. The Compang’major facility leases are typically for terms pateeding 10 yee
and generally provide renewal options for termsaxaeeding five additional years. Leases for reaéice are for terms ranging from five tc
years, the majority of which are for ten years, aftdn contain mul-year renewal options.

Purchase Commitments with Contract Manufacturerd @omponent Supplie

The Company utilizes several contract manufactuermanufacture sub-assemblies for the Commapgoducts and to perform final assen
and test of finished products. These contract natufers acquire components and build product basetemand information supplied by
Company, which typically covers periods rangingnir80 to 150 days. The Company also obtains indalidamponents for its products fror
wide variety of individual suppliers. Consistenttlwindustry practice, the Company acquires comptngmough a combination of purch
orders, supplier contracts, and open orders bas@idajected demand information.
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Such purchase commitments typically cover the Caomisaforecasted component and manufacturing requirenfenperiods ranging from
to 150 days. As of September 25, 2010, the Compadyoutstanding off-balance sheet thparty manufacturing commitments and compo
purchase commitments of $8.2 billion.

The Company has entered into prepaid Iterga supply agreements to secure the supply o&ioemiventory components, which gener
expire between 2011 and 2015. In August 2010, tbmgany entered into a lortigrm supply agreement under which it has committ
prepay $500 million in 2011. These prepayments éllapplied to certain inventory component purchasade over the life of each respec
agreement.

Other Obligations

Other outstanding obligations were $1.1 billionasSeptember 25, 2010, which related to advertjsiegearch and development, proi
tooling and manufacturing process equipment, lteamd telecommunications services and other didiga

The Company’s other noturrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keconsist primarily of deferred tax liabilitiegoss unrecogniz
tax benefits and the related gross interest andlppes. As of September 25, 2010, the Company leaecarrent deferred tax liabilities of $«
billion. Additionally, as of September 25, 2010et@ompany had gross unrecognized tax benefits 48 $8illion and an additional $2
million for gross interest and penalties classif@dnoneurrent liabilities. At this time, the Company isable to make a reasonably reli
estimate of the timing of payments in connectiothwhese tax liabilities; therefore, such amounts reot included in the above contrac
obligation table.

Indemnifications

The Company generally does not indemnify eisdss of its operating system and application sofwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes thirdparty intellectual property rights. Other agreersesritered into by the Company sometimes includenmdfication provision
under which the Company could be subject to cost¥oa damages in the event of an infringement claigainst the Company or
indemnified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requobadake any significant payments resulting from sanhinfringemer
claim asserted against it or an indemnified thgedty and, in the opinion of management, does motha liability related to unresolv
infringement claims subject to indemnification taduld materially adversely affect its financialnclition or operating results. Therefore,
Company did not record a liability for infringemegusts as of either September 25, 2010 or Septe?H009.

The Company has entered into indemnification agegsgswith its directors and executive officers. BInthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullestent permitted by law against liabilities thaisa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by sutiiduals in connection with related legal prodegd. It is not possible to determine
maximum potential amount of payments the Companydcbe required to make under these agreementdadtiee limited history of pric
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each claim. However, the @aomg maintains directors and offic
liability insurance coverage to reduce its exposiresuch obligations, and payments made under thgseements historically have

materially adversely affected the Company’s finahcondition or operating results.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk Management

The Company regularly reviews its foreign exchafmgvard and option positions, both on a statohe basis and in conjunction with
underlying foreign currency and interest rate edlaéxposures. However, given the effective horizohthe Companys risk manageme
activities and the anticipatory nature of the expes, there can be no assurance the hedges vg#tafiore than a portion of the finan
impact resulting from
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movements in either foreign exchange or interetgtsrdn addition, the timing of the accounting fecognition of gains and losses relate
mark-tomarket instruments for any given period may nohciie with the timing of gains and losses relatedhe underlying econon
exposures and, therefore, may adversely affedCtmpany’s financial condition and operating results

Interest Rate Risk

While the Company is exposed to interest rate flatibons in many of the world’s leading industrializcountries, the Comparyinteres
income and expense is most sensitive to fluctuatiorthe general level of U.S. interest rates. échs changes in U.S. interest rates affec
interest earned on the Compasycash, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesfair value of those investments, as well asts
associated with foreign currency hedges.

The Companys investment policy and strategy are focused osgpvation of capital and supporting the liquidiégguirements of the Compa
A portion of the Company’s cash is managed by eslemanagers within the guidelines of the Compsaiipvestment policy and to object
market benchmarks. The Company'’s internal portfislibenchmarked against external manager perforenanc

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changeisiterest rates relates primarily to the Comparigvestment portfolio. The Compe
typically invests in highly rated securities and ftolicy generally limits the amount of credit egpce to any one issuer. The Company’
investment policy requires investments to be invesit grade, primarily rated singfeor better, with the objective of minimizing thetentia
risk of principal loss. All highly liquid investmés with initial maturities of three months or leststhe date of purchase are classified as
equivalents. The Company classifies its marketa#eurities as either short-term or long-term basadeach instrumerd’ underlyin
contractual maturity date. All short-term marketaBkecurities have maturities less than 12 monthdevall longterm marketable securiti
have maturities ranging from one to five years. TQwmmpany may sell its investments prior to thedtesi maturities for strategic purpose:
anticipation of credit deterioration, or for dumtimanagement. The Company recognized no signifivaingains or losses during 2010, 2
and 2008 related to such sales.

To provide a meaningful assessment of the inteatst risk associated with the Companjnvestment portfolio, the Company performe
sensitivity analysis to determine the impact a geaim interest rates would have on the value ofirikiestment portfolio assuming a 100 b
point parallel shift in the yield curve. Based onéstment positions as of September 25, 2010, athgfpical 100 basis point increase in inte
rates across all maturities would result in a $diflion incremental decline in the fair market valof the portfolio. As of September 26, 2(
a similar 100 basis point shift in the yield cumweuld have resulted in a $176 million incrementatléhe in the fair market value of 1
portfolio. Such losses would only be realized & tbompany sold the investments prior to maturity.

Foreign Currency Risk

In general, the Company is a net receiver of ceiemnother than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, chesyin exchange rates, and in particu
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, will negativelfeat the Companyg net sales and gross margins as expressed irdall&s. There is alsc
risk that the Company will have to adjust localrency product pricing due to competitive pressuvlsn there has been significant volat
in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company may enter into foreign currency forwand option contracts with financial institutiomsrotect against foreign exchange r
associated with certain existing assets and li&sli certain firmly committed transactions, forgtea future cash flows, and net investmen
foreign subsidiaries. Generally, the Compangtactice is to hedge a majority of its matergabfgn exchange exposures, typically for thre
six months.
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However, the Company may choose not to hedge neftaeign exchange exposures for a variety of negsisocluding but not limited
immateriality, accounting considerations and thehfsitive economic cost of hedging particular expes.

To provide a meaningful assessment of the foreigreacy risk associated with certain of the Compsifigreign currency derivative positio
the Company performed a sensitivity analysis usingalue-at-risk (“VAR”)model to assess the potential impact of fluctuatimnexchanc
rates. The VAR model consisted of using a MontelcCaimulation to generate thousands of random ntgskiee paths. The VAR is t
maximum expected loss in fair value, for a givenfence interval, to the Compamsyforeign exchange portfolio due to adverse movésne
rates. The VAR model is not intended to represetiad losses but is used as a risk estimation aadagement tool. The model assu
normal market conditions. Forecasted transactifing, commitments, and assets and liabilities dematdd in foreign currencies wi
excluded from the model. Based on the results®ftlodel, the Company estimates with 95% confidenceximum onelay loss in fair valt
of $103 million as of September 25, 2010 compaced maximum onelay loss in fair value of $44 million as of SeptemnB6, 2009. Becau
the Company uses foreign currency instruments éolghng purposes, losses incurred on those instrisnaga generally offset by increase
the fair value of the underlying exposures.

Actual future gains and losses associated withGbmpanys investment portfolio and derivative positions ndiffer materially from th
sensitivity analyses performed as of SeptembeR@50 due to the inherent limitations associateth witdicting the changes in the timing
amount of interest rates, foreign currency exchamgtes and the Company’s actual exposures antignesi
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All financial statement schedules have been omitatte the required information is not applicabtds not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becausimthemation required is included in the consolidbfmancial statements and notes thereto.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions, except share amounts which are réflédn thousands and per share amounts)

Three years ended September 25, 2010 2010 2009 2008
Net sales $ 65,22¢ $ 42,90t $ 37,49
Cost of sale: 39,54: 25,68 24,29

Gross margit 25,68¢ 17,22 13,19
Operating expense

Research and developmt 1,782 1,33¢ 1,10¢

Selling, general and administrati 5,517 4,14¢ 3,761

Total operating expens 7,29¢ 5,482 4,87(

Operating incomi 18,38¢ 11,74( 8,321
Other income and expen 15E 32€ 62C
Income before provision for income ta» 18,54( 12,06¢ 8,94
Provision for income taxe 4,52 3,831 2,82¢
Net income $ 14,01 $ 8,23¢ $ 6,11¢
Earnings per common sha

Basic $ 15.47 $ 9.2 $ 6.94

Diluted $ 15.1f $ 9.0¢ $ 6.7¢
Shares used in computing earnings per st

Basic 909,46: 893,01¢ 881,59.

Diluted 924,71 907,00! 902,13¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ients.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share amounts)

ASSETS:

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term marketable securiti

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $55 and &spectively

Inventories

Deferred tax asse

Vendor noi-trade receivable

Other current asse

Total current asse
Long-term marketable securiti
Property, plant and equipment, |
Goodwill
Acquired intangible assets, r
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenu— nor-current
Other nor-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Shareholder equity:
Common stock, no par value; 1,800,000,000 shart®ared; 915,970,05
and 899,805,500 shares issiand outstanding, respective
Retained earning
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/incc
Total shareholde’ equity
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

September 25, 201

$ 11,261
14,35¢

5,51(

1,051

1,63¢€

4,414

3,447

41,67¢

25,39’
4,76¢
741
34z2
2,26%

" EQUITY:

$ 12,01¢
5,72:
2,98¢
20,72

1,13¢
5,531
27,39:

10,66¢
37,16¢

(46)
47,791

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ients.
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September 26, 20C

$

5,26°
18,20
3,361
45E
1,138
1,69€
1,444
31,55t

10,52¢
2,95¢
20€
247
2,011
47,50:

5,601
3,85:
2,05¢
11,50¢
858
3,50z
15,86!

8,21(
23,35¢
77

31,64(

47,50!
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except share amounts which are réélédn thousands)

Balances as of September 29, 2i

Cumulative effect of change in accounting princ
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized loss on availi-for-sale
securities, net of ta
Change in unrealized gain on derivative instrume
net of tax
Total comprehensive incon
Stoclk-based compensatic
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of sl
withheld for employee taxe
Issuance of common stock in connection with antz
acquisition
Tax benefit from employee stock plan awa
Balances as of September 27, 2i
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities, net of ta
Change in unrealized gain on derivative instruments
net of tax
Total comprehensive incon
Stoclk-based compensatic
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of shar
withheld for employee taxe
Tax benefit from employee stock plan awards, inicig
transfer pricing adjustmen
Balances as of September 26, 2!
Components of comprehensive incor
Net income
Change in foreign currency translati
Change in unrealized gain on available-for-sale
securities, net of ta
Change in unrealized gain on derivative instruments
net of tax
Total comprehensive incon
Stock-based compensatic
Common stock issued under stock plans, net of shar
withheld for employee taxe
Tax benefit from employee stock plan awards, iniclg
transfer pricing adjustmen
Balances as of September 25, 2i

Accumulated

Common Stock Other Total

Comprehensive Shareholders’
Retained

Shares Amount Earnings Income/(Loss) Equity
872,32¢ $ 5,36¢ $ 9,10( $ 63 $ 14,53
0 45 11 0 56
0 0 6,11¢ 0 6,11¢
0 0 0 (28) (28)
0 0 0 (63 (63)
0 0 0 18 19
6,04’
0 51z 0 0 51z
15,88¢ 46( (101) 0 35¢
10¢ 21 0 0 21
0 77C 0 0 77C
888,32¢ 7,177 15,12¢ (9) 22,29;
0 0 8,23t 0 8,23¢
0 0 0 (14) (14)
0 0 0 11¢ 11€
0 0 0 (18) (19
8,321
0 707 0 0 707
11,48( 404 (12) 0 39z
0 (78) 0 0 (78)
899,80¢ 8,21( 23,35: 77 31,64(
0 0 14,01 0 14,01
0 0 0 7 7
0 0 0 12! 123
0 0 0 (257) (259)
13,89(
0 87¢ 0 0 87¢
16,16¢ 702 (297 0 50€
0 87¢ 0 0 87¢
915,97( $10,66¢ $37,16¢ $ (46) $ 47,79

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ients.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Three years ended September 25, 2010
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the
Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash geadray operating activitie!
Depreciation, amortization and accret
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Deferred income tax expen
Loss on disposition of property, plant and equipn
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Vendor nok-trade receivable
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Cash generated by operating activi
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur
Proceeds from sales of marketable secur
Purchases of other lo-term investment
Payments made in connection with business acarisitinet of cash acquir
Payments for acquisition of property, plant andigopent
Payments for acquisition of intangible ass
Other

Cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquiairds

Cash generated by financing activit
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equiv:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the

Supplemental cash flow disclosu
Cash paid for income taxes, 1

2010 2009
$ 5,26¢ $ 11,87
14,01 8,23t
1,027 734
87¢ 71C
1,44( 1,04(
24 26
(2,147) (93€)
(59€6) 54
(2,719) 58¢
(1,514) 162
(120) (902)
6,307 92
1,217 521
77¢ (161)
18,59t 10,15¢
(57,79 (46,722
24,93( 19,79(
21,78¢ 10,88¢
(18) (101)
(63€) 0
(2,00%) (1,144)
(11€) (69)
(2 (74
(13,85/) (17,439
912 47F
751 27¢
(40€) (82)
1,257 662
5,99¢ (6,617)
$ 11,26 $ 5,26:
$ 2,697 $ 2,99

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financiaé®ients.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Apple Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (colieely “Apple” or the “Company”)designs, manufactures, and markets personal corsj
mobile communication and media devices, and paetalgital music players, and sells a variety ohtedl software, services, periphel
networking solutions, and thinarty digital content and applications. The Comps@ls its products worldwide through its retadrsts, onlin
stores, and direct sales force, and third-partipleelnetwork carriers, wholesalers, resellers walde-added resellers. In addition, the Comg
sells a variety of third-party Macintosh (“Mac’iRhone, iPad and iPod compatible products inclu@ipglication software, printers, stor:
devices, speakers, headphones, and various otbessacies and supplies through its online andl r&timies. The Company sells to consui
small and mid-sized business, education, entergyg®eernment and creative customers.

Basis of Presentation and Preparation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiermiside the accounts of the Company. Intercompammpants and transactions have t
eliminated. The preparation of these consolidaiedntial statements in conformity with U.S. genlgralccepted accounting princip
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assusphiat affect the amounts reported in these camtadet financial statemel
and accompanying notes. Actual results could diffieterially from those estimates. Certain priorry@amounts in the consolidated finan
statements and notes thereto have been reclagsif@mhform to the current year's presentation.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-weekqukthat ends on the last Saturday of SeptemberCbinepanys fiscal years 2010, 2009 ¢
2008 ended on September 25, 2010, September 28,a2@0September 27, 2008, respectively, and indi5@aweeks each. An additional w
is included in the first fiscal quarter approximgtevery six years to realign fiscal quarters withlendar quarters. Unless otherwise st
references to particular years or quarters reféngdCompanys fiscal years ended in September and the assocjatters of those fiscal yee

Retrospective Adoption of New Accounting Princi

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Stasgl&oard (“FASB”)amended the accounting standards related to revecognition fo
arrangements with multiple deliverables and arrargggs that include software elements (“new accagngirinciples”). The new accountir
principles permitted prospective or retrospectigeion, and the Company elected retrospective tamtoduring the first quarter of 2010.

Under the historical accounting principles, the @amy was required to account for sales of both riehand Apple TV using subscript
accounting because the Company indicated it migir ftime-totime provide future unspecified software upgraded &eatures for tho:
products free of charge. Under subscription acéogntevenue and associated product cost of sate®fione and Apple TV were deferre:
the time of sale and recognized on a straightfiagis over each produstestimated economic life. This resulted in thesdief of significar
amounts of revenue and cost of sales related wni€®hnd Apple TV.

The new accounting principles affect the Comparg¢counting for all past and current sales of iiehdPad, Apple TV and for sales of if
touch beginning in June 2010. The new accountimcjples require the Company to account for the sdlthese devices as two deliverat
The first deliverable is the hardware and softwassential to the functionality of the hardware dewuielivered at the time of sale, and
second deliverable is the right included with thecghase of these devices to receive on a whenfaanhilable basis, future unspecif
software upgrades and features relating to the ymttsl essential software. The new accounting principéssilt in the recognition of
substantial portion of the revenue and all prodosts from

50



Table of Contents

the sale of these devices at the time of their. additionally, the Company is required to estimatstandalone selling price for the unspec
software upgrade rights included with the salehekt devices and recognizes that amount ratabhtliw@4month estimated life of the rela
hardware device.

Refer to the “Explanatory Note” and Note 2, “Repestive Adoption of New Accounting Principles” ihet 2009 Form 1@ for additiona
information on the impact of adoption of the newamting principles, which sections are incorpatdierein by reference.

Revenue Recognition

Net sales consist primarily of revenue from thes sdlhardware, software, digital content and ajgpiins, peripherals, and service and suj
contracts. The Company recognizes revenue whengsve evidence of an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is fixe
determinable, and collection is probable. Prodsicioinsidered delivered to the customer once ibkas shipped and title and risk of loss |
been transferred. For most of the Compangtoduct sales, these criteria are met at the thmeproduct is shipped. For online sale
individuals, for some sales to education custonierthe U.S., and for certain other sales, the Caompdefers revenue until the custol
receives the product because the Company legatyneea portion of the risk of loss on these sdi@sng transit. The Company recogni
revenue from the sale of hardware products (e.gcaViPhones, iPads, iPods and peripherals), seftaindled with hardware that is esse
to the functionality of the hardware, and thpdrty digital content sold on the iTunes Store égeaadance with general revenue recogn
accounting guidance. The Company recognizes revanaecordance with industry specific software astog guidance for the followir
types of sales transactions: (i) standalone sdlesoftware products, (i) sales of software upgmded (iii) sales of software bundled v
hardware not essential to the functionality of tlaedware.

The Company sells software and peripheral prodolstained from other companies. The Company geneesliablishes its own pricing &
retains related inventory risk, is the primary gbliin sales transactions with its customers, asdirmes the credit risk for amounts billed t
customers. Accordingly, the Company generally ractes revenue for the sale of products obtainewh fother companies based on the ¢
amount billed. For certain sales made through Thenés Store, including sales of third-party sofevapplications for the ComparsyiOS
devices, the Company is not the primary obligongers of the software, and thiparty developers determine the selling price oir tbeftware
Therefore, the Company accounts for such salesrmt basis by recognizing only the commission tidires from each sale and including
commission in net sales in the Consolidated Statésnef Operations. The portion of the sales pria@ by users that is remitted by
Company to third-party developers is not refledtethe Company’s Consolidated Statement of Oparatio

The Company records deferred revenue when it resgiayments in advance of the delivery of prodacthe performance of services. 1
includes amounts that have been deferred relatecthtiedded unspecified and specified software upgradhts. The Company sells gift ce
redeemable at its retail and online stores, aml s8fls gift cards redeemable on the iTunes Staréhke purchase of content and software.
Company records deferred revenue upon the saleeotdrd, which is relieved upon redemption of theddoy the customer. Revenue fi
AppleCare service and support contracts is defearetirecognized ratably over the service coveragmgs. AppleCare service and sup
contracts typically include extended phone suppa@pair services, webased support resources and diagnostic tools dffareler th
Company’s standard limited warranty.

The Company records reductions to revenue for astichcommitments related to price protection andcisstomer incentive prograr
including reseller and end-user rebates, and othé¥s programs and volurbased incentives. The estimated cost of these amuyri:
recognized in the period the Company has sold tbdyzt and committed to a plan. The Company alsords reductions to revenue
expected future product returns based on the Coyhpdnistorical experience. Revenue is recorded néas collected from customers
are remitted to governmental authorities, with todlected taxes recorded as current liabilitiesilummitted to the relevant governm
authority.
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Revenue Recognition for Arrangements with Multipddiverables

For multi-element arrangements that include tamegjisbducts that contain software that is essettigthe tangible product’ functionality an
undelivered software elements that relate to thgikde products essential software, the Company allocates revenak deliverables based
their relative selling prices. In such circumsta)dbe Company uses a hierarchy to determine tliegsprice to be used for allocating reve
to deliverables: (i) vendor-specific objective eade of fair value (“VSOE”), (ii) third-party evidee of selling price (“TPE”)and (iii) bes
estimate of the selling price (“ESPYSOE generally exists only when the Company séksdeliverable separately and is the price act
charged by the Company for that deliverable. E®Heat the Companyg’ best estimates of what the selling prices of elgmwould be if the
were sold regularly on a stand-alone basis.

As described in more detail below, for all past andrent sales of iPhone, iPad, Apple TV and féesaf iPod touch beginning in June 2(
the Company has indicated it may from timetitoe provide future unspecified software upgrades f@atures free of charge to customers.
Company has identified two deliverables in arranget® involving the sale of these devices. The figdiverable is the hardware and softv
essential to the functionality of the hardware dewdelivered at the time of sale. The second dwlble is the embedded right included with
purchase of iPhone, iPad, iPod touch and Apple d@Veteive on a when-anddfrailable basis, future unspecified software upgsadn
features relating to the produstessential software. The Company has allocateeint®y between these two deliverables using theive
selling price method. Because the Company haseréifB8OE nor TPE for the two deliverables, the at@n of revenue has been based ol
Companys ESPs. Amounts allocated to the delivered hardamadethe related essential software are recogrizéite time of sale provided
other conditions for revenue recognition have been. Amounts allocated to the embedded unspecsidtivare upgrade rights are defe
and recognized on a straight-line basis over then@dth estimated life of each of these devicesphdiduct cost of sales, including estimi
warranty costs, are recognized at the time of €dsts for engineering and sales and marketing)gensed as incurred.

The Companys process for determining its ESP for deliverablébout VSOE or TPE considers multiple factors thmgty vary depending up
the unique facts and circumstances related to deliverable. The Company believes its customemigogarly consumers, would be reluct
to buy unspecified software upgrade rights reldateiPhone, iPad, iPod touch and Apple TV. This viewprimarily based on the fact t
unspecified upgrade rights do not obligate the Camygto provide upgrades at a particular time allatand do not specify to customers wt
upgrades or features will be delivered. Therefthe, Company has concluded that if it were to splyrade rights on a standalone b
including those rights associated with iPhone, jRadd touch and Apple TV, the selling price wobklrelatively low. Key factors conside
by the Company in developing the ESPs for theseagegrights include prices charged by the Compangifnilar offerings, the Compary’
historical pricing practices, the nature of the napig rights (e.g., unspecified and when-anaviilable), and the relative ESP of the upg
rights as compared to the total selling price efphoduct. The Company may also consider, whenogpiate, the impact of other products
services, including advertising services, on sgllimice assumptions when developing and reviewind@EPs for software upgrade rights
related deliverables. The Company may also considditional factors as appropriate, including thieipg of competitive alternatives if th
exist, and product-specific business objectives.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2010 in conjunatiwith the announcement of iOS 4, the CompsuisSPs for the embedded software upc
rights included with iPhone, iPad and iPod toudtect the positive financial impact expected by @ampany as a result of its introduction
mobile advertising platform for these devices ane é€xpectation of customers regarding software itidtides or supports an advertis
component. iOS 4 supports iAd, the Companyéw mobile advertising platform, which enablegligations on iPhone, iPad and iPod touc
embed media-rich advertisements.

For all periods presented, the Compan¥ESP for the embedded software upgrade right deduwith each Apple TV sold is $10. 1
Company’s ESP for the software upgrade right inetudith each iPhone sold through the
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Company’s second quarter of 2010 was $25. Beginmirigril 2010 in conjunction with the Comparsyannouncement of iOS 4 for iPhone,
Company lowered its ESP for the software upgraglet included with each iPhone to $10.

Beginning with initial sales of iPad in April 201the Company has also indicated it may from tim#istee provide future unspecified softw
upgrades and features free of charge to iPad cestoriihe Compang’ESP for the embedded software upgrade rightdedwith the sale
each iPad is $10. In June 2010, the Company aneduthat certain previously sold iPod touch modedsilel receive an upgrade to iOS 4~
of charge and indicated iPod touch devices runnimgOS 4 may from time-ttime receive future unspecified software upgrades faature
free of charge. The Company’s ESP for the embedd#&diare upgrade right included with each iPod kosald beginning in June 2010 is $5.

The Company accounts for multiple element arrangesnthat consist only of software or softwaetated products, including the sale
upgrades to previously sold software, in accordamitle industry specific accounting guidance forta@re and softwareelated transactior
For such transactions, revenue on arrangementsnitiatie multiple elements is allocated to eacimelet based on the relative fair valut
each element, and fair value is determined by VSIDEhe Company cannot objectively determine thie ¥alue of any undelivered elem
included in such multiplelement arrangements, the Company defers revertil@lielements are delivered and services haenlperformec
or until fair value can objectively be determinext finy remaining undelivered elements. When theviaiue of a delivered element has
been established, but fair value exists for theelindred elements, the Company uses the residutiomido recognize revenue. Under
residual method, the fair value of the undeliveedeiments is deferred and the remaining portionhef drrangement fee is allocated to
delivered elements and is recognized as revenue.

Except as described for iPhone, iPad, iPod touah Apple TV, the Company generally does not offespetified upgrade rights to
customers in connection with software sales or dhle of AppleCare extended warranty and supportracts. A limited number of tl
Companys software products are available with maintenagreements that grant customers rights to unspdcititure upgrades over
maintenance term on a when and if available bR&Egenue associated with such maintenance is rezadyrétably over the maintenance term.

Shipping Costs

For all periods presented, amounts billed to custsmelated to shipping and handling are class#igdevenue, and the Compaghippin
and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

Warranty Expense

The Company generally provides for the estimatest obhardware and software warranties at the timeerelated revenue is recognized.
Company assesses the adequacy of iteypisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amsuas necessary based on actual experienc
changes in future estimates.

Software Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed athddevelopment costs of computer software tedid, leased, or otherwise marketec
subject to capitalization beginning when a produttchnological feasibility has been establishedl emding when a product is available
general release to customers. In most instancesCtimpanys products are released soon after technologieaitféity has been establish
Therefore, costs incurred subsequent to achievememechnological feasibility are usually not sificént, and generally most softw.
development costs have been expensed as incurred.

The Company did not capitalize any software develept costs during 2010. In 2009 and 2008, the Compapitalized $71 million and $
million, respectively, of costs associated with dexelopment of Mac OS X
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Version 10.6 Snow Leopard (“Mac OS X Snow Leopardhich was released during the fourth quarter of2ahe capitalized costs are be
amortized to cost of sales on a straight-line bagés a three year estimated useful life of theeulythg technology.

Total amortization related to capitalized softwdes/elopment costs was $48 million, $25 million &&¥ million in 2010, 2009 and 20t
respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsirgiexpense was $691 million, $501 million and &48llion for 2010, 2009 and 20(
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stoblsed payment transactions in which the Compangives employee services in exchange for (a) e
instruments of the enterprise or (b) liabilitieattlare based on the fair value of the entermisguity instruments or that may be settled b
issuance of such equity instruments. Stock-basetpeasation cost for restricted stock units (“RSUs”measured based on the closing
market value of the Company’s common stock on #ie df grant. Stockased compensation cost for stock options is ettunat the gra
date based on each option’s fair-value as calalilbtethe Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) optigricing model. The Company recogni
stock-based compensation cost as expense ratallswaightine basis over the requisite service period. Then@any will recognize a benge
from stockbased compensation in equity if an incrementabenefit is realized by following the ordering preieins of the tax law. In additic
the Company accounts for the indirect effects otlsbased compensation on the research tax credifptbgn tax credit and the dome:
manufacturing deduction through the income statémearther information regarding stoblased compensation can be found in No
“Shareholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensatidnhis Form 10-K.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed usirggahset and liability method, under which defeteedassets and liabilities are recogn
for the expected future tax consequences of tempaliferences between the financial reporting gadbases of assets and liabilities, an
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Defetax assets and liabilities are measured usi@gurrently enacted tax rates that app
taxable income in effect for the years in whichshdax assets are expected to be realized ordsefite Company records a valua
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the aintioat is believed more likely than not to be izsd.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an m@icetax position only if it is more likely tharohthe tax position will be sustained
examination by the taxing authorities, based ortélshnical merits of the position. The tax benef#sognized in the financial statements f
such positions are then measured based on thestdrgeefit that has a greater than 50% likelihobldeing realized upon settlement. See |
6, “Income Taxes" of this Form 10-K for additioriaformation.

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed bgidiyincome available to common shareholders bybightedaverage number of sha
of common stock outstanding during the period. iduearnings per common share is computed by diyidticome available to comm
shareholders by the weightesterage number of shares of common stock outstgrdliming the period increased to include the nundi
additional shares of common stock that would haenloutstanding if the potentially dilutive sedesthad been issued.
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Potentially dilutive securities include outstandstgck options, shares to be purchased under tipdoge® stock purchase plan and unve
RSUs. The dilutive effect of potentially dilutivecurities is reflected in diluted earnings per camrmshare by application of the treasury s
method. Under the treasury stock method, an inergathe fair market value of the Compasmgommon stock can result in a greater dilt
effect from potentially dilutive securities.

The following table sets forth the computation abie and diluted earnings per common share fothitee years ended September 25, 201
thousands, except net income in millions and paresamounts):

2010 2009 2008
Numerator:
Net income $ 14,01 $ 8,23¢ $ 6,11¢
Denominator
Weighte(-average shares outstand 909,46 893,01¢ 881,59:
Effect of dilutive securitie 15,25 13,98¢ 20,54
Weightec-average diluted shar 924,71, 907,00! 902,13¢
Basic earnings per common sh $ 15.41 $ 9.27 $ 6.9/
Diluted earnings per common shi $ 15.1f $ 9.0¢ $ 6.7¢

Potentially dilutive securities representing 1.6lion, 12.6 million and 10.3 million shares of coram stock for 2010, 2009 and 20
respectively, were excluded from the computatiodibfted earnings per common share for these petetause their effect would have
antidilutive.

Financial Instruments
Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

All highly liquid investments with maturities of ide months or less at the date of purchase arsifié@sas cash equivalents. The Company’
debt and marketable equity securities have beessifiled and accounted for as availabledgate. Management determines the approy
classification of its investments in debt secusiti the time of purchase and reevaluates theadl@iforsale designations as of each bal
sheet date. The Company classifies its marketabl# gecurities as either short-term or long-terreedaon each instrumestunderlyin
contractual maturity date. Marketable securitiethwmaturities of less than 12 months are classdigedhorterm and marketable securities v
maturities greater than 12 months are classifieldragterm. These securities are carried at fair valuth the unrealized gains and losses

of taxes, reported as a component of shareholdgtsty. The cost of securities sold is based uperspecific identification method.

Derivative Financial Instrumenti

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumestgither assets or liabilities and carries thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are not defil
as hedges must be adjusted to fair value througtinggs.

For derivative instruments that hedge the exposureariability in expected future cash flows thaé a@esignated as cash flow hedges
effective portion of the gain or loss on the detiv@ instrument is reported as a component of acdat®d other comprehensive incom
shareholdersequity and reclassified into earnings in the samgop or periods during which the hedged transactifiects earnings. T
ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the dative instrument is recognized in current earnifigsreceive hedge accounting treatment,
flow hedges must be highly effective in offsetticltanges to expected future cash flows on hedgedactions. For options designated as
flow hedges, changes in the time value are excldided the assessment of hedge effectiveness ancemgnized in earnings. For deriva
instruments that hedge the exposure to changéeifair value of an asset or a liability and that @esignated as fair value hedges, the ne
or loss on the derivative instrument as well asofffigetting gain or loss on the hedged item atteble to

55



Table of Contents

the hedged risk are recognized in earnings in thieent period. The Company did not have a net gailoss on these derivative instrume
during 2010, 2009 and 2008. The net gain or losthereffective portion of a derivative instrumeattis designated as an economic hed
the foreign currency translation exposure of theingeestment in a foreign operation is reportedtia same manner as a foreign currt
translation adjustment. For forward exchange cotdraesignated as net investment hedges, the Cogngpaiudes changes in fair va
relating to changes in the forward carry comporfeoitn its definition of effectiveness. Accordinglgny gains or losses related to
component are recognized in current earnings.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company records its allowance for doubtful act® based upon its assessment of various factbes.Company considers histori
experience, the age of the accounts receivablenteda credit quality of the Compasytustomers, current economic conditions, and
factors that may affect customers’ ability to pay.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, coegbuising the first-in, firsbut method, or market. If the cost of the invergsrexceeds the
market value, provisions are made currently for diféerence between the cost and the market valle. Companys inventories consi
primarily of components and finished goods forpatiods presented.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagtrdziation is computed by use of the stralgtg-method over the estimated useful live
the assets, which for buildings is the lesser of/@&@rs or the remaining life of the underlying Huib, up to five years for equipment, and
shorter of lease terms or ten years for leaseholgtdvements. The Company capitalizes eligible ctstacquire or develop internabe
software that are incurred subsequent to the pirgdig project stage. Capitalized costs relatechternaluse software are amortized using
straightline method over the estimated useful lives ofabgets, which range from three to five years. D@gtien and amortization expense
property and equipment was $815 million, $606 willand $387 million during 2010, 2009 and 2008peetively.

Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

The Company reviews property, plant and equipmedtcrtain identifiable intangibles, excluding gadlj for impairment. Longlived asset
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or gharin circumstances indicate the carrying amotir@noasset may not be recovers
Recoverability of these assets is measured by casgpeof their carrying amounts to future undisceahcash flows the assets are expect
generate. If property, plant and equipment andageitentifiable intangibles are considered to iog@aired, the impairment to be recogni
equals the amount by which the carrying value & #ssets exceeds its fair market value. The Compahyot record any significa
impairments during 2010, 2009 and 2008.

The Company does not amortize goodwill and intalegédssets with indefinite useful lives, rather sadsets are required to be testec
impairment at least annually or sooner wheneventver changes in circumstances indicate that ¢lseta may be impaired. The Comg
performs its goodwill and intangible asset impaintests on or about August 31 of each year. Thag2my did not recognize any goodwil
intangible asset impairment charges in 2010, 20@P2008. The Company established reporting unigedan its current reporting structi
For purposes of testing goodwill for impairmentpdwill has been allocated to these reporting utatthe extent it relates to each repor
unit.

The Company amortizes its intangible assets wifinie lives over their estimated useful lives aediews these assets for impairment.
Company is currently amortizing its acquired inthitgy assets with definite lives over periods ragdiom three to ten years.
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Fair Value Measurements

During 2009, the Company adopted the FASBew accounting standard on fair value measurenzett disclosures for all financial assets
liabilities. The new accounting principles defirarfvalue, provide a framework for measuring faatue, and expand the disclosures reqt
for fair value measurements. During the first gelaaf 2010, the Company adopted the new fair vatimunting principles for all nofinancia
assets and nofirancial liabilities, except for items that areognized or disclosed at fair value in the finahstatements on a recurring ba
which did not have a material effect on the Compafigancial condition or operating results.

The Company applies fair value accounting for iméificial assets and liabilities and niimancial assets and liabilities that are recogmiat
disclosed at fair value in the financial statememntsa recurring basis. The Company defines famevals the price that would be received 1
selling an asset or paid to transfer a liabilityaim orderly transaction between market participabthe measurement date. When determ
the fair value measurements for assets and ligsilitvhich are required to be recorded at fair @athe Company considers the principe
most advantageous market in which the Company wd@ddsact and the markbésed risk measurements or assumptions that r
participants would use in pricing the asset oriliigh such as inherent risk, transfer restricti@ral credit risk. In accordance with the fair vi
accounting requirements, companies may choose &sune eligible financial instruments and certaimeotitems at fair value. The Compi
has not elected the fair value option for any bligfinancial instruments.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement

The Company translates the assets and liabilifi#ls aonU.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries intcsUdollars using exchange rate
effect at the end of each period. Revenue and eegsdior these subsidiaries are translated usieg that approximate those in effect during
period. Gains and losses from these translatioesceedited or charged to foreign currency trarmtatincluded in accumulated ot
comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity. Then@anys subsidiaries that use the U.S. dollar as theictfanal currency remeasi
monetary assets and liabilities at exchange ratesffect at the end of each period, and inventpresperty, and nonmonetary assets
liabilities at historical rates. Gains and lossesf these remeasurements were insignificant and haen included in the Compasyesults ¢
operations.

Segment Information

The Company reports segment information based erirttanagementapproach. The management approach designatesténeainreportin
used by management for making decisions and aesgegsiformance as the source of the Compmamgportable segments. Information al
the Company’s products, major customers and gebgrapeas on a company-wide basis is also disclosed

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued a new accousstiawgdard for business combinations, which estaddigirinciples and requirements
how an acquirer is to recognize and measure irfinencial statements the identifiable assets aequithe liabilities assumed, and

noncontrolling interest in the acquiree in a busineombination. This new accounting standard atdabéished principles regarding h
goodwill acquired in a business combination or i g@m a bargain purchase should be recognizedhaeakured, requiring the capitaliza
of in-process research and development at fairevahd the expensing of acquisitielated costs as incurred, as well as providinglgline:
on the disclosure requirements. In April 2009, BA&SB amended this new accounting standard to reghat assets acquired and liabili
assumed in a business combination that arise framingencies be recognized at fair value, if thie ¥alue can be determined during
measurement period. The Company adopted the neiwessscombination accounting standard in the §sirter of 2010 and applied th
principles to any business combinations complateat iafter the first quarter of 2010. The adoptidthe new business combination accour
standard did not have a material effect on the Gomis financial condition or operating results.

57



Table of Contents

Note 2 — Financial Instruments
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The following table summarizes the fair value oé tGompany’s cash and available-&ate securities held in its marketable secu
investment portfolio, recorded as cash and caslivalgats or short-term or longrm marketable securities as of September 25, 20t
September 26, 2009 (in millions):

September 25, 201 September 26, 20C

Cash $ 1,69( $ 1,13¢
Money market fund 2,75:% 1,60¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 2,571 28¢
U.S. agency securitie 1,91¢ 278
Non-U.S. government securitit 10 0
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 374 572
Commercial pape 1,88¢ 1,381
Corporate securitie 58 0
Municipal securitie! 0 1
Total cash equivalen 9,571 4,124

U.S. Treasury securitie 2,13( 2,84:
U.S. agency securitie 4,33¢ 8,58
Non-U.S. government securitit 86% 21¢
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 85( 1,14z
Commercial pape 1,27¢ 2,81¢
Corporate securitie 4,52: 2,46¢
Municipal securitie! 374 133
Total shor-term marketable securitit 14,35¢ 18,201

U.S. Treasury securitie 5,21: 484
U.S. agency securitie 2,47 2,252
Non-U.S. government securitit 1,78¢ 102
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 1,51¢ 0
Corporate securitie 12,86: 7,32(
Municipal securitie! 1,548 37C
Total lon¢-term marketable securitit 25,39 10,52¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable siem $ 51,01: $ 33,99:
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The following tables summarize the Company’s awddldor-sale securitiesadjusted cost, gross unrealized gains, gross uredabsses al
fair value by significant investment category asseptember 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009 (ifong)t

September 25, 2010

Unrealized Unrealized

Adjusted Fair

Cost Gains Losses Value
Money market fund $ 2,758 $ 0 $ 0 $ 2,758
U.S. Treasury securitie 9,87 4; ( 9,914
U.S. agency securitie 8,711 10 0 8,721
Non-U.S. government securitit 2,64¢ 13 0 2,661
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 2,73¢ 5 (D) 2,73¢
Commercial pape 3,16¢ 0 0 3,16¢
Corporate securitie 17,34¢ 10z 9 17,44
Municipal securitie! 1,89¢ 19 (1) 1,917
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul $49,14: $ 191 $ 1) $49,32!

September 26, 2009
Unrealized Unrealized

Adjusted Fair
Cost Gains Losses _Value
Money market fund $ 1,60¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 1,60¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 3,61( 6 0 3,61¢
U.S. agency securitie 11,08t 2: ( 11,107
Non-U.S. government securitit 32C 1 0 321
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 1,714 0 0 1,714
Commercial pape 4,197 0 0 4,197
Corporate securitie 9,76( 42 (16) 9,78¢
Municipal securitie! 50z 2 0 504
Total cash equivalents and marketable secu $32,79¢ $ 73 $ (16 $32,85!

The Company had net unrealized gains on its investportfolio of $180 million and $57 million as 8&ptember 25, 2010 and Septembe
2009, respectively. The net unrealized gains aSegtember 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009 relabedrgy to longterm marketab
securities. The Company may sell certain of itsketble securities prior to their stated maturifi@sstrategic purposes, in anticipatior
credit deterioration, or for duration managemerte Tompany recognized no significant net realizeihgyor losses during 2010, 2009
2008 related to such sales. The maturities of mgany’s long-term marketable securities generalhge from one year to five years
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The following tables show the gross unrealizeddesmd fair value for investments in an unrealipsd position as of September 25, 2010

September 26, 2009, aggregated by investment agtagd the length of time that individual secustigave been in a continuous loss pos
(in millions):

September 25, 201!

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Value Losses Value Losses Value Loss
Certificates of deposit and time depo: $ 80z $ Q) $ 54 $ 0 $ 85€ $ Q)
Corporate securitie 3,57¢ ©) 27¢ 2 3,854 ©
Municipal securitie! 29€ (1) 0 ( 29€ (2)
Total $4,67¢ $ (9 $ 32¢ $ (2  $5,00¢ $ (1)
September 26, 2009
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Value Losses Value Losses Value Loss
Corporate securitie $1,667 $ (3) $ 71 $ (13 $2,38¢ $ (16

The Company considers the declines in market values marketable securities investment portfolidoe temporary in nature. The unreal
losses on the Comparsy'marketable securities were caused primarily bgngbs in market interest rates or widening creglieads. Th
Company typically invests in highlsated securities, and its policy generally limite tamount of credit exposure to any one issuer
Company’s investment policy requires investmentbadnvestment grade, primarily rated singl@r better, with the objective of minimizi
the potential risk of principal loss. Fair valuesrer determined for each individual security in timeestment portfolio. When evaluating
investments for other-thaemporary impairment, the Company reviews factoichsas the length of time and extent to which Yaiue ha
been below cost basis, the financial conditiorhefissuer and any changes thereto, and the Congpiutgnt to sell, or whether it is more lik
than not it will be required to sell, the investrhdrefore recovery of the investmemtamortized cost basis. During the years e
September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, the &@oyntid not recognize any significant impairmerdrges. As of September 25, 2010,
Company does not consider any of its investmenketother-than-temporarily impaired.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses derivatives to partially offsebitisiness exposure to foreign currency exchasgge The Company may enter into fore
currency forward and option contracts to offset sashthe foreign exchange risk of expected futwaehcflows on certain forecasted reve
and cost of sales, of net investments in certaieigo subsidiaries, and on certain existing assedtsliabilities. To help protect gross mart
from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange satertain of the Comparg/subsidiaries whose functional currency is the ddiar, hedge
portion of forecasted foreign currency revenue. Toenpany$ subsidiaries whose functional currency is notWh®. dollar and who sell
local currencies, may hedge a portion of forecastegntory purchases not denominated in the sudndéd’ functional currencies. Tl
Company typically hedges portions of its forecagtedign currency exposure associated with revemgeinventory purchases for three tc
months. To help protect the net investment in aifpr operation from adverse changes in foreignetuoy exchange rates, the Company
enter into foreign currency forward and option caaots to offset the changes in the carrying amoohtlsese investments due to fluctuatior
foreign currency exchange rates. The Company mey eatter into foreign currency forward and optionteacts to partially offset the forei
currency exchange gains and losses generated brg-theasurement of certain assets and liabiliteeschinated in nofiunctional currencie
However, the Company may choose not to hedge nefdegign currency exchange exposures for a vagétgasons, including but not limit
to immateriality, accounting considerations and phehibitive economic cost of hedging particulapesures. There can be no assuranc
hedges will offset more than a portion of the ficiahimpact resulting from movements in foreignremcy exchange rates.
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The Company’s accounting policies for these instnts are based on whether the instruments are ndésiy as hedge or ndredg
instruments. The Company records all derivativeshenConsolidated Balance Sheets at fair value.€ffeetive portions of cash flow hed
are recorded in other comprehensive income urgihtdged item is recognized in earnings. The éffegtortions of net investment hedges
recorded in other comprehensive income as a pattheofcumulative translation adjustment. Derivatitieat are not designated as hed
instruments and the ineffective portions of cagiwflhedges and net investment hedges are adjustiir tealue through earnings in ot
income and expense.

The Company had a net deferred loss associatedcesth flow hedges of approximately $252 million andet deferred gain of $1 million,
of taxes, recorded in other comprehensive incon &eptember 25, 2010 and September 26, 200%atreply. Other comprehensive incc
associated with cash flow hedges of foreign currergenue is recognized as a component of net satbe same period as the related rev
is recognized, and other comprehensive incomeeetlat cash flow hedges of inventory purchasescsgrized as a component of cost of ¢
in the same period as the related costs are repaginSubstantially all of the Compasyhedged transactions as of September 25, 20:
expected to occur within six months.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow bdedgust be ddesignated as hedges when it is probable the feetdedged transact
will not occur in the initially identified time pird or within a subsequent two month time periocgfdired gains and losses in o
comprehensive income associated with such deratistruments are reclassified immediately intmiegs through other income and expe
Any subsequent changes in fair value of such devivanstruments also are reflected in current egsunless they are designated as hed
of other transactions. The Company did not recagaizy significant net gains or losses related éddls of hedge designation on discontit
cash flow hedges during 2010, 2009 and 2008.

The Company had an unrealized net loss on net imezg hedges of $9 million and $2 million, net akés, included in the cumulat
translation adjustment account of accumulated otieenprehensive income (“AOCI"as of September 25, 2010 and September 26,
respectively. The ineffective portions and amowxtsluded from the effectiveness test of net invesinmedges are recorded in current ear
in other income and expense.

The Company recognized in earnings a net loss @B $illion and $133 million on foreign currency ¥eard and option contracts |
designated as hedging instruments during the yedeceSeptember 25, 2010 and September 26, 20@@ctesely. These amounts represen
net gain or loss on the derivative contracts anaatoinclude changes in the related exposures,hwipgnerally offset a portion of the gair
loss on the derivative contracts.

The following table shows the notional principaldanredit risk amounts of the Compasyterivative instruments outstanding a:
September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009 (iromsli

2010 2009
Credit Credit
Notional Risk Notional Risk
Principal Amounts Principal Amounts
Instruments qualifying as accounting hedc
Foreign exchange contrac $13,957 $ 62 $ 4,42: $ 31
Instruments other than accounting hed
Foreign exchange contrac $10,727 $ 45 $ 3,41¢ $ 10

The notional principal amounts for derivative instrents provide one measure of the transaction velomtstanding and does not represer
amount of the Company’s exposure to credit or maltd®s. The credit risk amounts represent the Caoryigagross exposure to poten
accounting loss on these transactions if all capargies failed to perform according to the terrhthe contract, based on thenfrent currenc
exchange rates at each respective date. The Corsgangs exposure on these transactions may deefumtitigated by
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collateral received from certain counterpartiese Tompanys exposure to credit loss and market risk will vawer time as a function
currency exchange rates. Although the table abeflects the notional principal and credit risk amizuof the Companyg’ foreign exchang
instruments, it does not reflect the gains or Issagsociated with the exposures and transacti@isthie foreign exchange instruments
intended to hedge. The amounts ultimately realizgon settlement of these financial instrumentsetiogr with the gains and losses on
underlying exposures, will depend on actual mackeiditions during the remaining life of the instremts.

The Company generally enters into master nettinangements, which reduce credit risk by permittieg) settlement of transactions with
same counterparty. To further limit credit riske tBompany generally enters into collateral secuitangements that provide for collatere
be received or posted when the net fair value ghefinancial instruments fluctuate from contradty established thresholds. The Comg
presents its derivative assets and derivative liiegsi at their gross fair values. As of Septemd®r 2010, the Company has posted
collateral related to the derivative instrumentslemits collateral security arrangements of $44Bioniand recorded the offsetting balanci
other current assets in the Consolidated Balane=tSihe Company did not record any significant @am® of cash collateral related to
derivative instruments under its master nettingragements as of September 26, 2009. The Companyotlidave any derivative instrume
with credit risk-related contingent features thatnd require it to post additional collateral asSefptember 25, 2010 or September 26, 2009.

The estimates of fair value are based on applicabtt commonly used pricing models and prevailimgricial market information as
September 25, 2010. Refer to Note 3, “Fair Valuasdeements” of this Form 1K for additional information on the fair value nse@ement
for all financial assets and liabilities, includinigrivative assets and derivative liabilities, thee measured at fair value in the consolic
financial statements on a recurring basis. Theofahg tables show the Compasytlerivative instruments measured at gross fauweval
reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets &epfember 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009 (iromsli

September 25, 2010
Fair Value of
Derivatives Nof

Fair Value of
Derivatives Designated as
Designated as Hedge
Hedge Instruments Instruments Total Fair Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contrac $ 62 $ 45 $ 107
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contrac $ 48¢€ $ 11€ $ 60€
September 26, 2009
Fair Value of
Derivatives Not
Fair Value of
Derivatives Designated as
Designated as Hedge
Hedge Instruments Instruments Total Fair Value
Derivative assets (a
Foreign exchange contrac $ 27 $ 10 $ 37
Derivative liabilities (b):
Foreign exchange contrac $ 24 $ 1 $ 25

(&) All derivative assets are recorded as other cuassets in the Consolidated Balance Sh
(b) All derivative liabilities are recorded as accruegbenses in the Consolidated Balance Sh
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The following tables show the pre-tax effect of @empanys derivative instruments designated as cash fladvrest investment hedges in
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2064lijons):

Gains/(Losses) Gains/(Losses) Gains/(Losses) Recognized — Ineffective
Recognized Reclassified from AOCI into Portion and Amount Excluded from
in OCI - Effective Portion (c) Income - Effective Portion (c) Effectiveness Testing
September 2& September 2€ September 2E September 2€ September 2& September 2€
2010 2009 2010 (a) 2009 (b) Location 2010 2009
Cash flow hedge:
Foreign exchange Other incom
contracts $ (2670 % 33¢ $ 118 $ 37C and expens  $ a7e) % (97)
Net investment hedge
Foreign exchang Other incom
contracts (42) (44) 0 0 and expens 1 3
Total $ (308 $ 294  $ 115 $ 37¢C $ (174 $ (94)

(@) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI in& income for the effective portion of cash floedges, of which $158 million a
($43) million were recognized within net sales am$t of sales, respectively, within the StatemdnOperations for the year enc
September 25, 2010. There were no amounts redtasibom AOCI into net income for the effective pon of net investment hedges
the year ended September 25, 2(

(b) Includes gains/(losses) reclassified from AOCI int income for the effective portion of cash floedges, of which $302 million a
$68 million were recognized within net sales andtoof sales, respectively, within the StatemenOgierations for the year enc
September 26, 2009. There were no amounts reétab§iom AOCI into net income for the effective tion of net investment hedges
the year ended September 26, 2(

(c) Refer to Note 7“Shareholder Equity and Stoc-Based Compensati” of this Form 1-K, which summarizes the activity in accumule
other comprehensive income related to derivati

Accounts Receivable
Trade Receivables

The Company distributes its products through tipiagty cellular network carriers, wholesalers, fetaiand valuedded resellers and direc
to certain education, consumer and enterprise swst® The Company generally does not require esfiafrom its customers; however,
Company will require collateral in certain instaste limit credit risk. In addition, when possibteg Company attempts to limit credit risk
trade receivables with credit insurance for certaistomers in Latin America, Europe, Asia, and Aalit, or by requiring thirgearty financing
loans or leases to support credit exposure. Theshtdinancing arrangements are directly betwédenthirdparty financing company and !
end customer. As such, the Company generally doéesagssume any recourse or credit risk sharingeel&d any of these arrangeme
However, considerable trade receivables not coveyecdbllateral, thirgsarty financing arrangements, or credit insuranmeeocaitstanding wi
the Company’s third-party cellular network carriemgholesalers, retailers and valadded resellers. Trade receivables from two o
Company’s customers accounted for 15% and 12% aafetreceivables as of September 25, 2010 and orteeo€ompanys customel
accounted for 16% of trade receivables as of Sdpme26, 2009. The Compasytellular network carriers accounted for 64% ah%h ®f trad:
receivables as of September 25, 2010 and as oéi@bpt 26, 2009, respectively. The additions antewaifs to the Companyg’allowance fc
doubtful accounts during 2010, 2009 and 2008 wetssignificant.

Vendor Non-Trade Receivables

The Company has ndmade receivables from certain of its manufactusingdors resulting from the sale of componentéi¢sé manufacturil
vendors who manufacture sassemblies or assemble final products for the CompBhe Company purchases these components difeath
suppliers. Vendor non-trade receivables from twthefCompany’s vendors accounted for 57% and 24%fectively, of norade receivable
as of September 25, 2010 and two of the Compangidders accounted for 40% and 36%, respectivelynarfirade receivables as
September 26, 2009. The Company does not reflectale of these components in net sales and deesaumnize any profits on these s
until the related products are sold by the Compatyhich time any profit is recognized as a reuncof cost of sales.
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Note 3 — Fair Value Measurements

The Company defines fair value as the price thatlvbe received from selling an asset or paiddadfer a liability in an orderly transact
between market participants at the measurement Wéten determining the fair value measurementsaisets and liabilities, which
required to be recorded at fair value, the Compaomesiders the principal or most advantageous mamketich the Company would trans
and the markebased risk measurements or assumptions that maaktitipants would use in pricing the asset oriligh such as inherent ris
transfer restrictions and credit risk.

The Company applies the following fair value hietar, which prioritizes the inputs used to measaie\falue into three levels and bases
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowesel of input that is available and significaotthe fair value measurement:

Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets for identicabéssr liabilities.

Level 2— Observable inputs other than quoted prices in aatiarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tgdgorices for identical or simil
assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or otimguts that are observable or can be corroboitayenbservable market data for substantially
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3— Inputs that are generally unobservable and tiipicaflect managemers’estimates of assumptions that market participaatdd us
in pricing the asset or liability.

The Companys valuation techniques used to measure the faurevaf money market funds and certain marketablétyegecurities wet
derived from quoted prices in active markets fa@niical assets or liabilities. The valuation tecjueis used to measure the fair value of all «
financial instruments, all of which have countetjgar with high credit ratings, were valued basedganted market prices or model dri
valuations using significant inputs derived fromcorroborated by observable market data.

Assets/Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Reauing Basis

The following table presents the Compangssets and liabilities measured at fair value oacurring basis as of September 25, 201(
September 26, 2009 (in millions):

September 25, 2010

Quoted Prices

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Instruments Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (a)
Assets:
Money market fund $ 2,75: $ 0 $ 0 $ 2,75:¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 0 9,91/ 0 9,91«
U.S. agency securitie 0 8,721 0 8,721
Non-U.S. government securitit 0 2,661 0 2,661
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 0 2,73¢ 0 2,73¢
Commercial pape 0 3,16¢ 0 3,16¢
Corporate securitie 0 17,44 0 17,44
Municipal securitie! 0 1,917 0 1,917
Marketable equity securitie 132 0 0 132
Foreign exchange contra¢ 0 107 ( 107
Total assets measured at fair ve $ 2,88t $ 46,67¢ $ 0 $49,56(
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contrac $ 0 $ 60€ $ 0 $ 60€
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September 26, 2009

Quoted Prices

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Instruments Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (a)
Assets:
Money market fund $ 1,60¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 1,60¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 0 3,61¢ 0 3,61¢
U.S. agency securitie 0 11,10° 0 11,107
Non-U.S. government securitis 0 321 0 321
Certificates of deposit and time depo: 0 1,714 0 1,714
Commercial pape 0 4,19 0 4,19
Corporate securitie 0 9,78¢ 0 9,78¢
Municipal securitie! 0 504 0 504
Marketable equity securitie 61 0 0 61
Foreign exchange contrac 0 37 ( 37
Total assets measured at fair ve $ 1,66¢ $ 31,28: $ 0 $32,95!
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contrac $ 0 $ 25 $ 0 $ 25

(&) The total fair value amounts for assets and liagdialso represent the related carrying amo!

The following table summarizes the Company’s asaetsliabilities measured at fair value on a réogrbasis as presented in the Company’
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 25,881 Geptember 26, 2009 (in millions):

September 25, 2010

Quoted Prices

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Instruments Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (a)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 2,75¢ $ 6,81¢ $ 0 $ 9,571
Shor-term marketable securiti 0 14,35¢ 0 14,35¢
Long-term marketable securitis 0 25,39 0 25,39
Other current asse 0 107 0 107
Other asset 132 0 ( 132
Total assets measured at fair ve $ 2,88¢ $ 46,67" $ 0 $49,56(
Liabilities:
Other current liabilitie: $ 0 $ 60€ $ 0 $ 60€
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September 26, 2009

Quoted Prices

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical
Instruments Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total (a)
Assets:
Cash equivalent $ 1,60¢ $ 2,51¢ $ 0 $ 4,12¢
Shor-term marketable securiti 0 18,20: 0 18,20!
Long-term marketable securitis 0 10,52¢ 0 10,52¢
Other current asse 0 37 0 37
Other asset 61 0 ( 61
Total assets measured at fair ve $ 1,66¢ $ 31,28: $ 0 $32,95!
Liabilities:
Other current liabilitie: $ 0 $ 25 $ 0 $ 25

(&) The total fair value amounts for assets and liabdialso represent the related carrying amol

Note 4— Consolidated Financial Statement Details

The following tables show the Compasytonsolidated financial statement details as qftedaber 25, 2010 and September 26, 200
millions):

Property, Plant and Equipment

2010 2009
Land and building: $1,471 $ 95t
Machinery, equipment and inter-use softwart 3,58¢ 1,932
Office furniture and equipmel 144 11F
Leasehold improvemen 2,03( 1,66¢

Gross property, plant and equipm 7,23¢ 4,667
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (2,46¢) 1,719
Net property, plant and equipme $ 4,76¢ $ 2,95¢
Accrued Expenses
2010 2009
Accrued warranty and related co $ 761 $ 577
Deferred margin on component sa 663 22k
Accrued compensation and employee ben 43€ 357
Accrued marketing and distributic 39¢ 35¢
Income taxes payab 21C 43C
Other current liabilitie: 3,251 1,904
Total accrued expens $5,72¢ $ 3,857
Non-Current Liabilities
2010 2009
Deferred tax liabilitie: $4,30( $2,21¢
Other nor-current liabilities 1,231 1,28¢
Total other no-current liabilities $ 5,531 $ 3,502
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Note 5 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company is currently amortizing its acquirethmngible assets with definite lives over periodegiag from three to ten years. 7

following table summarizes the components of grsd net intangible asset balances as of SepterBb@020 and September 26, 200¢
millions):

2010 2009

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Definite lived and amortizable acquired intangi
assets $ 487 $ (249 $ 24z $ 32¢ $ (176 $ 147
Indefinite lived and unamortizable tradema 10C 0 10C 10C 0 10C
Total acquired intangible asst $ 587 $ (245) $ 342 $ 42t $ (17€) $ 247

During 2010, the Company completed various busiaegsisitions for an aggregate cash consideratienpf cash acquired, of $638 milli
of which $535 million was allocated to goodwill a#i07 million to acquired intangible assets.

The Companys gross carrying amount of goodwill was $741 milliand $206 million as of September 25, 2010 ande®dper 26, 200
respectively. The Company did not have any goodmiflairment during 2010, 2009 or 2008. The Compsuggodwill is allocated primarily
the Americas reportable operating segment. Amortization expeptated to acquired intangible assets was $6omil$53 million and $4
million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. AsSefptember 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, ttghtediaverage amortization period
acquired intangible assets was 5.5 years and a3 yespectively.

Expected annual amortization expense related toigeztjintangible assets as of September 25, 2843 follows (in millions):

Years
2011 $ 83
2012 74
2013 39
2014 18
2015 17
Thereaftel 11
Total $242
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Note 6 — Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for the three yesrded September 25, 2010, consisted of the folig\immillions):

2010 2009 2008
Federal:
Current $2,15( $1,92: $1,79¢
Deferred 1,67¢ 1,077 49¢
3,82¢ 2,99¢ 2,292
State:
Current 65E 524 35¢
Deferred (115) (2) (25
54C 522 334
Foreign:
Current 282 34E 27¢
Deferred (121) (35) (75
161 31C 20C
Provision for income taxe $4,527 $3,831 $2,82¢

The foreign provision for income taxes is basedasaign pretax earnings of $13.0 billion, $6.6ibitl and $4.6 billion in 2010, 2009 and 2(
respectively. The Comparg/consolidated financial statements provide for eglgted tax liability on amounts that may be reptd, asid
from undistributed earnings of certain of the Compa foreign subsidiaries that are intended to befinidely reinvested in operations outs
the U.S. As of September 25, 2010, U.S. incomestdaave not been provided on a cumulative total 1.3 billion of such earnings. T
amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability rethto these temporary differences is estimatea tapgproximately $4.0 billion.

As of September 25, 2010 and September 26, 20@8 %8llion and $17.4 billion, respectively, of t@mpanys cash, cash equivalents
marketable securities were held by foreign subs&izand are generally based in U.S. dallanominated holdings. Amounts held by for
subsidiaries are generally subject to U.S. inccematton on repatriation to the U.S.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the&f of tax losses, credits, and the future inctaresffects of temporary differences betweer
consolidated financial statement carrying amouftxesting assets and liabilities and their respectax bases and are measured using er
tax rates that apply to taxable income in the yaavghich those temporary differences are expetddik recovered or settled.
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As of September 25, 2010 and September 26, 20@9significant components of the Compangeferred tax assets and liabilities were
millions):

2010 2009
Deferred tax asset
Accrued liabilities and other reserv $ 1,30¢ $1,03(
Basis of capital assets and investm 17¢ 18C
Accounts receivable and inventory reser 68 17z
Stoclk-based compensatic 30¢ 87
Other 55¢ 38¢
Total deferred tax asse 2,41z 1,852
Less valuation allowanc 0 0
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowg 2,41: 1,852
Deferred tax liabilities- Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiat 4,97¢ 2,77¢
Net deferred tax liabilitie $(2,56€) $ (929)

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxegth the amount computed by applying the statufederal income tax rate (35% in 2C
2009 and 2008) to income before provision for inedaxes for the three years ended September 28, B04s follows (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Computed expected t: $ 6,48¢ $4,22: $3,131
State taxes, net of federal effi 351 33¢ 217
Indefinitely invested earnings of foreign subsiiia (2,12%) (647) (500)
Research and development credit, (23) (84) (22)
Other (165 0 1

Provision for income taxe $ 4,527 $3,831 $2,82¢

Effective tax rate 24% 32% 32%

The Companys income taxes payable have been reduced by tHeeteefits from employee stock plan awards. Forkstptions, the Compal
receives an income tax benefit calculated as tfierdhce between the fair market value of the sieskied at the time of the exercise anc
option price, tax effected. For RSUs, the Compaggeives an income tax benefit upon the awmandsting equal to the tax effect of
underlying stocks fair market value. The Company had net excesbdaagfits from employee stock plan awards of $74kom, $246 millior
and $770 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respebtjwehich were reflected as increases to commocksto

Uncertain Tax Positions

Tax positions are evaluated in a tst@p process. The Company first determines whéthemore likely than not that a tax position whié
sustained upon examination. If a tax position méstsmore-likely-thamot recognition threshold it is then measured teiheine the amou
of benefit to recognize in the financial statemeftge tax position is measured as the largest atrafurenefit that is greater than 50% likely
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Comdessifies gross interest and penalties and ogrézed tax benefits that are not expe
to result in payment or receipt of cash within gear as non-current liabilities in the ConsolidaBadance Sheets.

As of September 25, 2010, the total amount of gursscognized tax benefits was $943 million, of ath$404 million, if recognized, wol
affect the Company’ effective tax rate. As of September 26, 2009,tth@ amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits $@71 million, ¢
which $307 million, if recognized, would affect t@®mpany’s effective tax rate.
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The aggregate changes in the balance of gross agmized tax benefits, which excludes interest aedafiies, for the three years en
September 25, 2010, is as follows (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Beginning Balanc: $ 971 50€ $47¢
Increases related to tax positions taken duringca pear 61 341 27
Decreases related to tax positions taken duringoa year (224 (24) (70
Increases related to tax positions taken duringtineent yea 24C 151 85
Decreases related to settlements with taxing aitithe (102) 0 0
Decreases related to expiration of statute of dtions 3 3 (11)
Ending Balanct $ 94z $971 $ 50¢

The Company includes interest and penalties reltathrecognized tax benefits within the provisfonincome taxes. As of September
2010 and September 26, 2009, the total amountosisgnterest and penalties accrued was $247 maiwh$291 million, respectively, whict
classified as nowurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance &keln 2010 and 2009, the Company recognized taneist benefit of $¢
million and interest expense of $64 million, redpady, in connection with tax matters.

The Company is subject to taxation and files incdanereturns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction andmany state and foreign jurisdictions.
U.S. federal income tax purposes, all years pna2d04 are closed. The Internal Revenue Serviee“(RRS”) has completed its field audit
the Companys federal income tax returns for the years 2004utiin 2006 and proposed certain adjustments. Thep@awynhas contest
certain of these adjustments through the IRS Agp€dfice. The IRS is currently examining the yea@97 through 2009. During the th
quarter of 2010, the Company reached a tax settiemith the IRS for the years 2002 through 2003cdmnection with the settlement,
Company reduced its gross unrecognized tax bermfig100 million and recognized a $52 million teenkfit in the third quarter of 2010.
addition, the Company is also subject to auditstaye, local and foreign tax authorities. In majtates and major foreign jurisdictions,
years subsequent to 1988 and 2001, respectivatgraky remain open and could be subject to exatioimdy the taxing authoritie

Management believes that an adequate provisiorbbas made for any adjustments that may result fiesmexaminations. However, 1
outcome of tax audits cannot be predicted withatety. If any issues addressed in the Compangk audits are resolved in a mannei
consistent with managemesitexpectations, the Company could be required jisstds provision for income tax in the period Buesolutiol
occurs. Although timing of the resolution and/oostire of audits is not certain, the Company doédalieve it is reasonably possible tha
unrecognized tax benefits would materially chamgthé next 12 months.

Note 7 — Shareholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compseation
Preferred Stock

The Company has five million shares of authorizesfgrred stock, none of which is issued or outstemdJnder the terms of the Compasay’
Restated Articles of Incorporation, the Board ofdators is authorized to determine or alter thatggpreferences, privileges and restrictior
the Company’s authorized but unissued shares éfnpeel stock.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two components,jnoeme and other comprehensive income. Other cehgmsive income refers
revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under GPAFRRcorded as an element of shareholdeypsity but are excluded from net income.
Company’s other comprehensive income consists
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of foreign currency translation adjustments frorasth subsidiaries not using the U.S. dollar as fioeictional currency, unrealized gains
losses on marketable securities categorized atableforsale, and net deferred gains and losses on celtaivative instruments accoun
for as cash flow hedges.

The following table summarizes the components ofZAMet of taxes, as of the three years ended Bdyate25, 2010 (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Net unrealized gains/losses on marketable sec $ 171 $ 4¢ $ (70
Net unrecognized gains/losses on derivative instnts (252 1 1<
Cumulative foreign currency translati 35 __ 28 42

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(lt $ (46 $ 77 $ 9

The change in fair value of available-feate securities included in other comprehensiverme was $123 million, $118 million and $(
million, net of taxes in 2010, 2009 and 2008, refipely. The tax effect related to the change imeatized gains/losses on available-$ate
securities was $(72) million, $(78) million and $4@lion for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The following table summarizes activity in othemgarehensive income related to derivatives, netawé$, held by the Company during
three years ended September 25, 2010 (in millions):

2010 2009 2008

Changes in fair value of derivativ $(180) $ 204 $ 7
Adjustment for net gains/losses realized and irexdlich net incom: (73 (222) 1z
Change in unrecognized gains/losses on derivatisteuiments $(259) $ (189 $ 19

The tax effect related to the changes in fair valtiglerivatives was $97 million, $(135) million a®g5) million for 2010, 2009 and 20!
respectively. The tax effect related to derivatijaéns/losses reclassified from other compreherisiveme to net income was $43 million, $.
million and $(9) million for 2010, 2009 and 2008spectively.

Employee Benefit Plans
2003 Employee Stock Plan

The 2003 Employee Stock Plan (the “2003 Plan”) shareholder approved plan that provides for biweskd equity grants to employe
including executive officers. The 2003 Plan perrtiis granting of incentive stock options, nonstatustock options, RSUs, stock apprecia
rights, stock purchase rights and performalpased awards. Options granted under the 2003 Rlagrally expire seven to ten years aftel
grant date and generally become exercisable oyariad of four years, based on continued employmeith either annual, senginnual o
guarterly vesting. In general, RSUs granted under2003 Plan vest over two to four years, are stibgethe employeegontinued employme
and are paid upon vesting in shares of the Compgaoginmon stock on a one-for-one basis. At the Coipa2010 annual meeting
shareholders, the 2003 Plan was amended to (Baserthe number of shares of the Commaogmmon stock that may be delivered purs
to awards granted under the 2003 Plan by an additi®6,000,000 shares and (ii) extend the Comaaythority to grant awards under
2003 Plan intended to qualify as “performance-basedrds"within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the U.Setnal Revenue Code throt
the 2015 annual meeting of shareholders. As ofedaper 25, 2010, approximately 62.5 million shareseareserved for future issuance ui
the 2003 Plan.
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1997 Employee Stock Option Plan

In August 1997, the Company’s Board of Directorpraped the 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan (the971®lan”), a norshareholde
approved plan for grants of stock options to empésywho are not officers of the Company. Optiomgd under the 1997 Plan genel
expire seven to ten years after the grant datestdltk options granted under the 1997 Plan arg ftdsted. In October 2003, the Comp
terminated the 1997 Plan, and no new options cajrdoged from this plan.

1997 Director Stock Plan

In August 1997, the Company’s Board of Directorse(tBoard”) adopted a Director Stock Option Plan, which wasseghbently renamed t
1997 Director Stock Plan (the “Director Plaid has been approved by shareholders. As ametha@eDjrector Plan (i) permits the Compi
to grant awards of RSUs or stock options to the gamy’s nonemployee directors, (ii) beginning February 25, @0drovides for automa
initial grants of RSUs upon a namployee director joining the Board and automatiouml grants of RSUs at each annual meetir
shareholders, and (iii) permits the Board to prospely change the relative mixture of stock opiand RSUs for the initial and annual av
grants and the methodology for determining the remaf shares of the Compasytommon stock subject to these grants withoutesiudde
approval. Each share issued with respect to RSalstepl under the plan reduces the number of shaadlalzle for grant under the plan by t
shares. The Director Plan expires November 9, 285%f September 25, 2010, approximately 199,0@0eshwere reserved for future issu
under the Director Plan.

Rule 10b-1 Trading Plans

During the fourth quarter of 2010, executive offed@imothy D. Cook, Peter Oppenheimer, D. Bruce @gwhilip W. Schiller and Bertral
Serlet had trading plans pursuant to Rule 10b5¢IYof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atedr(the “Exchange Act”A trading plal
is a written document that pestablishes the amounts, prices and dates (or farfou determining the amounts, prices and datésytore
purchases or sales of the Compangtock including the exercise and sale of emplasteek options and shares acquired pursuant 1
Company’s employee stock purchase plan and updimgesf RSUs.

Employee Stock Purchase P!

The Company has a shareholder approved employek gtochase plan (the “Purchase Planfder which substantially all employees 1
purchase the Comparsytommon stock through payroll deductions at aepeigual to 85% of the lower of the fair market ealwf the stock :
of the beginning and end of six-month offering pds. An employea’ payroll deductions under the Purchase Plan anigetil to 10% of th
employee’s compensation and emplogesiay not purchase more than $25,000 of stock rigrcalendar year. Additionally, no more tl
1,000,000 shares may be purchased in the aggrepatey one offering period. As of September 25, @0pproximately 3.8 million shai
were reserved for future issuance under the PuedRkzs.

Employee Savings Pl:

The Company has an employee savings plan (the ri§avPlan”)qualifying as a deferred salary arrangement undetiG 401(k) of th
Internal Revenue Code. Under the Savings Planicfsating U.S. employees may defer a portion ofrthee-tax earnings, up to the IRS anr
contribution limit ($16,500 for calendar year 2010he Company matches 50% to 100% of each emplsyeeitributions, depending on len
of service, up to a maximum 6% of the employeeigilede earnings. The Comparsymatching contributions to the Savings Plan wef2
million, $59 million and $50 million in 2010, 20Gthd 2008, respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units

A summary of the Company’RSU activity and related information for the thgeears ended September 25, 2010, is as followth@umsand:
except per share amounts):

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Number of Date Fair
Aggregate

Shares Value Intrinsic Value
Balance at September 29, 2( 4,67¢ $ 52.9¢
Restricted stock units grant 4,917 $162.6:
Restricted stock units vest (2,19 $ 25.6¢
Restricted stock units cancell (359 $119.1¢
Balance at September 27, 2( 7,04( $134.9:
Restricted stock units grant 7,78¢ $111.8(
Restricted stock units vest (1,93%) $124.87
Restricted stock units cancell (628) $121.2¢
Balance at September 26, 2( 12,26 $122.5;
Restricted stock units grant 6,17¢ $214.37
Restricted stock units vest (4,68t $119.8¢
Restricted stock units cancell (7229 $147.5¢

Balance at September 25, 2( 13,03¢ $165.6: $ 3,810,28

The fair value as of the vesting date of RSUs wabition, $221 million and $320 million for 2012009 and 2008, respectively. Upon ves!
the RSUs are generally net shasstled to cover the required withholding tax amel temaining amount is converted into an equivatemibe
of shares of common stock. The majority of RSU4 tested in 2010, 2009 and 2008, were stedre settled such that the Company witt
shares with value equivalent to the employeesiimum statutory obligation for the applicable ante and other employment taxes,
remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing autilesri The total shares withheld were approximateymillion, 707,000 and 857,000 for 20
2009 and 2008, respectively, and were based ovatlne of the RSUs on their vesting date as detexdhby the Compang’closing stock pric
Total payments for the employeedak obligations to the taxing authorities were $#@iion, $82 million and $124 million in 2010, 28Ganc
2008, respectively, and are reflected as a fingnativity within the Consolidated Statements oslC&lows. These nathare settlements
the effect of share repurchases by the Compangiegsreduced and retired the number of shares tbhatdnhave otherwise been issued
result of the vesting and did not represent an es@¢o the Company.
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Stock Option Activity

A summary of the Company’'stock option and RSU activity and related infaiorafor the three years ended September 25, 283, follow:
(in thousands, except per share amounts and ctudiderm in years):

QOutstanding Options

Weighted-
Weighted- Rg\rI:z;?n%r?g
Shares Average Contractual Aggregate
Available Number Exercise Intrinsic
for Grant of Shares Price Term Value

Balance at September 29, 2( 67,821 49,75 $ 43.9]
Restricted stock units grant (9,839 0 $ 0
Options grante! (9,359 9,35¢ $171.3¢
Options cancelle 1,23¢ (1,23¢) $ 98.4(
Restricted stock units cancell 714 0 $ 0
Options exercise 0 (138,72 $ 27.8¢
Plan shares expire (12) 0 $ 0
Balance at September 27, 2( 50,57- 44,14¢ $ 74.3¢
Restricted stock units grant (15,577) 0 $ 0
Options grante (2349 234 $106.8¢
Options cancelle 1,241 (1,247)  $122.9¢
Restricted stock units cancell 1,25¢ 0 $ 0
Options exercise 0 (8,769  $ 41.7¢
Plan shares expire (2) 0 $ 0
Balance at September 26, 2( 37,26 34,37" $ 81.1%
Additional shares authorize 36,00( 0 $ 0
Restricted stock units grant (12,35¢) 0 $ 0
Options grante: (34) 34 $202.0(
Options assume 0 98 $ 11.9¢
Options cancelle 43C (430) $136.2%
Restricted stock units cancell 1,44¢ 0 $ 0
Options exercise 0 (12,35) $ 62.6¢
Plan shares expire (8) 0 $ 0

Balance at September 25, 2( 62,737 21,72¢ $ 90.4¢ 2.8¢ $4,385,29

Exercisable at September 25, 2( 17,79: $ 77.7¢ 2.57 $3,817,66:

Expected to vest after September 25, 2 3,88( $148.0: 4.1z $ 559,88:

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the valughef@ompanys closing stock price on the last trading day ef fiscal period in excess of |
weightedaverage exercise price multiplied by the numberptions outstanding or exercisable. The aggregatiasic value excludes the eff
of stock options that have a zero or negativerisici value. Total intrinsic value of options at éirof exercise was $2.0 billion, $827 million
$2.0 billion for 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

RSUs granted are deducted from the shares avaftabgant under the Comparsystock option plans utilizing a factor of two tisnde numbe
of RSUs granted. Similarly, RSUs cancelled are dduiek to the shares available for grant undeCiimpanys stock option plans utilizing
factor of two times the number of RSUs cancelledts@nding RSU balances are not included in thstamtling options balances in the s
option activity table.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost for RSUs is meadiased on the closing fair market value of the Comifsacommon stock on the date
grant. Stock-based compensation cost for stoclonptand employee stock purchase plan rights (“spackhase rights”)s estimated at t
grant date and offering date, respectively, basedhe fair-value as calculated by the BSM optioieipg model. The BSM optiopricing
model incorporates various assumptions includingeeted volatility, expected life and interest rafdse expected volatility is based on
historical volatility of the Compang’ common stock over the most recent period commateswvith the estimated expected life of
Company'’s stock options and other relevant fadtokiding implied volatility in market traded optie on the Compang’common stock. Tl
Company bases its expected life assumption onisterical experience and on the terms and conditiohthe stock awards it grants
employees. The Company recognizes stock-based cmaipen cost as expense ratably on a straighblisés over the requisite service period.

The weightedaverage assumptions used for stock options gralaetbt apply to employee stock options assumeaijuaction with busine:
acquisitions during the year ended September 250.20he weighte@verage fair value of stock options assumed dutiiegyear ende
September 25, 2010 was $216.82. There were no sfaaéns assumed during 2009 and 2008. The weightetage assumptions used for
three years ended September 25, 2010, and thdimgsabtimates of weightealverage fair value per share of options granted ainstocl
purchase rights during those periods are as follows

2010 2009 2008
Expected life of stock optior 10 year 4.54 year 3.41 year
Expected life of stock purchase rig| 6 month: 6 month: 6 month:
Interest rate stock option: 3.71% 2.04% 3.40%
Interest rate stock purchase righ 0.25% 0.58% 3.48%
Volatility - stock options 36.30¥% 50.98¥% 45.64%
Volatility - stock purchase righ 33.28¥% 52.16¥% 38.51¥%
Dividend yields 0 0 0
Weightec-average fair value of stock options granted dutiegyeal $ 108.5¢ $ 46.7] $ 627
Weighter-average fair value of stock purchase plan rightsnduthe yeal $ 45.0¢ $ 30.62 $ 42.2]

The following table provides a summary of the stbeked compensation expense included in the CoasatidGtatements of Operations for
three years ended September 25, 2010 (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Cost of sale: $ 151 $ 114 $ 80
Research and developmt 328 25¢ 18t
Selling, general and administrati 40¢ 33¢ 251
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 87! $ 71 $ 51t

Stockbased compensation expense capitalized as softlemeopment costs was not significant as of Septéer2b, 2010 or September
2009. The income tax benefit related to stbelsed compensation expense was $314 million, $26i6mand $169 million for 2010, 2009 a
2008, respectively. The total unrecognized comp@rsacost related to stock options and RSUs expetdevest was $1.9 billion as
September 25, 2010, which is expected to be rezedriver a weighted-average period of 2.73 years.

Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments

The Company leases various equipment and facjlitietuding retail space, under noncancelable djpeydease arrangements. The Comy
does not currently utilize any other off-balanceedffinancing arrangements. The
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major facility leases are typically for terms nateeding 10 years and generally provide renewaboptfor terms not exceeding five additic
years. Leases for retail space are for terms rgnigom five to 20 years, the majority of which dog ten years, and often contain m-yeau
renewal options. As of September 25, 2010, the Gmylp total future minimum lease payments under norelabte operating leases w
$2.1 billion, of which $1.7 billion related to lezsfor retail space.

Rent expense under all operating leases, includirtiy cancelable and noncancelable leases, wasr@idn, $231 million and $207 million
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Future minimeasé payments under noncancelable operating Ibasgg) remaining terms in exces:
one year as of September 25, 2010, are as follmwsillions):

Years
2011 $ 26€
2012 267
2013 26C
2014 244
2015 22€
Thereaftel 82€
Total minimum lease paymer $2,08¢

Accrued Warranty and Indemnifications

The Company offers a basic limited parts and labarranty on its hardware products. The basic wayraeriod for hardware products
typically one year from the date of purchase byethé-user. The Company also offers ad@§-basic warranty for its service parts used pair
the Companys hardware products. The Company provides currdotlyhe estimated cost that may be incurred uitddrasic limited produ
warranties at the time related revenue is recogniBactors considered in determining appropriat¥uads for product warranty obligatic
include the size of the installed base of produsciisject to warranty protection, historical and podbgd warranty claim rates, historical
projected cost-per-claim, and knowledge of spegifioduct failures that are outside of the Comparypical experience. The Compi
assesses the adequacy of its gxisting warranty liabilities and adjusts the amisuas necessary based on actual experience andesha
future estimates.

The Company periodically provides updates to itpliaptions and system software to maintain thevemfé's compliance with publish:
specifications. The estimated cost to develop siyptates is accounted for as warranty costs thategegnized at the time related softv
revenue is recognized. Factors considered in d@tergnappropriate accruals related to such updatdade the number of units delivered,
number of updates expected to occur, and the iataost and estimated future cost of the res@uneeessary to develop these updates.

The following table reconciles changes in the Comypmaccrued warranty and related costs for the theaes ended September 25, 201(
millions):

2010 2009 2008

Beginning accrued warranty and related c $ 577 $ 671 $ 36°
Cost of warranty claim (713) (534) (493)
Accruals for product warran 897 44C 801

Ending accrued warranty and related ci $ 761 $ 577 $ 671

The Company generally does not indemnify eisdss of its operating system and application sofwagainst legal claims that the softv
infringes third-party intellectual property righther agreements entered into by
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the Company sometimes include indemnification iovis under which the Company could be subjecbstscand/or damages in the evel
an infringement claim against the Company or aemified thirdparty. However, the Company has not been requiredake any significa
payments resulting from such an infringement classerted against it or an indemnified thiatty and, in the opinion of management,
not have a potential liability related to unresalvefringement claims subject to indemnificatioratttwould materially adversely affect
financial condition or operating results. Therefdree Company did not record a liability for infg@ment costs as of either September 25,
or September 26, 2009.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesgswith its directors and executive officers. BInthese agreements, the Compan)
agreed to indemnify such individuals to the fullestent permitted by law against liabilities thaisa by reason of their status as directo
officers and to advance expenses incurred by sutiiduals in connection with related legal prodegd. It is not possible to determine
maximum potential amount of payments the Companydcbe required to make under these agreementdadtiee limited history of pric
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each claim. However, the @omg maintains directors and offic
liability insurance coverage to reduce its expostresuch obligations, and payments made under thgseements historically have

materially adversely affected the Company’s finahcondition or operating results.

Concentrations in the Available Sources of SupplyfdMaterials and Product

Although most components essential to the Comzabysiness are generally available from multiplerees, certain key components incluc
but not limited to microprocessors, enclosuresaietiquid crystal displays (“LCDs”"), certain opél drives and applicatiospecific integrate
circuits (“ASICs”) are currently obtained by the Company from singlémited sources, which subjects the Company gaificant supply an
pricing risks. Many of these and other key compémndhat are available from multiple sources inahgdbut not limited to NAND flas
memory, dynamic random access memory (‘DRAM”) amdltain LCDs, are subject at times to industigle shortages and significi
commodity pricing fluctuations. In addition, the i@pany has entered into certain agreements forupply of key components including |
not limited to microprocessors, NAND flash memd)RAM and LCDs at favorable pricing, but there isquarantee that the Company will
able to extend or renew these agreements on sifailarable terms, or at all, upon expiration oresthise obtain favorable pricing in the futt
Therefore, the Company remains subject to significesks of supply shortages and/or price incredises can materially adversely affect
financial condition and operating results.

The Company and other participants in the persoo@puter, and mobile communication and media devidastries also compete for vari
components with other industries that have expeednincreased demand for their products. In additihbe Company uses some cus
components that are not common to the rest of timekestries, and new products introduced by the @y often utilize custom compone
available from only one source. When a componemroduct uses new technologies, initial capacitysti@ints may exist until the suppliers’
yields have matured or manufacturing capacity haseased. If the Compa’s supply of a key singlseurced component for a new or exis
product were delayed or constrained, if such coraptmwere available only at significantly higheicps, or if a key manufacturing ven
delayed shipments of completed products to the @ompthe Compang’ financial condition and operating results coul rbateriall
adversely affected. The Compasybusiness and financial performance could alsadersely affected depending on the time requio
obtain sufficient quantities from the original soey or to identify and obtain sufficient quantiti'|®m an alternative source. Contini
availability of these components at acceptableegrior at all, may be affected if those suppliesided to concentrate on the productio
common components instead of components custontozexet the Company’s requirements.

Substantially all of the Compars/’Macs, iPhones, iPads, iPods, logic boards andr aiksembled products are now manufacture
outsourcing partners, primarily in various partsAsfa. A significant concentration of this outsoesicmanufacturing is currently performec
only a few outsourcing partners of the Companyeroft single locations. Certain of these outsogygartners are the soseurced supplier
components and manufacturing outsourcing for mdrie@Company’s key products including but not tiedi to final assembly
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of substantially all of the ComparsyMacs, iPhones, iPads and iPods. Although the @agnpvorks closely with its outsourcing partner:
manufacturing schedules, the Compangperating results could be adversely affecteits ibutsourcing partners were unable to meet
production commitments. The Company’s purchase ciements typically cover its requirements for pesadnging from 30 to 150 days.

Long-Term Supply Agreements

The Company has entered into prepaid ltemga supply agreements to secure the supply oéiceimiventory components, which gener
expire between 2011 and 2015. As of September @50,2the Company had a total of $956 million ofé@ntory component prepayme
outstanding, of which $157 million is classified@her current assets and $799 million is clagsiéie other assets in the Consolidated Ba
Sheets. In August 2010, the Company entered ifbagterm supply agreement under which it has commiibegrepay $500 million in 201
The Company had a total of $1.2 billion of invegtopmponent prepayments outstanding as of Septe2@@009. These prepayments wil
applied to certain inventory component purchasedenower the life of each respective agreement.

Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgs claims that have arisen in the ordinary coofseusiness and have not been 1
adjudicated, which are discussed in Part I, Iteofi Bis Form 10-K under the heading “Legal Procagdi” In the opinion of management,
Company does not have a potential liability relatedany current legal proceedings and claims thalevindividually or in the aggreg:
materially adversely affect its financial conditiam operating results. However, the results of llggaceedings cannot be predicted \
certainty. If the Company failed to prevail in anfythese legal matters or if several of these leggtters were resolved against the Compa
the same reporting period, the operating resultsdrticular reporting period could be materialtiversely affected.

On March 14, 2008Mirror Worlds, LLC filed an action against the Company alleging thetain of its products infringed on three pat
covering technology used to display files. On Oetob, 2010, a jury returned a verdict against tben@any, and awarded damages of ¢
million per patent for each of the three patentseded. The Company is challenging the verdictiebek it has valid defenses and has
recorded a loss contingency at this time.

Production and marketing of products in certainestaand countries may subject the Company to emwiemtal, product safety and ot
regulations including, in some instances, the meuiént to provide customers the ability to returodpict at the end of its useful life, and pl
responsibility for environmentally safe disposal recycling with the Company. Such laws and regofeti have been passed in se\
jurisdictions in which the Company operates, inglgdvarious countries within Europe and Asia andaie states and provinces within Nc
America. Although the Company does not anticipatg rmaterial adverse effects in the future basethemature of its operations and the tt
of such laws, there is no assurance that suchirexitstws or future laws will not materially advelsaffect the Company’ financial conditio
or operating results.

Note 9— Segment Information and Geographic Data

The Company reports segment information based erirnttanagementapproach. The management approach designatesténeainreportin
used by management for making decisions and arggssiformance as the source of the Company’s t@gersegments.

The Company manages its business primarily on argebic basis. Accordingly, the Company determiitsdoperating and reporti
segments, which are generally based on the natddogation of its customers, to be the AmericasoBe, Japan, AsiBacific and Rete
operations. The Americas, Europe, Japan and Radfic reportable segment results do not incledilts of the Retail segment. The Amer
segment includes both North and South America.Him@pe segment includes European countries, asaadéiie Middle East and

78



Table of Contents

Africa. The AsiaPacific segment includes Australia and Asia, buwgsdoot include Japan. The Retail segment opergipteAetail stores in :
countries, including the U.S. Each reportable djegasegment provides similar hardware and softwacelucts and similar services. -
accounting policies of the various segments areséinee as those described in Note 1, “Summary afiffignt Accounting Policies.”

The Company evaluates the performance of its opgraegments based on net sales and operating éddet sales for geographic segm
are generally based on the location of customehnfigviRetail segment net sales are based on salestire Company retail stores. Operati
income for each segment includes net sales to fharties, related cost of sales and operating esgsedirectly attributable to the segm
Advertising expenses are generally included in ghegraphic segment in which the expenditures areriad. Operating income for e:
segment excludes other income and expense andncerpenses managed outside the operating segm@osss excluded from segm
operating income include various corporate expersash as manufacturing costs and variances nbtded in standard costs, research
development, corporate marketing expenses, dtaskd compensation expense, income taxes, varionmseaurring charges, and ot
separately managed general and administrative.chistesCompany does not include intercompany trasdfetween segments for managet
reporting purposes. Segment assets exclude coepasaets, such as cash, short-term and temng-investments, manufacturing and corpc
facilities, miscellaneous corporate infrastructugepdwill and other acquired intangible assets.epkdor the Retail segment, capital a
purchases for lon@ived assets are not reported to management by esggiash payments for capital asset purchasesebRetail segme
were $392 million, $369 million and $389 millionrfa010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company has certain retail stores that have designed and built to serve as hjglfile venues to promote brand awareness and se
vehicles for corporate sales and marketing acdtisitiBecause of their unique design elements, wtatand size, these stores rec
substantially more investment than the Compamyore typical retail stores. The Company allocagtain operating expenses associated
its high-profile stores to corporate marketing exgeeto reflect the estimated Compamigle benefit. The allocation of these operatingtede
corporate expense is based on the amount incuorea fiighprofile store in excess of that incurred by a mtgpcal Company retail locatic
The Company had opened a total of 15 hpgbfile stores as of September 25, 2010. Amourndeatied to corporate expense resulting fron
operations of high-profile stores were $75 milli®65 million and $53 million for 2010, 2009 and 80@espectively.
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Summary information by operating segment for threahyears ended September 25, 2010 is as follownsillions):

2010 2009 2008
Americas:
Net sales $24,49¢ $18,98: $16,55:
Operating incomi $ 7,59( $ 6,65¢ $ 4,901
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 12 $ 12 $ 10
Segment assets ( $ 2,80¢ $ 1,89¢ $ 1,69:
Europe:
Net sales $18,69: $11,81( $ 9,23
Operating incom: $ 7,52« $ 4,29¢ $ 3,02:
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 9 $ 7 $ 6
Segment asse $ 1,92¢ $ 1,352 $ 1,06¢
Japan
Net sales $ 3,981 $ 2,27¢ $ 1,72¢
Operating incom: $ 1,84¢ $ 961 $ 54¢
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 3 $ 2 $ 2
Segment asse $ 991 $ 48¢ $ 272
Asia-Pacific:
Net sales $ 8,25¢ $ 3,17¢ $ 2,68¢
Operating incom: $ 3,641 $ 1,10( $ T74¢
Depreciation, amortization and accret $ 3 $ 3 $ 3
Segment asse $ 1,627 $ 52¢ $ 39C
Retail:
Net sales $ 9,79¢ $ 6,65¢€ $ 7,292
Operating incomt $ 2,36¢ $ 1,677 $ 1,661
Depreciation, amortization and accretion $ 167 $ 14€ $ 10€
Segment assets ( $ 1,82¢ $ 1,344 $ 1,13¢

(@) The Americas asset figures do not include fixecesheld in the U.S. Such fixed assets are notatial specifically to the Americ
segment and are included in the corporate and IRetsets figures beloy
(b) Retail segment depreciation and asset figuresctetfie cost and related depreciation of its retmites and related infrastructu

A reconciliation of the Company’segment operating income and assets to the ddetgal financial statements for the three yearse
September 25, 2010 is as follows (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Segment operating incon $22,97: $14,69: $10,88:
Other corporate expenses, net (3,70%) (2,247%) (2,039
Stoclk-based compensation expel (879) (710) (51€)

Total operating incom $18,38¢ $11,74( $ 8,32i
Segment asse $ 9,171 $ 5,60< $ 4,56:
Corporate asse 66,00¢ 41,89 31,60¢

Consolidated asse $75,18! $47,50! $36,17:
Segment depreciation, amortization and accre $ 19C $ 17C $ 12¢
Corporate depreciation, amortization and accre 837 564 367

Consolidated depreciation, amortization and acmne $ 1,02i $ 734 $  49¢
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(a) Other corporate expenses include research and apgweht, corporate marketing expenses, manufactuwrosgs and variances |
included in standard costs, and other separatelyaged general and administrative expenses, in@udértain corporate expen
associated with support of the Retail segm

No single country outside of the U.S. accountedrfamre than 10% of net sales in 2010, 2009 or 2@& of the Compars customel
accounted for 11% of net sales in 2009; there veasimgle customer that accounted for more than ©0%et sales in 2010 or 2008. Net s
and long-lived assets related to the U.S. andriatenal operations for the three years ended 8d#qe25, 2010, are as follows (in millions):

2010 2009 2008
Net sales
uU.S. $28,63: $22,32¢ $20,89:
International 36,59: 20,58( 16,59¢
Total net sale $65,22¢ $42,90¢ $37,49!
Long-lived assets
u.S. $ 4,29 $ 2,69¢ $ 2,26¢
International 71C 49t 41C
Total lon¢-lived asset: $ 5,002 $ 3,19: $ 2,67¢

Information regarding net sales by product forttivee years ended September 25, 2010, is as fo(iawsillions):

2010 2009 2008

Desktops (a $ 6,201 $ 4,32« $ 5,622
Portables (b 11,27¢ 9,53t 8,73:
Total Mac net sale 17,47¢ 13,85¢ 14,35

iPod 8,27¢ 8,091 9,15:
Other music related products and service:! 4,94¢ 4,03¢ 3,34(
iPhone and related products and service: 25,17¢ 13,03: 6,74
iPad and related products and service! 4,95¢ 0 0
Peripherals and other hardware 1,81« 1,47¢ 1,694
Software, service and other net sales 2,57: 2,411 2,20¢
Total net sale $65,22¢ $42,90¢ $37,49:

(@) Includes iMac, Mac mini, Mac Pro and Xserve prodinds.

(b) Includes MacBook, MacBook Air and MacBook Pro prodiines.

(c) Includes iTunes Store sales, iPod services, ande-branded and thi-party iPod accessorie

(d) Includes revenue recognized from iPhone salesgcagreements, services, and A-branded and thi-party iPhone accessori
(e) Includes revenue recognized from iPad sales, sss\daad Appl-branded and thi-party iPad accessorie

(H Includes sales of displays, wireless connectivitgt aetworking solutions, and other hardware access

(9) Includes sales of Apg-branded operating system and application softvthiel-party software, Mac and Internet servic

Note 10 — Related Party Transactions and Certain ®ier Transactions

The Company entered into a Reimbursement Agreemigntits CEO, Steve Jobs, for the reimbursemengxgfenses incurred by Mr. Jobt
the operation of his private plane when used fopl&pbusiness. The Company recognized a total ofcappately $248,000, $4,000 &
$871,000 in expenses pursuant to the Reimbursement
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Agreement during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectivdlyexpenses recognized pursuant to the Reimbuesteigreement have been include
selling, general and administrative expenses irCiresolidated Statements of Operations.

Note 11 — Selected Quarterly Financial InformationfUnaudited)

The following tables set forth a summary of the @amy’s quarterly financial information for each of theuf quarters ended Septembel
2010 and September 26, 2009 (in millions, excepshare amounts):

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarte First Quarter
2010
Net sales $ 20,34 $ 15,70( $ 13,49¢ $ 15,68:
Gross margir $ 7,512 $ 6,13¢€ $ 5,62t $ 6,411
Net income $ 4,30¢ $ 3,25: $ 3,07¢ $ 3,37¢
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 4.71 $ 3.57 $ 3.3¢ $ 3.74
Diluted $ 4.64 $ 3.51 $ Lt $ 3.67
2009
Net sales $ 12,20° $ 9,73¢ $ 9,08¢ $ 11,88(
Gross margit $ 5,10¢ $ 3,98 $ 3,62 $ 4,50i
Net income $ 2,53: $ 1,82¢ $ 1,62( $ 2,25¢
Earnings per common sha
Basic $ 2.82 $ 2.0t $ 1.82 $ 2.54
Diluted $ 2.71 $ 2.01 $ 1.7¢ $ 2.5C

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computdgbendently for each of the quarters presenteerefdre, the sum of quarterly basic
diluted per share information may not equal anhaaic and diluted earnings per share.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appte In

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgheets of Apple Inc. as of September 25, 208iGGaptember 26, 2009, and the rel
consolidated statements of operations, sharehodlagpsity and cash flows for the years then ended.s@Heancial statements are
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obt@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@ibove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated financial position of Apple |
at September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009,handonsolidated results of its operations and ashdlows for the years then endec
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounfinigciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stadsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo#ddnited States), Apple Ing.’
internal control over financial reporting as of &spber 25, 2010, based on criteria establisheliternal Control —Integrated Framewol

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatioihthe Treadway Commission and our report datetblidr 27, 2010 expressed

unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 27, 2010
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Appte In

We have audited Apple Inc.’s internal control ofirancial reporting as of September 25, 2010, basedriteria established internal Contro
— Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatwihthe Treadway Commission (“the COSO criteria®pple
Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting, amd its assessment of the effectivenes
internal control over financial reporting includéd the accompanying ManagementAnnual Report on Internal Control over Finar
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an mpiron the Company'’s internal control over finahegporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightf8g&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtabsonable assurance about whether effectiven@iteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal contka@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinaduthe design and operating effectiveness ofiratiecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @gess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregthe reliability of financit
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsdor external purposes in accordance with gelyeescepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdéhose policies and procedures that (1) pertathe¢anaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@gamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dcompany are being made only in accordance withogéizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanasisurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégibecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Apple Inc. maintained, in all masrespects, effective internal control over fineh reporting as of September 25, 2010, b
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo&United States), the 20
consolidated financial statements of Apple Inc. andreport dated October 27, 2010 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 27, 2010
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Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Apple Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidatednséates of operations, shareholdezguity, and cash flows for the year ended Septe2b
2008. These consolidated financial statementshareesponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspamian
on these consolidated financial statements basedioaudit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with genegdyepted auditing standards of the Public Compeartpunting Oversight Board (Unit
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrpy the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetattwether the financial statements are
of material misstatement. An audit also includeaneixing, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuats and disclosures in the finan
statements, assessing the accounting principles arse significant estimates made by managementeisas evaluating the overall financ
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the results of operations and
flows of Apple Inc. and subsidiaries for the yeaded September 27, 2008 in conformity with U.S.aegally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in note 1, the consolidated finarsti@ements for the year ended September 27, 2008 lfeen restated to give effect to
retrospective adoption of the Financial Accounti&tandards Board’ amended accounting standards related to revesnagnition fo
arrangements with multiple deliverables and arrareges that include software elements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
November 4, 2008, except as to note 1, which & danuary 25, 201
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atid the participation of the Company’s managemdrg, Companys principal executiv
officer and principal financial officer have condkd that the Company’s disclosure controls andguhoes as defined in Rules 1Ba(e) an
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act were effective asegt@nmber 25, 2010 to provide reasonable assur&atenformation required to
disclosed by the Company in reports that it fileswbmits under the Exchange Act is (i) recordedcg@ssed, summarized and reported w
the time periods specified in the Securities andhxge Commission rules and forms and (ii) accutedlaand communicated to
Companys management, including its principal executiveiceff and principal financial officer, as appropeiab allow timely decisior
regarding required disclosure.

Inherent Limitations Over Internal Controls

The Companys internal control over financial reporting is dged to provide reasonable assurance regardingettability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdar external purposes in accordance with GAARe Tompanys internal control ov
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that:

() pertain to the maintenance of records that, inareglsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
Compan'’s assets

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transaction®eoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiahstatements in accorda
with GAAP, and that the Compargyreceipts and expenditures are being made onpcaordance with authorizations of
Compan’s management and directors; ¢

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiotimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,use disposition of th
Compan'’s assets that could have a material effect onitlaadial statement:

Management, including the Company’s Chief Executféicer and Chief Financial Officer, does not egp¢hat the Company’ internz
controls will prevent or detect all errors andfedlud. A control system, no matter how well des@jaed operated, can provide only reason
not absolute, assurance that the objectives ofdh&ol system are met. Further, the design ofrarobsystem must reflect the fact that tt
are resource constraints, and the benefits of alsntnust be considered relative to their costsaBee of the inherent limitations in all con
systems, no evaluation of internal controls carvipie absolute assurance that all control issuesimstdnces of fraud, if any, have b
detected. Also, any evaluation of the effectiverafssontrols in future periods are subject to tis& that those internal controls may bec:
inadequate because of changes in business corgliiothat the degree of compliance with the petidr procedures may deteriorate.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing ardtaiging adequate internal control over finanaigborting (as defined
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Managementiacted an evaluation of the effectiveness of Goenpanys internal control ow
financial reporting based on the criteria set foithInternal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSponc
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS@#ased on the Compars/'assessment, management has concluded thatetsa
control over financial reporting was effective dsSeptember 25, 2010 to provide reasonable asseinagarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmen accordance with U.S. generally accepted atomy principles. The Compary’
independent registered public accounting firm, E€n¥oung LLP, has issued an audit report on then@any’s internal control over financ
reporting. The report on the audit of internal cohbver financial reporting appears on page 8thisf Form 10-K.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in the Comparigiternal control over financial reporting durithge fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, which were idited
in connection with management’s evaluation requbgharagraph (d) of rules 13a-15 and 1%5dunder the Exchange Act, that have matel
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, the Company’s internal control over finangigborting.

Item 9B. Other Information
Not applicable
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PART IlI

ltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by this Item is set foudhder the heading “Directors, Executive Officersd &Dorporate Governancdh the
Company’s 2011 Proxy Statement to be filed withth8. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SER§onnection with the solicitation
proxies for the Company’s 2011 Annual Meeting o&f&nolders (“2011 Proxy Statemendiid is incorporated herein by reference. Such |
Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 degfter the end of the fiscal year to which thjzore relates.

ltem 11. Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is set fouthder the headings “Executive Compensation” andrif@ensation Discussion and Analysis”
in the Company’s 2011 Proxy Statement and is imm@ed herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andMlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information required by this Item is set fomtder the headings “Security Ownership of Certagéndicial Owners and Managemeatic
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Compa 2011 Proxy Statement and is incorporated hdygireference.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by this Item is set foutider the heading “Review, Approval or RatificatmiTransactions with Related Persons”
the Company’s 2011 Proxy Statement and is incotpdraerein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this Item is set fotthder the heading “Fees Paid to Auditors” in then@any’s 2011 Proxy Statement ant
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

(@) Documents filed as part of this report

(1) All financial statements

Index to Consolidated Financial Statement Page
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theaes ended September 25, 21 46
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 28,86 September 26, 20 47
Consolidated Statements of Sharehol Equity for the three years ended September 25, 48
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theaes ended September 25, 2 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 50
Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudjit 82
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registd?eblic Accounting Firn 83
Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public@dunting Firrr 85

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omitatte the required information is not applicabtds not present in amounts sufficien
require submission of the schedule, or becausitbemation required is included in the consolidbfmancial statements and notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits required by Iltem 601 of Regulation &K
The information required by this Item is set fooththe exhibit index that follows the signature @ad this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, this 27th day of October 2010.

APPLE INC.

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Office

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each penmstose signature appears below constitutes anoirgpSteven P. Jobs ¢
Peter Oppenheimer, jointly and severally, his attgs-infact, each with the power of substitution, for Himany and all capacities, to sign
amendments to this Annual Report on FormKl@nd to file the same, with exhibits thereto atider documents in connection therewith,
the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereblyiragiand confirming all that each of said attorséyfact, or his substitute or substitu
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisated:

Name

/s/ Steven P. Jobs

STEVEN P. JOB¢

/s| Peter Oppenheimer

PETER OPPENHEIMER

/s/ Betsy Rafael

BETSY RAFAEL

/s/ William V. Campbell

WILLIAM V. CAMPBELL

/s/ Millard S. Drexler

MILLARD S. DREXLER

/s/ Albert Gore, Jr.

ALBERT GORE, JR

/s/ Andrea Jung

ANDREA JUNG

/s/ Arthur D. Levinson

ARTHUR D. LEVINSON

Title

Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice Presiden
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer

Vice Presiden

Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer
Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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October 27, 201

October 27, 201

October 27, 201

October 27, 201

October 27, 201
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Exhibit
Number

3.1

3.2
4.1
10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

14.1**

21.1%

23.1%*

23.2%*

24.1%

31.1%

31.2%

32.1%%*
101.INS****
101.SCH****
101.CAL****
101.DEF****
101.LAB****
101.PRE****

EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by

Reference

Filing Date/

Period End
Exhibit Description Form Date
Restated Articles of Incorporation, filed with t8ecretary of State of the State of California oy 10,
2009. 1C-Q 6/27/09
By-Laws of the Registrant, as amended through May@@9. 8-K  6/2/09
Form of Stock Certificate of the Registra 1C-Q 12/30/06
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended through
March 8, 2010 1C-Q 3/27/10
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Riegig and each director and executive officer e
Registrant 1C-Q 6/27/09
1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended thr@agbber 19, 2001 1C-K  9/28/02
1997 Director Stock Plan, as amended through Feps 2010 8-K  3/1/10
2003 Employee Stock Plan, as amended through Fgh2622010 8-K 3/1/10
Reimbursement Agreement dated as of May 25, 20GinHybetween the Registrant and Steven P.  1C-Q 6/29/02
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Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement efifecas of August 28, 200 1C-K  9/29/07
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The way we do business worldwide

Apple conducts business ethically, honestly, and in full compliance with all
laws and regulations. This applies to every business decision in every area of
the company worldwide.

Apple’s Principles of Business Conduct

Apple’s success is based on creating innovative, high-quality products and services and on
demonstrating integrity in every business interaction. Apple’s principles of business conduct
define the way we do business worldwide. These principles are:

* Honesty. Demonstrate honesty and high ethical standards in all business dealings.
» Respect. Treat customers, suppliers, employees, and others with respect and courtesy.

» Confidentiality. Protect the confidentiality of Apple’s information and the information of
our customers, suppliers, and employees.

» Compliance. Ensure that business decisions comply with all applicable laws and
regulations.

Your Responsibilities

Apple’s Business Conduct Policy and principles apply to employees, independent
contractors, consultants, and others who do business with Apple. All such individuals are
expected to comply with Apple’s Business Conduct Policy and principles and with all
applicable legal requirements. Apple retains the right to discipline (up to and including
termination of employment) or end working relationships with those who do not comply.

If you have knowledge of a possible violation of Apple’s Business Conduct Policy or
principles, other Apple policies, or legal or regulatory requirements, you are required to notify
either your manager (provided your manager is not involved in the violation), Human
Resources, Legal, Internal Audit, Finance, or the Business Conduct Helpline. If you have
knowledge of a potential violation and fail to report it, you may be subject to disciplinary
action.

When facing a tough decision:

» Use good judgment. Apply Apple’s principles of business conduct, review our policies,
review legal requirements, and then decide what to do.

* Need some help? When in doubt about how to proceed, discuss pending decisions with
your manager, your Human Resources representative, or the Legal Department. If you
need more support, contact the Business Conduct Helpline.

Retaliation is Not Tolerated

Apple will not retaliate—and will not tolerate retaliation—against any individual for filing a
good-faith complaint with management, HR, Legal, Internal Audit, Finance, or the Business
Conduct Helpline, or for participating in the investigation of any such complaint.
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To what extent may | use an existing
customer list to market other Apple

products or services?

Before using a customer list for marketing,
sales, or other activities, talk to your manager
or the Legal Department. Using an existing
customer list may or may not be appropriate.

Where can | learn more about information
protection and nondisclosure agreements?
View the Apple policy on Confidential,
Proprietary, and Trade Secret Information.

Where can | get a nondisclosure

agreement?

In the U.S., see the forms Apple provides for

nondisclosure agreements. Outside the U.S.,

consult your local Apple Legal representative.

As long as the information helps Apple,

why is the source of business intelligence

an issue?

Obtaining information illegally or unethically
could damage Apple’s reputation and in some
cases could subject Apple to legal liability. For
example, using illegally or unethically obtained
information in a bid to the government could
result in disqualification from future bidding
and in criminal charges.

May | keep my personal music on my
computer at work?

If you are authorized to make copies of the
music for personal use (for example, you own
the original CD or you purchased the music on
iTunes), you may keep the music on your
computer.
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Customer Focus

Every product we make and every service we provide is for our customers. Focus on
providing innovative, high-quality products and services and on demonstrating integrity in
every business interaction. Always apply Apple’s principles of business conduct.

Customer and Third-Party Information

Customers, suppliers, and others disclose confidential information to Apple for business
purposes. It is the responsibility of every Apple employee to protect and maintain the
confidentiality of this information. Failure to protect customer and third-party information may
damage relations with customers, suppliers, or others and may result in legal liability. See the
Apple Customer Privacy Policy.

Nondisclosure Agreements

When dealing with a supplier, vendor, or other third party, never share confidential
information without your manager’s approval. Also, never share confidential information
outside Apple (for example, with vendors, suppliers, or others) unless a nondisclosure
agreement is in place. These agreements document the need to maintain the confidentiality
of the information. Original copies of nondisclosure agreements must be forwarded to the
Legal Department. Always limit the amount of confidential information shared to the minimum
necessary to address the business need.

Obtaining and Using Business Intelligence

Apple legitimately collects information on customers and markets in which we operate. Apple
does not seek business intelligence by illegal or unethical means, and competitors may not
be contacted for the purpose of obtaining business intelligence. Sometimes information is
obtained accidentally or is provided to Apple by unknown sources. In such cases, it may be
unethical to use the information, and you should immediately contact your manager, the
Legal Department, or the Business Conduct Helpline to determine how to proceed.

Third-Party Intellectual Property

It is Apple’s policy not to knowingly use the intellectual property of any third party without
permission or legal right. If you are told or suspect that Apple may be infringing an intellectual
property right, including patents, copyrights, trademarks, or trade secrets owned by a third
party, you should contact the Legal Department.

Copyright-Protected Content

Never use or copy software, music, videos, publications, or other copyright-protected content
at work or for business purposes unless you or Apple are legally permitted to use or make
copies of the protected content. Never use Apple facilities or equipment to make or store
unauthorized copies.



Are business meals, travel, and
entertainment considered gifts?

Yes. Anything of value given or received is
considered a gift.

Can | avoid these rules if | pay for gifts to
customers or business associates myself?

No. If the gift is given for business reasons and
you are representing Apple, the gift rules
apply.

What is an example of a kickback?

Apple provides discounts to certain customers.
However, if a customer gets an inappropriate
discount, and a sales representative gets a
payment in return, this is a kickback.

What is an example of a side deal?

In a sales environment, a side deal may
involve a guarantee to accept back unsold
products or other special agreements to
encourage certain customers to place larger
orders. Such a side deal, whether written or
oral, can impact Apple’s potential liability with
respect to that transaction and may make it
inappropriate for Apple to recognize revenue
on the products sold, affecting the accuracy of
Apple’s books and records. Side deals or side
letters made outside of Apple’s formal
contracting and approvals process are strictly
prohibited.
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Giving and Receiving Business Gifts

Employees may not give or receive gifts or entertainment to or from current or potential
vendors, suppliers, customers, or other business associates unless all of the following
conditions are met:

* Nominal value. The value of the gift is less than US$150. Exceptions must be approved
by your Vice President (for Vice President—level employees, exceptions must be approved
by your manager).

» Customary. The item is a customary business gift and would not embarrass Apple if
publicly disclosed. Cash is never an acceptable gift. Giving or receiving cash is viewed as
a bribe or kickback and is always against Apple policy.

* No favored treatment.
treatment.

The purpose of the gift is not to obtain special or favored

» Legal. Giving or accepting the gift is legal in the location and under the circumstances
where given.

» Recipient is not a government official. ~ Never provide a gift, including meals,
entertainment, or other items of value, to a U.S. or foreign government official without
checking with Government Affairs in advance. See page 7 for more information on gifts to
government officials.

This policy does not preclude Apple as an organization from receiving and evaluating
complimentary products or services. It is not intended to preclude Apple from giving
equipment to a company or organization, provided the gift is openly given, consistent with
legal requirements, and in Apple’s business interests. The policy also does not preclude the
attendance of Apple employees at business-related social functions, if attendance is
approved by management and does not create a conflict of interest.

Important Note: Certain departments (e.g., Operations and Retail) have more restrictive gift
policies, which may prohibit giving or receiving gifts altogether. Employees in those
departments must adhere to those stricter policies.

Kickbacks

Kickbacks are payments or items of value given to individuals in connection with the
purchase or sale of products or services, typically for providing a discount in a sales
agreement. Employees are prohibited from giving or receiving kickbacks.

Side Deals or Side Letters

All of the terms and conditions of agreements entered into by Apple must be formally
documented. Contract terms and conditions define the key attributes of Apple’s rights,
obligations, and liabilities and can also dictate the accounting treatment given to a
transaction. Making business commitments outside of the formal contracting process,
through side deals, side letters, or otherwise, is unacceptable. You should not make any oral
or written commitments that create a new agreement or modify an existing agreement without
approval through the formal contracting process. In particular, all commitments must have
visibility to Finance so Apple can ensure it is properly accounting for each transaction. If you
have knowledge of any side deal, side letter, or agreement made outside of the formal
contracting process, you should report it immediately to your manager, your Human
Resources representative, or the Legal Department. You may also contact the Business
Conduct Helpline.



What can | do if a reseller complains to me
about low prices at another reseller?
Advise the reseller that you can’t discuss or
attempt to influence pricing of other parties,
since this could violate antitrust laws.

How should I handle customer inquiries
about resellers and service providers?

Apple resellers and service providers are key
members of the Apple family. They promote
and sell Apple products, and they provide
service and support to Apple customers.
Accordingly, you should never make
disparaging remarks to customers about
resellers or service providers.

What is an example of an endorsement?

A friend writes a great book on software
design and asks you to endorse the book by
making a statement on the back cover. If you
make such an endorsement, don’t include your
job title or affiliation with Apple.
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Competition and Trade Practices

Laws regulating competition and trade practices vary around the world, but certain activities,
such as price fixing and agreeing with a competitor to allocate customers, are almost always
illegal and are absolutely prohibited under Apple policy.

You should not:

» Agree with competitors or exchange information with competitors on prices, policies,
contract terms, costs, inventories, marketing plans, or capacity plans.

» Agree with a competitor that the competitor will sell goods and services to Customer A
(and you will not), and that you will sell goods and services to Customer B (and your
competitor will not).

» Agree with resellers on the resale pricing of Apple products without Legal Department
approval.

» Require vendors to purchase Apple products in order to sell products or services to Apple.

» Describe the products or services of competitors inaccurately to promote Apple products
or services.

» Engage in any pricing or other practices that could defraud a supplier or others.

 Violate fair bidding practices, including bidding quiet periods, or provide information to
benefit one vendor over other vendors.

Endorsements

When representing Apple, never endorse a product or service of another business or an
individual, unless the endorsement has been approved by your manager and Corporate
Communications. This does not apply to statements you may make in the normal course of
business about third-party products that are sold by Apple.

Open Source Software

Open source software is software for which the source code is available without charge
under a free software or open source license. Before using or modifying any open source
software for Apple infrastructure or as part of an Apple product or service development effort,
you must review Apple’s Open Source Policy and contact the Legal Department for approval
using the forms referenced in that policy.



Tell me more about pricing products that are sold

to governments.

Governments shouldn’t be charged more for our
products or services than Apple charges other
customers for the same products or services. There
are laws that make it a crime to overcharge the U.S.

government. Some other countries have similar laws.

Can | avoid a gift limitation by paying for a gift,
such as lunch or golf, myself?

No. If you are representing Apple, any gift to a
government employee would be viewed as coming
from Apple.

What is considered a gift to a U.S. or

foreign official?

In most cases, anything of value that is given is
considered a gift. This includes items such as meals,
golf, entertainment, and product samples. Cash is
never an acceptable gift. Typically, giving cash is
viewed as a bribe or kickback and is against Apple
policy.

Who is considered a government official?

Any official or employee of a government, a public
international organization (such as the European
Commission), any department or agency thereof, or
any person acting in an official capacity. It can also
include employees of a state-run or state-owned
business, such as a public utility or university.
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Governments as Customers

Governments are unique customers for Apple. Governments often place special
bidding, pricing, disclosure, and certification requirements on firms with which they do
business. Discuss these requirements with Government Affairs or your local Apple
Legal representative before bidding for government business. For example, Apple may
have to certify that it is supplying the government with the lowest price charged to
Apple’s commercial customers. Apple may also have to certify that its prices have been
arrived at independently—that is, without collaboration with a third party.

Gifts to U.S. Officials

It may be illegal to give a gift, even an inexpensive meal or a T-shirt, to a government
employee. The rules vary depending on the location and job position of the government
employee (for example, rules may vary by state, school district, and city, and there may
be different rules for various elected and nonelected officials).

To prevent violations, review planned gifts to government officials with Government
Affairs in advance of giving a gift.

Gifts to Non-U.S. Officials

In many countries it is considered common courtesy to provide token/ceremonial gifts to
government officials on certain occasions to help build relationships. Check local
requirements and review any such gifts exceeding US$25 in advance with the Legal
Department. For meals, the US$25 limit does not necessarily apply. Check here for
value limits by country on meals to non-U.S. public officials and employees. Meals at
any value should be avoided with officials from government agencies where Apple has
a pending application, proposal, or other business.

No Bribery or Corruption

Offering or giving anything of value to a government official for the purpose of obtaining
or retaining business or to secure any improper advantage is illegal. Apple personnel
shall not offer or accept bribes or use other inappropriate means to obtain an undue or
improper advantage, or otherwise violate U.S. or international anticorruption laws and
regulations (e.g., the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act).

For additional information, see Apple’s Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Policy.

Political Contributions

Apple contributes selectively to political candidates and committees. All corporate
political contributions, whether monetary or in-kind (such as the donation/lending of
equipment or technical services to a campaign), must be approved in advance by Apple
Government Affairs. Employees may not use Apple assets (including employee work
time, or use of Apple premises, equipment, or funds) to personally support candidates
and campaigns. It is illegal for Apple to reimburse an employee for a contribution. For
more information, see the Apple Corporate Political Compliance Policy and the Political
Contributions and Expenditures Policy.



What should I do if I' m interested in hiring a
current or recent government employee?
Contact Government Affairs before beginning
any negotiations to hire a current or recent
government, military or other public sector

employee as an Apple employee or consultant.

How do | get more information regarding
Apple’s environmental, health, and safety
programs?

Visit the Environment+Safety site.

What if | want to get more involved in
community activities?
Contact Community Affairs. This group

promotes, supports, and facilitates employees’

involvement in community volunteer activities.
Outside the U.S., check with your local Public
Relations team.
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Charitable Donations

Employees are encouraged to support charitable causes of their choice, as long as that
support is provided without the use or furnishing of Apple assets (including employee work
time, or use of Apple premises, equipment, or funds). Any charitable donations involving
Apple assets require the approval of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer.
For additional information, see Finance Policy 1.10.

Hiring Government Employees

Laws often limit the duties and types of services that former government, military or other
public sector employees may perform as employees or consultants of Apple. Employment
negotiations with government employees are prohibited while the employees are participating
in a matter involving Apple’s interests.

Trade Restrictions and Export Controls

Many countries periodically impose restrictions on exports and other dealings with certain
other countries, persons, or groups. Export laws may control trading of commodities or
technologies that are considered to be strategically important because they have the
potential to be used for military purposes. Laws may cover travel to or from a sanctioned
country, imports or exports, new investments, and other related topics. Certain laws also
prohibit support of boycott activities. See Apple’s Export Control policy for more information.

If your work involves the sale or shipment of products, technologies, or services across
international borders, check with the Export Department to ensure compliance with any laws
or restrictions that apply.

Environment, Health, and Safety (EHS)

Apple operates in a manner that conserves the environment and protects the safety and
health of our employees. Conduct your job safely and consistent with applicable EHS
requirements. Use good judgment and always put the environment, health, and safety first.
Be proactive in anticipating and dealing with EHS risks.

In keeping with our commitment to the safety of our people, Apple will not tolerate workplace
violence. For additional information, review Apple’s Workplace Violence policy.

Community Activities

At Apple, we comply with all laws and regulations and operate in ways that benefit the
communities in which we conduct business. Apple encourages you to uphold this
commitment to the community in all your activities.

If you hold an elected or appointed public office while employed at Apple, advise Government
Affairs. Excuse yourself from involvement in any decisions that might create or appear to
create a conflict of interest.



What are assets?

Assets include Apple’s extremely valuable
proprietary information (such as intellectual
property, confidential business plans,
unannounced product plans, sales and
marketing strategies, and other trade secrets);
as well as physical assets like cash,
equipment, supplies, and product inventory.

Where can | learn more about information
protection and nondisclosure agreements?
View the Apple policy on Confidential,
Proprietary, and Trade Secret Information.

If | believe that it is appropriate to disclose
confidential proprietary information to a
vendor or other third party, what should |

do?

First, verify that there is a business need for
the disclosure. Second, obtain your manager’s
approval for the disclosure. Third, be sure that
a nondisclosure agreement is in place with the
vendor or third party, and that you forward the
original copy of the agreement to the Legal
Department. If you are still unsure, check with
the Legal Department before making the
disclosure.

How do | identify confidential Apple
information in documents?
Mark these documents “Apple Confidential.”

What if | have a specific question on the
use of the Apple name, names of products
or services, or the Apple logo?

Please direct questions about the Apple
corporate identity to corpID@apple.com.

How can | find out more about patents?
Visit Apple’s Patent Information site.
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Protecting Apple’s Assets and Information

As an Apple employee you must protect Apple’s property and abide by the following
guidelines:

Follow all security procedures and be on the lookout for any instances you believe could
lead to loss, misuse, or theft of company property.

» Protect physical assets such as equipment, supplies, cash, and charge cards.

» Use extreme care to protect Apple’s proprietary information from improper disclosure to
third parties. This information includes technical product information, information related to
current and future products and services, confidential market research, sales and
marketing plans, nonpublic earnings or financial data, and organizational charts and
information.

» Follow procurement policies and procedures when acquiring goods or services on behalf
of Apple, avoiding any real or apparent conflict of interest. For more information on
procurement policies and procedures, talk to your manager or visit Apple Procurement.

» Use Apple’s assets in a manner that prevents damage, waste, misuse, or theft. Use assets
only for legal and ethical purposes.

» Dispose of assets only with appropriate approval and in compliance with applicable
policies. Before disposing of assets, discuss your plans with your manager.

Confidential Apple Information

One of Apple’s greatest assets is information about our products and services, including
future product offerings. Never disclose confidential operational, financial, trade secret, or
other business information without verifying with your manager that such disclosure is
appropriate. Typically, disclosure of this information is very limited, and the information may
be shared with vendors, suppliers, or other third parties only after a nondisclosure agreement
is in place. Even within Apple, confidential information should be shared only on a need-to-
know basis. The Intellectual Property Agreement you signed when you joined Apple defines
your duty to protect information.

The Apple Identity and Trademarks

The Apple name, names of products (such as iPhone), hames of services (such as
AppleCare), tag lines (such as “Don’t steal music”), and logos (such as the familiar Apple
logo) collectively create the Apple identity. Before publicly using the Apple name, product
names, service names, tag lines, or the Apple logo, review Apple’s corporate identity
guidelines on how names and logos can be used and presented (for example, the size of the
Apple logo and the amount of white space surrounding the logo). Before using the product
names, service names, tag lines, or logos of third parties, check with the Legal Department.

Apple Inventions, Patents, and Copyrights

Apple’s practice is to consider for patenting the inventions of its employees, regardless of
whether the inventions are implemented in actual products. If you are involved in product
development, you should contact the Legal Department regarding the patentability of your
work. Be alert to possible infringement of Apple’s patents and bring any possible
infringements directly to the Legal Department.

If you create original material for Apple that requires copyright protection, such as software,
place Apple’s copyright notice on the work and submit a copyright disclosure form to the
Legal Department. For more information, visit the Apple Copyright Information site.



How can | learn more about procedures for
meals and travel?

See Apple’s Travel policy or talk to your
manager.

If | suspect money laundering, what should
I do?

Advise your manager or contact the Apple
Legal Department.

Business Conduct 10
The way we do business worldwide
July 2010

Activities Related to Technical Standards

There are numerous organizations that develop or promote technical standards (e.g., W3C,
OASIS, INCITS, IEEE, ETSI). Before engaging in activities related to technical standards,
including, for example, joining a standards organization or working group, contributing
technology to a standard, or using a standard in the development of an Apple product,
employees must receive management and Legal approval. For additional information, see
Apple’s Standards Legal Policy.

Accuracy of Records and Reports

Accurate records are critical to meeting Apple’s legal, financial, and management obligations.
Ensure that all records and reports, including customer information, technical and product
information, correspondence, and public communications, are full, fair, accurate, timely, and
understandable.

Never misstate facts, omit critical information, or modify records or reports in any way to
mislead others, and never assist others in doing so.

Business Expenses

All employees must observe policies and procedures regarding business expenses, such as
meal and travel expenses, and submit accurate expense reimbursement requests.
Guidelines on daily meal expenses vary worldwide.

Establishing Bank Accounts

All Apple bank accounts must be approved and established by Apple’s Treasury Department.
All payments must be made by recordable and traceable methods. For more information,
contact the Treasury Department.

Loans, Advances, and Guarantees

Other than through established corporate programs, such as programs for employee
relocation and the cashless exercise of stock options, Apple does not provide loans or
advances of corporate funds to its employees, officers, Board members, or their families and
does not guarantee their obligations.

Money Laundering

Money laundering is the process by which individuals or organizations try to conceal illicit
funds or make these funds look legitimate. If you are in a position to deal directly with
customers or vendors, the following examples may be indications of potential money
laundering:

» Attempts to make large payments in cash

» Payments by someone who is not a party to the contract

» Requests to pay more than provided for in the contract

» Payments made in currencies other than those specified in the contract
« Payments from an unusual, nonbusiness account



Tell me more about “legal holds.”

In a litigation case or other legal matter, Apple
may be required to produce documents. In
these cases the Legal Department may put a
“legal hold” on certain documents to prevent
the documents from being destroyed, altered,
or modified. If it is found that Apple has failed
to retain or produce required documents,
penalties or adverse rulings may result.
Adverse rulings in major litigation cases can
cost Apple a significant amount of money.
Failure of employees to retain and preserve
documents placed on a legal hold may result
in discipline or discharge.
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Document Retention and Legal Hold

As an Apple employee, you have a responsibility to manage documents and make decisions
on document retention. The definition of “document” is extremely broad. For example, every
email or other electronic file, every customer record, and every transaction involves the
creation of a document. Different documents have different retention periods. Check with your
manager or contact Records Management to determine the appropriate retention period for
documents in your area.

At times, Apple may need to retain documents beyond the period they would normally be
retained. The most common reasons are litigation or other legal matters. In these situations,
retention and preservation of documents is critical. If you have documents that may be
required for litigation or other legal matters, the Legal Department will place those documents
on a “legal hold,” meaning the documents cannot be altered, destroyed, deleted, or modified in
any manner. Legal will notify the individuals most closely identified with the documents about
the legal hold and will provide instructions for retaining the documents. Recipients of a legal
hold must ensure that these instructions are followed. A legal hold remains in effect until you
are notified by the Legal Department in writing.



Can you give an example of conflicts of
interest or potential divided loyalty?

Your brother-in-law owns a business, that
business is being considered as a vendor for
Apple, and you are one of the decision
makers.

Am | allowed to develop outside iPhone or
iPad apps on my own time?

No. Employees are not permitted to have any
involvement in the development of outside
iPhone or iPad apps, either alone or jointly
with others.

May | occasionally use my Apple email
address for my outside business?

Limited personal use of your Apple email is
permitted for activities such as sending a brief
message to a friend. You may never use your
Apple email for an outside business.

I’'m working on an invention on my own

time. Does Apple need to know?

If your invention relates to your job at Apple or
could compete with current or reasonably
anticipated future products or services of
Apple, disclose the invention to your manager.

May | serve on the board of directors of an
outside enterprise or organization?

If you plan to serve on a board, you must
obtain approval from your manager and the
Senior Vice President for your organization. In
addition, Vice Presidents and Executive Team
members must obtain the approval of their
manager and the CEO before they can accept
a position on the board of directors of a private
or publicly traded company (other than
nonprofit entities).
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Conflicts of Interest

A conflict of interest is any activity that is inconsistent with or opposed to Apple’s best
interests, or that gives the appearance of impropriety or divided loyalty. Avoid any situation
that creates a real or perceived conflict of interest. Use good judgment, and if you are unsure
about a potential conflict, talk to your manager, contact Human Resources, check with the
Legal Department, or contact the Business Conduct Helpline.

Do not conduct Apple business with family members or others with whom you have a
significant personal relationship. In rare cases where exceptions may be appropriate, written
approval from the Senior Vice President for your organization is required.

You shouldn’t use your position at Apple to obtain favored treatment for yourself, family
members, or others with whom you have a significant relationship. This applies to product
purchases or sales, investment opportunities, hiring, promoting, selecting contractors or
suppliers, and any other business matter. This does not apply to special purchase plans
offered by Apple. If you believe you have a potential conflict involving a family member or
other individual, disclose it to your manager.

Outside Employment and Inventions

Full-time Apple employees must notify their manager before taking any other employment. In
addition, any employee (full-time or part-time) who obtains additional outside employment,
has an outside business, or is working on an invention must comply with the following rules.

Do not:

» Use any time at work or any Apple assets for your other job, outside business, or
invention. This includes using Apple workspace, telephones, computers, Internet access,
copy machines, and any other Apple assets or services.

» Use your position at Apple to solicit work for your outside business or other employer, to
obtain favored treatment, or to pressure others to assist you in working on your invention.

» Use confidential Apple information to benefit your other employer, outside business, or
invention.

» Participate in an outside employment activity that could have an adverse effect on your
ability to perform your duties at Apple.

» Participate in an outside business or outside employment, or develop an invention, that is
in an area of Apple’s present or reasonably anticipated future business.

Before participating in inventions or businesses that are in the same area as your work for
Apple or that compete with or relate to present or reasonably anticipated Apple products or
services, you must have written permission from your manager, an Apple product law
attorney, and the Senior Vice President of your organization. For additional information, see
Apple’s policy on Conflicts of Interest.



| have stock in companies that do business
with Apple. Is this a problem?

It's unlikely that this is a problem. However, it
could be a concern if (1) you're influencing a
transaction between Apple and the company,
and (2) the transaction is significant enough to
potentially affect the value of your investment.

How do | know whether information is
material?

Determining what constitutes material
information is a matter of judgment. In general,
information is material if it would likely be
considered important by an investor buying or
selling the particular stock.

Does Apple’s policy apply to buying or

selling stock in other companies?

Yes. For example, say you learn about a
customer’s nonpublic expansion plans through
discussions about hardware purchases. If you
purchase stock in the customer’'s company or
advise others to do so, it could be viewed as
insider trading.

What is harassment?

Harassment can be verbal, visual, or physical
in nature. Specific examples of prohibited
harassing conduct include, but are not limited
to: slurs, jokes, statements, notes, letters,
electronic communication, pictures, drawings,
posters, cartoons, gestures, and unwelcome
physical contact that are based on an
individual’'s protected class.

Need more information?

In the U.S., refer to Apple’s Harassment policy.

Qutside the U.S., contact Human Resources.
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Personal Investments

Many Apple employees have investments in publicly traded stock or privately held
businesses. These personal investments may give rise to a conflict of interest if you are
involved in or attempt to influence transactions between Apple and a business in which you
are invested. If a real or apparent conflict arises, disclose the conflict to your manager. The
manager will help determine whether a conflict exists and, if appropriate, the best approach
to eliminate the conflict.

Workplace Relationships

Personal relationships in the workplace may present an actual or perceived conflict of interest
where one individual in the relationship may be in a position to make or influence
employment decisions regarding the other. If you find yourself in such a relationship, you
must notify Human Resources so they may assist you in resolving any potential conflicts.
Employees should not allow their relationships to disrupt the workplace or interfere with their
work or judgment. For additional information, see Apple’s policy on Personal Relationships.

Buying and Selling Stock

Never buy or sell stock while you are in possession of information obtained through your
employment at Apple that has not been publicly announced and could have a material effect
on the value of the stock. This applies to decisions to buy or sell Apple securities and to
investments in other companies. It is also against Apple policy and may be illegal to give
others, such as friends and family, tips on when to buy or sell stock while you are in
possession of material, nonpublic information concerning that stock.

In addition, employees are prohibited from investing in derivatives of Apple’s securities. This
includes, but is not limited to, trading in put or call options related to securities of the
company.

Members of Apple’s Board of Directors, executive officers, and certain other individuals are
subject to blackout periods during which they are prohibited from trading in Apple stock. If
you are subject to these restrictions, you will be notified by the Legal Department. Even if you
are subject to blackout periods, you may never buy or sell stock while you are in possession
of material, nonpublic information.

Review Apple’s Insider Trading policy. Specific questions on buying and selling stock should
be referred to the Legal Department.

Harassment and Discrimination

Apple encourages a creative, culturally diverse, and supportive work environment. Apple
does not tolerate harassment or discrimination based on factors such as race, color, sex,
sexual orientation, gender identity characteristics or expression, religion, national origin, age,
marital status, disability, medical condition, veteran status, or pregnancy. Additional
restrictions may apply based on regional laws and regulations.

These requirements apply to interactions with employees, customers, suppliers, and
applicants for employment and any other interactions where you represent Apple.

If you feel that you have been harassed or discriminated against or have withessed such
behavior, report the situation to a manager or to Human Resources. You may also contact
the Business Conduct Helpline.



Where can | learn more about policies on
confidential employee information?
View the Apple Safe Harbor Privacy Policy.

Is personal information on my computer
system private?

Limited personal use of Apple equipment and
systems is allowed, but subject to local
regulations, Apple may monitor equipment and
systems. If in doubt, check with the Legal
Department.

If I make a presentation on my own time,

may | accept a payment?

That depends. If you are representing Apple,
you may not accept payment. If you are on
your own time and are not representing Apple,
you may be allowed to accept payment. Before
accepting this type of opportunity, check with
your manager, Human Resources, or the
Business Conduct Helpline.

What if | have a substance abuse issue?

Help yourself and Apple by taking action. Talk
to your Human Resources representative or, in
the U.S., view information on the Employee
Assistance Program.
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Confidential Employee Information

As part of your job, you may have access to personal information regarding other Apple
employees or applicants, including information regarding their employment history, personal
contact information, compensation, health information, or performance and disciplinary
matters. This information is confidential and should be shared only with those who have a
business need to know. It should not be shared outside Apple unless there is a legal or
business reason to share the information and you have approval from your manager.

Privacy

Subject to rules or regulations affecting an employee’s rights, Apple may monitor or search
its work environments, including equipment, networks, mail, and electronic systems, without
notice. Apple monitors facilities and equipment to promote safety, prevent unlawful activity,
investigate misconduct, manage information systems, comply with legal guidelines, and for
other business purposes.

Public Speaking and Press Inquiries

All public speaking engagements that relate to Apple’s business or products must be
preapproved by your manager and Corporate Communications. If you receive approval to
make a public presentation at a business meeting or conference, you may not request or
accept any form of personal compensation from the organization that requested the
presentation. This does not prohibit accepting reimbursement for expenses, if approved by
your manager.

All inquiries from the press or the financial analyst community must be referred to Corporate
Communications or the Investor Relations Department.

Publishing Articles

If you author an article or other publication, do not identify yourself in the publication as an
employee of Apple without prior approval from Corporate Communications. This could be
viewed as an endorsement by Apple.

Substance Abuse

Employees are prohibited from manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, possessing, using, or
being under the influence of illegal drugs in the workplace. Use of alcohol or medications on
the job or before work can cause safety issues, damage customer relations, and hurt
productivity and innovation. Use good judgment and keep in mind that you are expected to
perform to your full ability when working for Apple. View Apple’s policy on Drugs in the
Workplace.



Business Conduct 15
The way we do business worldwide
July 2010

Your Obligation to Take Action

Always apply Apple’s principles of business conduct, follow Apple policies, and comply with
laws and regulations. When you are unsure, take the initiative to investigate the right course
of action. Check with your manager, Human Resources, Legal, Internal Audit, or Finance,
and review our policies on AppleWeb. If you would like to talk with someone outside your
immediate area, consider contacting the Business Conduct Helpline.

If you know about a possible violation of Apple’s Business Conduct Policy or legal or
regulatory requirements, you are required to notify your manager (provided your manager is
not involved in the violation), Human Resources, Legal, Internal Audit, Finance, or the
Business Conduct Helpline. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.

Employees must cooperate fully in any Apple investigation and must keep their knowledge
and participation confidential to help safeguard the integrity of the investigation.

Business Conduct Helpline

The Business Conduct Helpline is available 24/7 to all employees worldwide to help answer
your questions on business conduct issues, policies, regulations, and compliance with legal
requirements. It also allows you to advise Apple of situations that may require investigation or
management attention.

The Business Conduct Helpline is committed to keeping your issues and identity confidential.
If you would be more comfortable doing so, you may contact the Helpline anonymously. Your
information will be shared only with those who have a need to know, such as those involved
in answering your questions or investigating and correcting issues you raise. Note that if your
information involves accounting, finance, or auditing, the law may require that necessary
information be shared with the Audit and Finance Committee of Apple’s Board of Directors.

Due to legal restrictions, anonymous use of the Business Conduct Helpline is not encouraged
in certain countries (e.g., France).

Apple will not retaliate—and will not tolerate retaliation—against any individual for their good-
faith use of the Business Conduct Helpline.

Information on contacting the Business Conduct Helpline—including via email, toll-free
telephone, and web access—is available on AppleWeb.
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Policies and References

Alcohol in the Workplace

Books and Publications

Business Conduct Helpline

Buying and Selling Stock: Blackout Periods
Buying and Selling Stock: Insider Trading
Community Affairs

Confidential, Proprietary, and Trade Secret Information
Copyright Information

Copyright Policy

Corporate Identity Guidelines

Customer Privacy Policy

Diversity

Employee Assistance Program (U.S. only)
Environment+Safety

Equal Employment Opportunity

Export Control

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Policy

Government Affairs
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Policies and References (continued)
Harassment

Information Security

Intellectual Property

Legal Department Contacts

Mail and Electronic Communications

Name and Logo Use Questions: corplD@apple.com
Nondisclosure and Confidentiality Agreements
Open Communication

Open Source Software

Outside Business Activities

Patent Information

Patent Policy

Personal Relationships

Political Compliance

Procurement

Reasonable Accommodation

Records Management

Safe Harbor Privacy Policy

Standards Legal Policy

Trademarks

Travel Policy

© 2010 Apple Inc. All rights reserved. Apple, the Apple logo, iPhone, iPad, and iTunes are trademarks of Apple Inc.,
registered in the U.S. and other countries. AppleCare is a service mark of Apple Inc., registered in the U.S. and other
countries.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF

APPLE INC.*
Jurisdiction
of Incorporation
Apple Sales Internation. Ireland
Apple Operations Internation Ireland
Braeburn Capital, Inc Nevada, U.S

*

Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulatio-K, the names of other subsidiaries of Apple In@ amitted because, considered in
aggregate, they would not constitute a significisidiary as of the end of the year covered tg/réport.



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registerd Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Riegistration Statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 3336,1233-75930, 333-102184, 333-
125148, 333-146026, 333-165214, and 388279) of Apple Inc. of our reports dated Octabér 2010, with respect to the consolid:
financial statements of Apple Inc., and the effegmtiess of internal control over financial reportofgdpple Inc., included in this Annual Rep
on Form 10-K for the year ended September 25, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California
October 27, 2010



Exhibit 23.2
Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered PublidAccounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Apple Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdugstration statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-61338-75930, 333-102184, 3325148
333-146026, 333-165214, and 3B888279) of Apple Inc. of our report dated NovermdeP008, except as to note 1, which is as of Jgzfa
2010, with respect to the consolidated statememperations, shareholdemsquity, and cash flows for the year ended Septe@be2008, ar
all related financial statement schedules, whigoreappears in the September 25, 2010 annualtrepdform 10-K of Apple Inc.

As discussed in note 1, the consolidated finarstaiements for the year ended September 27, 2008 een restated to give effect to
retrospective adoption of the Financial Account@&tandards Board’ amended accounting standards related to reveswegnition fo
arrangements with multiple deliverables and arrareges that include software elements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
October 27, 2010



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Steven P. Jobs, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omigtede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifide establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstind procedures |
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaased such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahggorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardeng the reliability of financial reporting arile preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteuiures, as of the end of the period covered lsy rdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the signt’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranfburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internakrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theveden:
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refrmahcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 27, 2010

By: /s/ Steven P. Jobs
Steven P. Jok
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Apple Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omigtede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifide establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstind procedures |
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaased such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgyithe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahggorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardeng the reliability of financial reporting arile preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtiis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteuiures, as of the end of the period covered lsy rdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the signt’s internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranfburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm® that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgist’ s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internakrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registramst’board of directors (or persons performing theveden:
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refrmahcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 27, 2010

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice Presiden
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Steven P. Jobs, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S&xtiSn 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9QBeoBarbane®xley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report of Apple Inc. on Form X0for the fiscal year ended September 25, 201§ fedimplies with the requirements of Section 1
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 #rat information contained in such Form 10-K faipresents in alinaterial respects t
financial condition and results of operations ofpfelnc.

October 27, 2010

By: /s/ Steven P. Jobs
Steven P. Jok
Chief Executive Office

I, Peter Oppenheimer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.&éxtion 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sectioro®@te Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, th:
the Annual Report of Apple Inc. on Form 10-K foetfiscal year ended September 25, 2010 fully caesphiith the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1884 that information contained in such FormKLEirly presents in all material respects
financial condition and results of operations ofphinc.

October 27, 2010

By: /s/ Peter Oppenheimer
Peter Oppenheimt
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Offic

A signed original of this written statement reqdifgy Section 906 has been provided to Apple Ind.will be retained by Apple Inc. a
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiats staff upon reques



